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YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD (THE
“COMPANY” OR "YASHILI") (STOCK CODE: 01230) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)

as a whole is a domestically leading professional infant formula producer with
international presence that focuses on the production and sales of premium infant
formula and nutrition food.

The Group has factories in Guangdong, Shanghai, Shanxi, Inner Mongolia and New
Zealand. It sells infant formula through widely recognized brands such as Yashily,
Reeborne, Dumex, Arla and Doraler, as well as various nutrition food including milk
powder for adults and dissolvable products.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Non-executive directors

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman)
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Mr. Zhang Ping

Ms. Lam Pik Po, Katty™

Executive director

Mr. Chopin Zhang (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive directors
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Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway
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AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Chopin Zhang
Mr. Zhang Ping

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris®
Ms. Wu Miu Wah®

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

11/F, East Tower, Skyline Plaza

832 Yuejiang Road Central

Haizhu District, Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

Room A, 32nd Floor
COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

Office of the Board

INVESTOR ENQUIRY HOTLINE

+86-20-37795190
+852-2845-1230

INVESTOR ENQUIRY EMAIL ADDRESS

ir@yashili.cn

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 01230

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.yashili.hk
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
Hong Kong Branch
Bank of China, Guangdong Pilot Free Trade Zone Nansha Branch
Industrial Bank Co., Limited, Hong Kong Branch

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law

Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong) LLP

As to Cayman law

Conyers, Dill & Pearman

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants

Notes:

(1) Resigned on 25 March 2019.
(2)  Appointed on 10 April 2019.
(3)  Resigned on 10 April 2019.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
HIRREOIE

On behalf of the board of
directors (the “Board”) of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd, |
hereby present the Annual
Report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to all
shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Yashili International
Holdings Ltd, | hereby present the Annual Report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

2018 marked the year of introduction of “The Most Stringent New Policy
for Milk Powder Products” and outbreak of “Quality Elimination War" in
the Chinese milk powder industry. It was also a critical year for Yashili to
record a turnaround to profit by comprehensive brand upgrading and
product structure optimization. Through seizing sales opportunities, the
Group boosted a rise in both turnover and net profit during the year.
With its professional and effective deployment, Yashili took the lead and
became one of the enterprises that have the most recipes registered on
the first list under the stringent policy. Under the “New Policy for Milk
Powder Products”, companies whose operating scale or strength fell
below standard have been ruled out from the market, unleashing
considerable market dividends that gave Yashili a favorable position in the
competitive market thanks to its first-mover advantage.

Besides the keen support from our controlling shareholder, China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“Mengniu Dairy”) (a company listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), stock code: 2319) (which was named the “Global Dairy Top
10"), and our second largest shareholder, Danone Asia Baby Nutrition
Pte. Ltd. (“Danone Asia”), we persisted in seeking continuous innovation
in order to become consumers’ top pick brand to provide the most
reliable nutrition and health solutions. In 2018, we unveiled new brand
image of “Do Our Best for Your Loved Ones”, and secured cooperative
opportunities with two top IPs, the national CCTV “Craftsmanship Brand”
and the global 2018 FIFA World Cup, through which we showcased our
brand vitality to consumers across the country by different means so as to
enhance the connections with end consumers, while reaching more
potential consumers by way of diverse channels and innovation.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
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Creating the advantages of differentiated products is Yashili's key
strategy. In 2018, Yashili's professional and extensive research and
development (“R&D") team actively advanced the registration of domestic
milk powder formula, joint projects on products with overseas factories as
well as research and technology of nutritional products. They also
conducted R&D on special medical-purposed formula food products with
a view to enhancing the Group’s R&D capability to cater for nutrition
needs of infants and toddlers, adults and the elderly, thereby
strengthening the Group’s competitiveness in the industry and merits of
its products.

During the year, we reorganized the business unit structure and added
new independent product units to manage and evaluate the Group's
product line business more pertinently. We refined channels and product
development and continued the intensive work to localize mother-and-
baby store channels. During the year, as our team possessed higher
capability and operation wisdom after attending different trainings and as
Yashili fully upgraded its operation information management system to a
data-based and digital one, we set up more specific targets as an
incentive mechanism, encouraged more proactive and innovative
marketing strategies, and injected vitality into Yashili's new image.

In 2019, Yashili will redefine nutritional products for consumers with a
more energetic image, clearer orientation and more innovative thinking in
the new environment under the “New Policy for Milk Powder Products”.
We believe, with the collaborative support of COFCO Corporation and its
subsidiaries, Mengniu Dairy and its subsidiaries (the “Mengniu Group”),
Danone SA and its subsidiaries (the “Danone Group”), Arla Food and
other resource platforms, Yashili will provide Chinese consumers with
high-quality and diversified nutritional products and produce “the best
nutritional food for babies” relied on and trusted by Chinese mothers.

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
H 12 B0 Bl 35 B4 HR

Year ended 31 December EZ12 831 HILFE

—

Percentage
2018 2017 change
SH) LA
(All amounts in Renminbi (BR45RIZIEEN > FRESE N
("RMB"”) million ARBTARY]
unless otherwise stated) BE A R)
Key results FTEXEE
Revenue = 3 3,011.2 2,254.7 33.6%
Gross profit E 7 1,193.8 922.2 29.5%
Operating profit £ F -132.3 -335.0 —60.5%
Earnings before interest, tax, BT & 5 B ) B

depreciation and amortization

(EBITDA) 20.9 -156.4 -113.4%
Profit attributable to equity holders of ZX A B IR #E 5 B A FE 16 % 7

the Company 52.3 -179.8 -129.1%
Net operating cash flow (Note 1) KB e e ERE (1) 264.1 -254.9 -203.6%
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) &RERB I (AREH)

(Note 2) (Bt &E2) 1.1 -3.8 -128.9%
Net asset value per share RMB yuan) &R EEE (AR T)

(Note 3) (B=E3) 1.2 1.2 —
Proposed special dividend per share Bk EZERIKRE (ARE D)

(RMB cents) (Note 4) (Bt 5E4) 1.0 — 100%

Dividend payout ratio % B 5k bt 2 = — —
Key performance ratios FTEEFLE
Profitability ratios & FlH E
Gross profit margin %ﬂ 2 39.6% 40.9%
Operating profit margin & I Al =R -4.4% -14.9%
Net profit margin i@ Fl =& 1.7% -8.0%
Margin of profit attributable to REREE A A JE(G 5 A =X

equity holders 1.7% -8.0%
Return on net assets A E R = 0.9% -3.3%
Net profit to total assets (Note 11) FENEREEX(MEE11) 0.7% —2.4%
Asset ratios BELE
Current ratio (Note 5) Byt & (f5E5) 1.9 2.1
Inventory turnover days (Note 6) FEREXRH(HEe) 152 215
Trade receivable turnover days N L CNEE- PN

(Note 7) (BE=E7) 20 23
Trade payable turnover days (Note 8) £ 5 i {2k & 82 K & (Ff 5£8) 70 93
Debt to equity ratio (Note 9) BEHEE L E(KE9) 38.9% 35.3%

Gearing ratio (Note 10) BAEAGBLE(MFE10) 5.4% 7.1%
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (CONTINUED)

Bk 35 69 Bl 35 SR (48)

Year ended 31 December EZ12 831 HILFEE

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash
outflow generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year.

Net assets at year end divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue for
the year.

Proposed special dividend for the year divided by the number of ordinary
shares at year end.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year end.
Inventory balances at year end divided by cost of sales for the year and
multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills receivables at year end divided by turnover for
the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills payables at year end divided by cost of sales for
the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Total liabilities at year end divided by total equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company at year end.

Total interest-bearing bank loans at year end divided by total assets at year
end.

Profit for the year divided by total assets at year end.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
& 12 1B 51 o B 53 il

INDUSTRY REVIEW

China Ranked 2nd in the World in Terms of
Mother-infant-Child Products, Chinese Dairy
Industry Commits Fights to Reach World-class Level

Being the 2nd largest consumer of mother-infant-child products in the
world, China is committed to ensuring the healthy growth of infants. The
competent authorities of PRC government insist on eliminating food
safety risks from the source, monitoring the quality of Chinese dairy
products, and enhancing consumers’ confidence in domestic infant milk
powder products.

Under the strict supervision of the competent government departments
and with the joint efforts of the industry, efforts surrounding the quality
and safety of domestic dairy products have yielded desirable results in the
year. From January to November 2018, the State Administration for
Market Regulation at the corresponding level has sampled a total of 9
times and 1,365 batches of dairy products. The products produced by all
manufacturing enterprises under Yashili Group are 100% qualified in the
sampling. Until now, hardware conditions such as production facilities of
the domestic mainstream infant formula production enterprises have
been greatly improved, and basically reached the world-class level.

New Policy for Milk Powder Taken Effect for the
First Year, “Only the Fittest Will Survive” in the
Registration System

2018 marked the first year of the launch of “Administrative Measures for
the Registration of Product Formulas of Infant Formula Milk Powder” (the
“Formula Registration Requirement”) in China. As of 31 December 2018,
after the release of new batch of registration list of recipes, there are a
total of 1,195 approved recipes, involving 155 milk powder enterprises.
For the milk powder industry, the implementation of the Formula
Registration Requirement is not only a “Quality Elimination War” but also
a “Market Battle”, in which enterprises are eager to apply for registration
of formula milk powder so as to compete for market dividends.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
B2 B 51 5R R 7 il (£8)

At present, steady economic growth and demographic growth of the PRC
market further enhanced the dividend potential of milk powder market.
The 2018 annual economic development statistics released by the
National Bureau of Statistics of China showed that, the GDP of China
exceeded RMBOO trillion for the first time, representing a YoY growth of
6.6%, and ranked first among the world’s five largest economies. The
total import and export value of China also exceeded RMB30 trillion for
the first time, reaching a record high in the scale of trade in goods, and
maintained its position as the world’s number one. In respect of the
demographic development, the newborns for the 2018 full year are 15.23
million and the birth rate is 10.94%., which represents a slight decrease
of 1.49%. as compared to the previous year. However, the real national
disposable income per capita has increased by 6.5%, and the number of
the national population living in poverty has decreased by more than 10
million. The total scale of burden reduction of the national enterprises
and individuals has exceeded RMB1.3 trillion, which symbolizes the
improvement in the consumption power of the people in China.

Milk Enterprises Focus on High-end Milk Powder
Business and Accelerate the Construction of Sales
Channels

The limitation on the number of registered recipes for each enterprise
given by the Formula Registration Requirement, as well as the different
requirements between different series of products, makes the local and
foreign milk powder production companies tend to focus on developing
high-end businesses including organic milk powder and goat milk
powder. Especially in the field of ultra-high-end milk powder, the market
share of these businesses continues to increase, showing that the milk
powder industry is developing towards high-end. According to AC
Nielsen, sales of organic milk powder amounted to RMB2.382 billion for
the period from January to June 2018, representing a YoY growth rate of
55.6%. In addition, the new milk powder policy has set higher entry
barrier of the industry and thus the quality differentiation between milk
powder brands is smaller. Enterprises who have already owned the
“registered recipes” are speeding up sales channels development to
enhance brand penetration and market competitiveness. According to AC
Nielsen, there are over 100,000 mother-and-baby stores in China. Though
growth rate on the number of mother-and-baby stores appears to slow
down, the sales volume and storefront area of the mother-and-baby
stores are both increasing and still the first choice among all sales
channels.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

N

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is committed to becoming consumer’s top pick brand to
provide the most reliable nutrition and health solutions. The Group has
strong resource support from the controlling shareholder, Mengniu
Group and the second largest shareholder, Danone Asia which
significantly leverages the Group’s business potentials. The business
model of the Group incorporates key factors such as premium imported
dairy raw materials, world-class milk sources, world-class scientific
research and self-developed recipes, an advanced manufacturing system,
strict quality control and quality management system, and gathers global
high-quality resources in the pursuit of the highest quality in the dairy
industry in order to offer trustworthy products to consumers.

Introduction to Products

Believing in “breast milk is the best food for babies”, the Group continues
to innovate and develop infant milk formula products that are close to
breast milk in terms of nutrition to meet the nutritional needs of infants
during daily feeding at different stages of growth. All products of the
Group are international high-standard products made of premium raw
materials, so to become top pick brand of all-round nutrition and health
solutions for Chinese mothers and babies.

In order to meet the diversified consumer demands, the Group
continuously enriches its brand mix and improves its product structure to
become top pick brand of all-round nutrition and health solutions for
Chinese mothers and babies. The Group’s five major brands, namely,
“Yashily”, “Dumex”, “"Reeborne”, “Doraler” and “Arla”, are positioned
according to the all-round product strategy. Through scientific and
efficient management of all product lines, the Groups is able to achieve
full coverage in multi-level markets, including middle, high-end and ultra
high-end market. Currently, the Group has obtained the approval for
registering 48 infant formula products of 16 series (including Arla Baby &
Me).
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Yashily brand emphasizes the provision of basic nutrients, of which
Yashily Kieember infant milk formula, originally canned and
imported from New Zealand, targets the medium-to-high end
market and owns the patented INFATTM active energy system,
which ensures healthy growth of babies with its five patents. Yashily
Kieevagour and Yashily Qinérshi are positioned in the middle-end
market, while Yashily Qinérshuo appeals to the masses. The formula
upgrade is completed with the original Yashily, with strengthened
probiotics and lactoferrin content.

Reeborne, as an organic product for Chinese babies, represents the
brand’s commitment to natural organic ingredients. It is designed
to bring the organic and pure milk products from the Alpine region
to Chinese babies, so that they can grow healthier with organic
products. Reeborne’s Qinyou series and organic series have
completed their packaging and formula upgrading with enhanced
penetration into the organic market, which enabled both series to
record impressive growth.

Dumex, originating from Europe, has been committed to studying
the immune system of Chinese babies and providing professional
solutions to satisfy their nutritional needs. The Diamor series, in
particular, with two patents granted by European authorities and
OPO structured lipid, is conducive to digestion and absorption and
thus improves the immunity system of babies. The Boyoujia series
features a probiotic portfolio under its patented formula, presenting
a can full of nutrition and easy for babies to absorb. Dumex’s goat
milk series, with easy-to-absorb small-molecule protein and special
whole goat milk protein and OPO, aims to develop premium
domestic goat milk products under the Dumex brand, providing
babies with extra care to prevent them from allergy. Positioned for
the general public, Dumex's Tru Yin series offers a customized and
comprehensive range of nutrition to babies, with special addition of
rare lactoferrin and OPO structured lipid to secure babies’ growth.
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— Arla Baby & Me represents organic milk powder originally canned
and imported from the world’s largest organic dairy producer in
Denmark, which has adhered to good nutrition from natural
ingredients for 130 years. The organic milk powder of Arla Baby &
Me has obtained three organic certifications, with no hormone,
fertilizer or pesticide. Such milk powder is directly made of fresh
milk from the expansive Northern European farms, with full control
of the supply chain. Perfeito is positioned for the ultra-high-end
market with its organic formula containing high DHA, full lactose
and a golden ratio of probiotics. Dedicated to the Danish royal
family, Arla is more professional with organic products.

—  Doraler is from Australia and caters to the ultra-high-end goat milk
market with 100% originally canned and imported products.
Doraler contains 100% whole goat milk protein, which has a
smooth and creamy texture easy for absorption and protects the
sensitive constitution of babies. Its scientific formula embodies the
special DHA full lactose and a more balanced offering of nutrition.

—  Yashili's products also include various adult milk powder products,
such as Mengniu brand adult milk formula, Youyi brand adult milk
formula, Yourui brand middle-age and elderly milk formula, Future
Star milk powder for kids growth, and various dissolvable products
such as Zhengwei brand oatmeal and Yashily infant nutritional rice
cereal.

Brand Strategies

Unveiling New Image of “Do Our Best for Your Loved
Ones” (E{RATAE » BIRFTE)

In 2018, the Group completed the comprehensive brand upgrading. We
unveiled our brand new LOGO and image in light of the brand slogan of “Do
Our Best for Your Loved Ones” on 20 April 2018. Through a sequence of
brand building efforts aimed at presenting its leadership, vitality and
power in the international market and our industry, coupled with in-
depth promotion and interaction via diverse channels, the Group has
shored up the confidence of its channel partners and consumers.
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Selected as CCTV “Craftsmanship Brand”, Strong
Exposure to Get Closer to the Consumers

The Group has been admitted into the “Craftsmanship Brand” program
of China Central Television (“CCTV"). Through the cooperation with
CCTV, we precisely placed advertisements in the CCTV channels like
CCTV-1, CCTV-2 and CCTV-13 at prime time slots as well as in the
satellite television channels in order to raise our profile. Besides, we
collaborated with TV programs such as “Memory of the Taste” (5 # 4
1K), “Super Baby” (EB#%/]N3EA) and “Beautiful Mom” (#BBKIRTE) (a
customized TV show) to get closer to consumers.

Official Milk Powder of 2018 FIFA World Cup, with
Football Superstar Messi as Brand Ambassador

In addition to the admission into the “Craftsmanship Brand” program of
CCTV, the Group showcased its brand vitality by becoming Official Milk
Powder of 2018 FIFA World Cup. Being the first infant and toddler milk
powder brand in the world to sponsor such top-class sports event, the
Group has made an astonishing impression on consumers all over the
world.

The Group reached its target groups by focusing on the platforms that
they are active at, such as social media, maternal and child vertical media
and news feed platforms. Through targeted promotions to deliver
products’ selling points, the Group was able to bolster brand reputation
and penetration and explore potential consumers. Leveraging on the hot
topics in the official Weibo accounts of the brands as well as the big
festivals, the Group achieved frequent interactions. In the meantime,
through outdoor advertisements such as bus body advertisements and
advertisements at subway, high-speed rail stations and buildings, the
Group was able to deeply reach customer groups in multi-tiered levels, to
exploit potential consumers and to enhance the existing brand loyalty.
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Product Research and Development

Creating the advantages of differentiated products is the Group’s key
strategy. In 2018, the Group’s professional and extensive R&D team
responded to the demand from domestic and global markets, with
substantial progress made in the registration of domestic milk powder
recipes, joint projects on products with overseas factories, as well as
research and technology of nutritional products.

Infant Formulas Gains Recognition Again
As of the end of 2018, the Group and its partner Arla had a total of 48
infant formula recipes of 16 series approved for registration.

Improves R&D Technology Level and Kicks off Research
on Breast Milk Components

In 2018, the Group put more effort on the fundamental R&D projects. It
has developed the research study and patent applications on milk powder
component test. Such R&D projects helped the Group make up for the
shortcomings of the national standard testing methods, improved the
accuracy of the test, and greatly increased the Group’s industry
competitiveness in terms of R&D testing.

In accordance with the 13th Five-Year Plan, the Group has launched
research work on formula design, factory trial production and animal
experiment regarding breast milk composition, and has established a
database of breast milk composition. Moreover, based on the research on
breast milk in eight cities nationwide, the Group has been proactively
carrying out the study on the “Optimizing the Design and Development
of Proteins and Amino Acids in Infant Foods” ({{8(b & & M & E B 7
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Sales Channels

The Group upholds to “Focus on the Mother-and-baby Store Channel for
Infant Formula Products, KA Modern Trade Channel for Nourishment
Products, and All-round Development for New Channels and New
Products” as its sales channel strategy. The Group has adjusted the
business unit structure. In the first half of the year, the infant formula
business unit is clearly delineated and new independent product series
has been added to form an organization structure for management in
terms of product lines and hence promote the balanced development of
the Group’s market business via adopting an appraisal mechanism and
making good use of the frontline teams’ market development capability
and creativity. At the same time, the Group leveraged on two [P
resources, CCTV “Craftsmanship Brand” and the 2018 FIFA World Cup,
to launch series of marketing and interactive activities and to apply
innovative promotion approaches so as to attract more new consumers,
and boost sales performance and confidence in channels in the major
holidays and festivals during the peak season.

Deeper Penetration into Counties, Townships and
Third- or Fourth-tier Cities via the Mother-and-baby
Store Channel, Supplementing with the Modern Trade
Channel and E-commerce Channel

As for infant formula products, the Group continued its intensive work to
better localize the mother-and-baby store channel by extending outlets to
counties and townships, and effectively yields the distribution bonus in
the third- and fourth-tier cities to improve the overall network coverage
and profitability.

As for the modern trade channel, the Group has set up a dedicated team
to refine the sales channel and product development, including
strengthen and increase the market scale of adult milk powder products
such as “Youyi”, “Yourui”, as well as Children milk powder products like
“Future Star”.

The goat milk market is material to the Group’s strategic layout. Under
the fast and effective distribution strategy, the “Doraler” and “Dumex”
goat milk powder products seized certain market shares shortly after their
launching in the market and formed a portfolio of products with a
complementary effect between brand and value. The Group has also
been actively upgrading its formulas to build a Chinese milk lineup
composed of multiple milk powder products. Yashili effectively leverages
on its 16 approved formula series, catering to high, mid and low-end
consumers to fully tap into the market.
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Quality Control

2018 has been named as the “Quality Year” for Yashili, featuring the
quality slogan “Quality, | Promise” as the core of quality culture. All staff
from the management to the first-tier production team, have been
engaged in quality improvement activities to enhance market
competitiveness. In 2018, the Group recorded a 100% pass rate in both
ready-for-delivery products and external spot checks. The formula recipe
registration series products complied with national requirements in
respect of risk monitoring, which proves that the Group has stable
operation of its quality system to ensure better-than-expected products
and boost consumer confidence in the Group and its products.

Deepening Knowledge of Quality Management

The Group made efforts to provide training and education on quality to
its staff in order to improve the quality management level of its factories.
In 2018, the Quality Centre of the Group and the quality departments of
its factories organized a series of training activities on quality during the
whole year by inviting external experts to provide training to the quality
management staff of the Quality Centre and all levels of its factories.
Such training activities were composed of a total of 147 sessions of
training on regulations, quality systems and basic microbial knowledge,
good operating practices, cleansing and sanitation, laboratory
management and production process. Particularly, relevant training
materials on GMP-related practices for infant formula industry had been
provided for reference and tracking as well as continuous compliance to
raise quality awareness among all the factory staff.

Reinforcing Operation Structure of Internal Quality

The Group improved the operation structure of the Quality Centre
through the provision of relevant technical guidance and support to
respective factories by the Quality Centre to regulate their specific quality
practices. The Quality Centre also served in the Tracking and Evaluation
Collaborative Team of National Food Safety Standard to make relevant
suggestions on revising standards so as to identify and control risks from
the regulation preparation in the early stage.
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Passing All Food Safety Production Certification and
Promoting Internal Cross-auditing to Improve Quality
In 2018, all factories under the Group had passed a total of 52 external
audits in relation to production licensing, GMP, HACCP, FSSC22000,
organic certification and others. The Group’s factories located in
Shanghai, Chaozhou and Horinger and Shanxi had also passed the
national inspection on the safety production practice for infant formula
and on-site audit of Formula Registration of Infant Formula, while
factories in New Zealand renewed its registration with CNCA, which
assured consumers of international food safety quality. Moreover, the
Group strove to promote regular internal cross-audit based on external
and its own standards, with a view to producing better quality
management of its own factories.

Supply Chain

The Group took an active part in the Empowerment Projects by means of
improving the sensitivity and performance of the supply chain in terms of
supply chain culture, talent pool, lean production, excellent supply chain
operation, key projects, production-sales coordination as well as
upstream-downstream coordinated management for the supply chain.

Increased Demand in Sales and OEM, MRP Model
Achieves Cost Reduction and Efficiency Improvement
During the year, the Group enjoyed vigorous sales growth, thus increasing
the Group's capacity utilization rate in 2018. Moreover, by adopting the
MRP model which emphasizes the coordination between production and
sales, the Group has improved the planning management system, and
has significantly reduced the inventory assets of the Group, strengthened
demand control, achieved cost reduction and efficiency improvement,
and hence enhancing the overall profitability of the Group.

Initiating Resources Strategies for Better Management
of New Products

The Group also strengthened the resources system of supply chain,
invested in new factories and passed the audit of production licenses,
striving to produce more innovative formula products. In addition, it set
up specialized new products management positions to streamline and
strengthen the Group’s new products management process and properly
deploy the resource reserves.
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Dedicated to Digital and Smart Supply Chain and
Coordinated Upstream to Downstream Supply Chain
The Group has finished series of management procedure improvements,
including the design for indicator levels in the supply chain, the
commence of visible indicator management project, so as to lay a
foundation for further digital and smart supply chain transformations.

In addition, the Group focused on improving milk supply chain system,
especially the strategical supply of key raw milk and raw goat milk. In
respect of certain key raw materials which were in short supply in market,
Yashili has taken advantages in the lactoferrin products market with it
integrated international resources; in respect of customer service, by
optimizing the logical network and improving the management of
satisfaction for customer service, the response of supply chain has been
significantly improved.

Management System

In 2018, the Group reorganized its structure and business procedures to
align with its new business strategy on new marketing model
transformation and supply chain integration. The Group's IT management
system also started the way of digital transformation, further improving
the operation efficiency and archiving a better control on costs.

The Group has established a new channels management platform in
2018, improving stores purchasing guidelines and activities management,
membership management, as well as securing new customers and
repurchase actions as a whole. It enabled the Group to achieve tracing
source by one step and allow full transparency in the whole distribution
procedure, and to effectively solve problems caused by products
management security.

The distributors could conduct business activities on the platform such as
product sales, customer relationship maintenance, and series of operation
management activities like stores and inventory management, promotion
and more. At the same time, the platform also acted as sales manager to
understand the customers’ behavior, rebuild price system and manage
the channels assessment with the use of the sales data.
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New Customer Platform with Customer Information
Conducted Customized Promotion

The Group also built a new customer platform by system to conduct
customized marketing promotion through various welcome activities. At
the same time, the Group created independent QR code for every online
and offline channel to do promotions using different communication
strategies and channels.

Public Cloud and New OA Platform Launches to Enjoy
Synergy of Big Data and loT

To improve the operation efficiency and flexibility, the Group used the
public cloud application management system and enjoyed the rapid
iteration and flexibility advantages brought by such technologies, and
gradually achieved the synergy of data technologies and internet such as
loT, big data, blockchain and Al

The Group also established exclusive portal “new OA platform 1” to
automatize the business procedures, gradually standardize the business
procedures to align with the Group’s simplified authorization and
delegation of policy power, so to realize the assembling and automatization
of the business procedures and improve cooperation efficiency.

The Group also upgraded the internal management system according to
the reorganization and transformation of the business division and
external environment factors such as the national taxation policy reform
to satisfy the demand of splitting operations of each business division.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's revenue amounted
to RMB3,011.2 million (2017: RMB2,254.7 million), representing a 33.6%
increase compared to last year.
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2018 2017 Percentage

RMB million RMB million change

By product category REEERE S ARBEERT ARKEST B8t I
Milk powder products 7i45 E mn 2,442.3 1,867.3 30.8%
Dissolvable products IR 145.0 144.9 0.1%
Others H Al 423.9 242.5 74.8%
Total 4=t 3,011.2 2,254.7 33.6%

As of 31 December 2018, sales revenue from infant formula products
amounted to RMB2,442.3 million (2017: RMB1,867.3 million),
representing an increase of 30.8% from last year. Sales revenue from
high-end milk powder products amounted to RMB846.5 million,
accounting for 34.7% (2017: RMB382.1 million, accounting for 20.5%)
of the sales revenue from infant formula products. Sales revenue from
dissolvable products amounted to RMB145.0 million (2017: RMB144.9
million), approximately equaling the previous year’s data. Sales revenue
from other products amounted to RMB423.9 million (2017: RMB242.5
million), representing an increase of 74.8% from last year, which was
mainly derived from the base powder sold by the subsidiary Yashili New
Zealand Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Yashili New Zealand”) to the Danone Group.

The increase in the Group's sales revenue was mainly due to: (1) the
adjustment of strategic channel, with infant formula products
concentrating deeply to the mother-and-baby channel and adult milk
powder and nutrition food products to KA channel; and (2) the
continuous efforts by the Group in adjusting product strategy to gradually
eliminate products with low production value and gross profit. In
addition, the Group took active measures during this year to upgrade its
image by rebuilding its product brand and was awarded as an
“Craftsmanship Brand” by CCTV. It also increased its investments in
online and offline, which promoted the growth in sale volume.
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Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded a gross profit
of RMB1,193.8 million (2017: RMB922.2 million), representing an
increase of 29.5% from last year. The gross profit margin was 39.6%,
representing a decrease of 1.3%, which was mainly due to the increase
of the unit prices of raw materials. In addition, some products removed
from the market or withdrawn from the traditional marketing channels
were sold at a discount, which lowered the gross profit margin.

Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group generated selling and
distribution expenses of RMB1,140.4 million (2017: RMB893.2 million),
representing an increase of 27.7% from last year.

The Group's selling and distribution expense as a percentage of revenue
decreased to 37.9% (2017: 39.6%), representing a decrease of 1.7%
from last year, which was mainly due to the increase in sales revenue and
the enhancement of utilization efficiency of selling and distribution
expenses.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2018, administrative expenses
amounted to RMB208.6 million (2017: RMB271.2 million), representing a
decrease of 23.1% from the same period of last year, which was mainly
attributable to decrease of the shutdown losses arising from the increased
capacity utilization efficiency of Yashili New Zealand and the
enhancement of operation efficiency of back offices as well as the
optimization of corporate structure.

Net finance income

For the year ended 31 December 2018, net finance income amounted to
RMB97.5 million (2017: RMB105.6 million). The decrease in net finance
income of 7.7% was mainly attributable to the decrease of liquidity
available for investment as a result of repayment of borrowings.
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Income tax credit

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the income tax credit of the
Group amounted to RMB87.1 million (Income tax credit of 2017:
RMB49.6 million), and the effective income tax rate was 250.3% (2017:
21.6%). The increase in income tax credit was mainly attributable to the
increase of the Group’s accrued expenses and relevant deferred tax assets
for the year.

Inventory

As at 31 December 2018, the balance of inventory of the Group
amounted to RMB757.4 million (31 December 2017: RMB786.3 million).
The decrease in inventory was mainly due to the decrease of inventory
backlog as a result of sales improvement.

Other current financial assets

As at 31 December 2018, other current financial assets included fixed-
yield bank wealth management products of RMB683.6 million, with an
anticipated annualised yield of 4.1% to 4.5% (31 December 2017: 2.0%
10 5.1%).

Trade and bills receivables

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's trade and bills receivables
amounted to RMB163.0 million (31 December 2017: RMB144.3 million).
In 2018, the trade receivables turnover days were 20 days (2017: 23
days), representing a decrease of 3 days as compared to 2017, which was
mainly attributable to the accelerated collection of receivables.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(31 December 2017: Nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s capital commitment was RMB5.4
million (2017: RMB23.1 million), which is mainly related to workshop
renovation projects and the purchase of milk powder production
equipment.
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Provision for doubtful debts of trade and bills
receivables

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had provision for doubtful debts of
trade and bills receivables of RMB7.6 million (2017: RMB9.1 million). The
provision was made for impaired receivables relating to customers that
were in default or delinquency of payments. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over such amounts. An
impairment analysis is performed by the Group at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on ageing of the balances for the groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type).

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of
inventories

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s balance of provision for
impairment of inventories was RMB55.5 million (2017: RMB27.4 million),
which was mainly because certain inventories affected by the formula
recipe policy had longer age profile and were required to provide for
impairment under the policy accordingly. In addition, the Group recorded
losses on disposal of inventory of RMB2.6 million in 2018 (2017: RMB50.4
million), which were primarily due to the disposal of some products that
are no longer sold at such markets after transformation of sales channels
in 2017.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2018, assets with an aggregate value of approximately
RMB1,948.7 million (31 December 2017: RMB1,848.4 million) were
pledged by the Group.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Group amounted to
RMB52.3 million, a 129.1% increase compared to the preceding year.
The increase was mainly due to that the sales revenue of the Group
increased significantly during this year which helped the Group end up
with a profit.
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Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s liquidity, including cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits to be released within one year, long-term
bank deposits and other current financial assets, amounted to
RMB3,109.2 million in total (31 December 2017: RMB2,716.7 million),
representing an increase of 14.4%. The increase was mainly due to the
shortened turnover days for accounts receivable, faster turnover and
substantially higher sales.

Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s net cash inflow from
operating activities was RMB264.1 million (2017: net cash outflow of
RMB254.9 million). The change of net cash of operating from outflow to
inflow was mainly attributed to the increase in revenue and the Group's
increased efforts to collect trade receivables during the year.

Investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2018, net cash inflow generated from
investing activities amounted to RMB508.1 million (2017: RMB287.3
million), which was mainly attributable to revenue from the sale of the
Scient factory’s property, plant and equipment and proceeds from wealth
management investments upon maturity during the year.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2018, net cash outflow generated from
financing activities amounted to RMB283.2 million (2017: net cash inflow
of RMB50.4 million), mainly attributable to the decrease in pledged
deposits in relation to the decreased bank loans during the year.

Loans

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s loans amounted to RMB415.1
million (31 December 2017: RMB529.7 million). The annualised interest
rates for loans denominated in RMB was 0.3%-4.05%; the annualised
interest rates for loans denominated in USD was LIBOR+0.7% to
LIBOR+1% and 3.73%; the annualised interest rate for loans
denominated in HKD was HIBOR+0.7%; and the annualised interest rate
for loans denominated in NZD was BKBM+1%. The above loans shall be
repayable on demand upon maturity. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group's gearing ratio, which is calculated by total interest-bearing bank
loan at year end divided by total assets at year end, was 5.4% (31
December 2017: 7.1%).
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Use of net proceeds from Initial Public Offering BRARBRIISHREFEAR

The Company’s net proceeds from Initial Public Offering amounted to ZARATAINBEBEH I EHE R AR BE
approximately RMB1,965.8 million after deduction of relevant expenses. Fi {8 2 B 284 A A R 11,9658 5 & 7T
The Company had applied these net proceeds as disclosed in the section XA @ 2 &R 20105F 10 A0 B W B = 72
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus dated 30 October [RRFEINFIERERAG ] —6AEED
2010. Therefore, the use of net proceeds as of 31 December 2018 isset 5 R B A B L HIBEF L - E I - & £2018
out as below: F1I2ANBAERBEFEREOT

Utilised during
the year Unutilised

Available at ended as at
the end of 31 December 31 December
2017 2018 2018

HZ2018%F 20184

R2017EE 1283181k 12A31H

ltem ER ] & A FEFBH KE A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AREBTFIT ARBTT

Expansion of production capacity for A& A 4 R E 5 I &

infant formula and nutrition food LERMmIER
products 46,353 46,353 —
Enhancement to the Group’s research 2 /5 2~ £ & 19 #ff 35 ¢ )
and development capabilities 196 196 —
Total Et 46,549 46,549 —
HUMAN RESOURCES AHER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 2,920 full-time 201812 A31H &K &£ H # £2,920%

employees (31 December 2017: 2,313). The total staff cost for the year (20175128318 :2313% ) 2 K & 8 -

was approximately RMB541.8 million (2017: RMB507.0 million). BEBERNFERAL B ARKS4188 & T
(2017 : AR¥507.0E8&T) ©

In 2018, the Group introduced new values of “Integrity, Responsibility K& E2018F 34 T [Hi(= « = - Al £ 45

and Entrepreneurship” in accordance with new business structure and @ |MFFEEE A X HRE UL BERE
development needs to strengthen the organization ability of the staff. HE BB ITHBEN-
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Strengthen Internal Cohesion of Staff and
Improve Innovation and Efficient Productivity

In order to achieve more efficient cooperation among the staff and
improve team cohesion, the Group launched a series of workshops
and cultural activities, and conducted information education
through different types of activities, including Yashili Journal, Micro-
course of Corporate Culture for Executives, Design Competition of
Corporate Culture Logo and so on. Under the guidance of the new
values, Yashili's team won the Best Practice Award of Organization
Development Gold Award 2018 of American Chamber of
Commerce.

Create Expert Team in the Mother-and-Baby
Industry

In 2018, the Group improved its employees’ skills on professional
knowledge, professional ability and business thinking in all aspects.
Through focusing on Mini MBA, a 5-month study program, the key
management were able to learn and discuss various possible ways
to solve business problems in a systematic way in marketing
management course, thereby enhancing their business operation
capability to form a business management team with the Yashili
culture and to select and train up suitable candidates for business
development of the Company.

Motivate Employees by Incentive Scheme and
Promote Policies to Boost Morale

Despite enhancing the knowledge and skills of the staff, the Group
also provided incentive scheme to improve the vitality and
motivation of the staff. The Group also promoted and implemented
various beneficial policies by taking the national policies as reference
to promote and communicate with the employees, and assisted
them to use and enjoy different kinds of services.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In addition to striving to provide comprehensive nutrition solution, the
Group also pays close attention and shares its resources and love to those
in need to show care to the society.

In May 2018, the Group donated Milk Powder for Growth of Primary and
Secondary School Students (F/NEAZEEFIF) to the People's
Government of Weining County, Guizhou Province, paying attention to
the healthy growth of children in poor mountainous areas.

In June, the Group actively participated in “Realizing the Chinese Dream
together, Having Safe Trips” ([EBIFF R Z<FEZ 217) organised by the
Red Cross Foundation of Anhui Province to promote safety protection
schoolbags donation. The Group purchased and donated safety
protection schoolbags on site, for supporting the primary and secondary
school students who were left-behind in poor counties and rural areas, so
as to protect the health of such teenagers and children, keep them safe
on their way to school and improve their safety knowledge as well as self-
help and mutual aid abilities.

In July, the Group also made cash donation to the Charity Association of
Xinyi in Maoming City, Guangdong Province to help improve the living
facilities in poor and backward areas.

In December, the Group carried out a charity campaign to express care to
the mothers with severe illness in the program “Warming Mothers, Being
Strong for Love” (15 % £} 31 - & & B2594), to help “Strong Mothers” from
126 families in Chao’an District to get through difficulties and experience
human warmth. The Group sponsored the 45th New Year’s Eve Run
around the Lake in Ma’anshan city to provide the participants with
comprehensive service and to support the New Year Run around the
Lake.
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PUBLIC RELATIONS AND CRISIS MANAGEMENT

The Group adhered to the principle of openness, interconnection and
win-win, and actively communicated with relevant government
departments, industry associations, consumers and the media to achieve
win-win results. The Group established two-way interactive
communication, regularly disclosed the development direction of the
enterprise, and inspected it from time to time, protecting the interests of
the enterprise and the public and enhancing the corporate image of the
Group by keeping good relationship with consumers, the government,
etc.

During the year, the Group has amended and improved the enterprise
crisis management system, and strictly implemented it through
propaganda and training. The new system could construct smooth
communication channels among departments in a more effective way
and improve the efficiency of collaborative work among departments.
Under the coordination of the Group’s Public Affairs Administration
Department, all departments cooperated to deal with various consumer
demands in a timely and effective manner, and assisted and coordinated
with government departments’ consultation and responded to media
concerns. The Group paid high attention to the market, services and
coordination with market sales, providing a solid background for sales.

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Group believes that effective communication with shareholders,
investors and prospective investors is essential for enhancing investor
relationship and enabling investors to understand its business
performance and strategies. The Group conducts communication and
exchanges with investors through various channels and means such as
onsite receptions, telephone conferences, non-trading roadshows and
investment summits of securities companies.

To facilitate effective communication, the Group has set up a website
(www.yashili.hk) to post its latest financial information, corporate
governance practices and other data available for public reference.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

Policy Implications

China’s Dairy Industry is Committed to World-class
Ranks

The “Opinion on Promoting the Revitalization of Dairy Industry and
Ensuring the Quality Safety of Dairy Products” (< [ HE 1 1) 3 3R SR [E
I GEELEHER)) issued by the State Council and “Several Opinions
on Further Promoting the Revitalization of Dairy Industry” ({BIRE—#
TRENEREIFETER)) jointly issued by nine departments such as
the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs clearly set goals and tasks for
the development of domestic dairy industry, and set clear norms on the
production operation, quality, supervision and inspection of dairy
products, including the proportion of farms with more than 100 cows
exceeding 65%, and the self-sufficiency rate of milk source maintaining
at over 70%; the dairy industry will be fully revitalized, realizing
modernization basically, and entering the world’s leading ranks as a
whole by 2025, striving to significantly improve the quality,
competitiveness and reputation of domestic infant formula within three
years, and increasing market share.

To Strengthen Supervision on Food Production Safety
and to Implement More Rigorous Spot Check

The Chinese government's supervision and administration department for
food production safety will complete the amendment on the production
license examination rules for infant formula food, dairy products and
formula food products for special medical purposes and also amendment
on the food labeling, supervision and inspection as well as flight
inspection management measures in 2019. At the same time, it will also
carry out research to implement corporate responsibility and improve the
quality of dairy products, strengthen the supervision and inspection for
meat products, infant supplementary food, and conduct relevant basic
research by allying associations, intermediaries, universities, media, etc.

On the other hand, the supervision and administration department for
special food safety also plans to strengthen the supervision of infant
formula in 2019, and strictly carry out product formula registration.
Through scientific safety review, the on-site verification and spot
inspection of infant formula registration will be strengthened to ensure
the consistency of the application materials for registration and spot
inspection. At the same time, it will fully mobilize third-party professionals
to participate in the social co-governance of the safety of special food,
rate and manage special food registration and inspection institutions, and
promote the voluntary filing of institutions to cooperate with the
government'’s supervision according to law.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B2 B 51 5R 8 7 il (£8)

!"

1

'y
W=

Paying More Attention to the Nutrition and Health
Level of the People and Increasing the Nutritional
Value of Elderly Foods

While breakthroughs have been made in the development of China’s
infant foods, much attention is given to the health quality standard of
elderly foods. The release of the first national standard on elderly foods,
namely “National Food Safety Standard, General Rules for Elderly Foods”
KERLZL2EREEEFERHKEA])) has demonstrated that China’s
national departments will vigorously develop nutritional foods for the
elders, which has also brought huge development opportunities for the
elderly food market. Looking into 2019, it is expected that nutrition foods
for the elderly group will be further developed.

Industry Trend

Third- and Fourth-Tier Cities Are Becoming
Battlegrounds for Enterprises

The implementation of the Formula Registration Requirement of Infant
Formula in 2018 has resulted in stiffer competition among enterprises in
domestic milk powder market. At the same time, a gap in the market is
created in the third- and fourth-tier cities after the small brands that used
to be competitive in such cities and towns have been withdrawn from the
markets, leaving spaces for enterprises with scale and brand power to
compete.

A Focus on High-End Business Strategy Nationwide Has
Given Large-Scale Enterprises An Edge over Others

At the corporate level, under the pressure of performance growth caused
by insufficient newly-born population, milk enterprises have been shifting
toward high-end route with an aim to gain higher gross profit, as well as
optimize and upgrade product structure. Meanwhile, due to the Formula
Registration Requirement, some regional enterprises in this sector are
taking steps to procure business and build sales networks nationwide,
and enterprises with certain scale have basically completed their
construction of marketing channels in 2018. For those products that have
not been registered under the Formula Registration Requirement, there
are material disposal at low prices, causing impact on the stability of
prices and channels of large brand products in regional markets.
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The Apparent Trend toward Modern Trade Channel
and Digitalization of Mother-And-Baby Stores Has
Encouraged Extension of Business Channels to Acquire
More Market Shares

At the channel level, mother-and-baby store channels will still be the
main battlefield for infant formula business. “Cross-border” and “New
retail” will be the new hotspots in such channels. As the middle and
large-scale mother-and-baby stores start to undergo digitalization and
transform into modern trade channel, the stores start to work together to
seek for a better way to operate. Competition for channels has shifted
from contest of distribution network resources to refined operation of
terminal stores. Foreign-invested brands constantly implement the
channel extension strategy to further extend their reach to markets of
third- and fourth-tier cities, while domestic brands are proactively vying
for resources such as retail terminals, shelves and shopping guides
through multiple expansion approaches. With the deepening of digital
transformation in various industries in China, big data, cloud computing
and artificial intelligence in the mother-and-baby industry will offer new
development opportunities for new retailing industry.

New Differentiated Products Are Becoming A New
Consumption Trend with Organic Milk Powder and
Goat Milk Powder Being Hot Growth Points

Consumer distribution will be diverted from the original high
concentration on the medium-priced products to those high-end products
at fair prices. The consumption hierarchy will become more rigid with
minor differences. At the same time, regional consumption gap is
narrowing due to increased urbanization level. Therefore, promoting the
development of new categories of differentiated products will be more in
line with the overall consumption trend. Pure goat milk powder and
organic milk powder will be the new key growth drivers.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Company Strategies

Brand Strategies

Targeting at “Good Milk Powder of International Quality”
and Strengthening Brand Authority to Get Closer to
Terminal Consumers

In 2019, the Group will further shape its brand to center on its brand
positioning of “Good Milk Powder of International Quality”, and continue
to invest in brand building and empowerment, so as to realize sharing of
resources.

In further cooperation with CCTV, the Group has become a “Pioneering
Brand in CCTV's National Brand Plan” (CCTVEIR st 2I4B 1M E),
and has further expanded its brand influence through CCTV's precious
resources and mainstream media in major cities. In addition to highly
frequent air broadcast, it has held major marketing activities, POSM and
promotion activities by taking part in prestigious awards and authoritative
fairs such as “Children-Baby-Maternity Expo (CBME)” and “China
International Import Expo”. Furthermore, it endeavors to explore potential
users by orienting target group through mother-and-baby vertical media
and information flow advertisements. All these efforts help strengthen
brand authority and endorsement and facilitate frontline sales.

Meanwhile, the Group will continue to carry out the “Most Beautiful
Mother” ({FZE1E15)) roadshow and increase terminal consumers’
affection to our brand and raise our attraction to new consumers. The
Group will attend the “Mother-Infant-Child Products Fair (MICF)" in
Beijing to provide support for sub-brands in expanding markets in
Northern China. Besides, the Group will invite consumers to trace milk
sources and factories to witness the quality in person, which will highlight
the international advantage of global milk source of the Group.

Product R&D

In 2019, the Group plans to finish the registration of all infant formula
products recipes submitted last year, and will upgrade the recipes of
existing infant formula products in the market.

Furthermore, the Group will extend the product development of formula
foods for special medical purpose from infant-oriented to adults with
special consuming needs. In 2019, the Group will put more effort on
designing unique formula to cater for demands of people in different age
stage including children, teenagers, adults, middle-aged and elderly
people. Functional ingredients will be taken into account in the new
formula to create more consumption hotspots for adult milk powder.
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As for rice noodle products and oat products, more flavors and related
organic products will be introduced in 2019 with more options on
packages and specifications to attract more consumption groups and
increase consumption level of products.

Sales Channels

With business segments as the bases, the Group will step up efforts
intensively in building sales channels for its brand products and sales
regions, focusing on work related to products, channels, marketing and
management.

Continue to Focus on Product Categories to Stabilize Milk
Powder Products and Strengthen the Brand of Goat Milk
Powder and Organic Milk Powder

The Group will be dedicated to stabilizing milk powder products,
expanding the share of organic products, and developing a new goat milk
powder market. While implementing the layout of product line, the
Group will continuously optimize product formulas and provide products
with higher quality and distinctive functions based on market demand to
enhance overall competitiveness of products. This includes vigorous
establishment of main products lines such as organic brand “Reeborne”,
popular product “Doraler”, “Dumex” goat milk and its portfolio “Dumex
TruYn"” goat milk.

Increase Network Penetration and Enhance Refined
Management

In-depth building of channels has produced dividend effect for the Group
in 2018. Hence, further efforts will be made to increase network
penetration to cover counties, towns and villages. The modern trade
channel will help increase the single-store’s output. The deepened
cooperation with the modern trade channel will help establish a
cooperative relationship with large vendors and gradually set up a
benchmarking store system while breaking even.

As for mother-and-baby chain stores and KA shopping mall channels, the
Group has a proposed strategic expansion plan to increase the market
share of advantageous brands in mother-and-baby chain stores and to
enable the adult milk powder products to be back to the important
position in the modern trade channel. As for refined management of
customers, the Group will enhance grade-based management of
customers, develop customers for strategic cooperation and increase
potential and loyalty of key customers.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION
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Explores Consumption Group through Innovation in
Marketing

The Group will constantly enhance connections with the channels and
develop potential consuming markets through innovative and targeted
marketing and promotion. Meanwhile, the Group will integrate channel
resources to expand the coverage of creative marketing, launch a series
of promotion activities based on the needs and concerns of target groups
and organize integrated marketing campaigns with greater market
influence. Besides, the Group will continue to explore and carry out more
trendy marketing ways such as Tik Tok celebrities.

Optimizes Sales and Business Data Management and
Improves Sales Team Structure for Better Service

The Group will take business segments as foundation to make constant
efforts to improve the operating management level of the business team,
and will set up a regional marketing management centre in an
appropriate time to better various systems of the team in respect of
structure organization, talent team building and process control and
management. The Group will continue to implement and optimize the
information management of channels, control the purchase, sales and
inventory data of channels, and provide consumers with precise products
and services. It will further promote big data analysis and application,
improve service experience of frontline consumers, increase marketing
accuracy, and improve product supply and distribution efficiency, to
improve overall service quality of the Group to customers and consumers.

Expands E-commerce and New Retail Models for More Profit
Growth Points

In order to keep abreast of the development trend of the consumer
market in China and better grasp new opportunities brought by
E-commerce and new retail models, the Group will put more effort on
E-commerce data analysis and application by leveraging on the consumers
big data analysis to seek for business opportunities, stabilize prices,
enhance customer redirection and improve service.

Supply Chain

Facing the complicated external environment and intensive industry
competition, the Group will reinforce and capitalize on its own edges.
Through enhancing the reliability and feasibility of supply chain, the
Group will be able to provide higher quality products to the market and
meet market demands at a faster pace.
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Emphasizes on Entrepreneurship and Reserves Professional
Talents

The Group will continue cultivating entrepreneurship to drive Yashili
towards products and management innovation by introducing more
industry-leading training on supply chain management and train
professional talents to make Yashili more competitive in the supply chain
in an all-round way. Moreover, the Group stays committed to the
principle of high security and quality and remains firm in fulfilling its social
responsibility of “even one is too much” by comprehensive improvement
on control over production sites to make sure zero defect of products and
zero accident in production.

Accelerates Digital and Automation Transformation to
Increase Productivity

Yashili's smart supply chain enables the Group to follow the change in
market demands in a more accurate manner, precisely manage the end-
to-end coordination in the supply chain and maximize supply chain agility
to realize flexible production.

Maintains Diversified Products and Services to Deepen
Upstream and Downstream Integration

On the basis of maintaining the expansion of sales of its main products
and the innovation of new product R&D, the Group will further expand
the processing industry of whole milk powder and skim milk powder. It
upholds diversified products strategy to optimize product portfolios and
enhance product profitability. Furthermore, the Group will strengthen its
strategic cooperation with key suppliers to maintain its existing strengths
of key raw materials, and on the other hand, it will intensively extend
customer service by further exploiting the demand of terminal consumers
to improve customer service experience. It will also continue to work on
network optimization to make it adaptable to customer service demand
and cost shock resulting from changing market distribution and retail
business.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION
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Human Resources

In 2019, human resources department of Yashili International will focus
on five aspects: building brand by deepening culture cultivation;
optimizing form of organization structure; promoting business growth;
managing performance; and improving workforce efficiency.

Building brand by deepening culture cultivation: corporate culture is
a prerequisite for building the acting ability for an organization. In 2019,
human resources department will cultivate the corporate culture deeply
by holding activities such as corporate culture workshops and visually
presenting the corporate culture through decoration in the office
environment. Moreover, it will enhance cohesion via recognition from
authoritative institutions to create a brand of good employer.

Optimizing form of organization: In terms of organization form, we
will further improve the organizational structure of business departments
and establish a flexible organization and cross-border platform. In
addition, we will recruit and cultivate young talent with huge potential
for personnel pool of the organization to cope with the business need
rapidly.

Promoting business growth: We will develop the leadership model of
Yashili, recruit talents with Yashili characteristics, and establish talent
supply chain and channel for career development. By relying on
company’s internship and marketing training programme, we will provide
our staff with a mechanism and platform for fast development.

Managing performance: In order to further stimulate employees’
morale and potential, we will keep innovating our performance
management mechanism. We will put more efforts to promote the non-
material incentive system, pay attention to the mental needs of the
organization and inspire employees’ internal drive.

Improving workforce efficiency: Human resources department will
carry out duty with “frontline services” that support sales with action. It
will understand the needs of frontline employees deeper and provide
support and assistance timely.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential
in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of
shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies
and policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31 December
2018, the Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and
to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
development.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company'’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides directions to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All directors, including the non-executive directors and the independent
non-executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Through active participation at Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interest and serving on Board committees, all non-executive directors
(including the independent non-executive directors) make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EREIBHRS (R)

The independent non-executive directors are responsible for ensuring a
high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a
balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.

All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders at all times.

The directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of three non-
executive directors, one executive director and three independent non-
executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive directors

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman)

Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Ms. Lam Pik Po (resigned on 25 March 2019)

Executive directors

Mr. Chopin Zhang (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Hua Li (Chief Operating Officer)
(resigned on 16 March 2018)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EREIBHRS (R)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. The independent non-executive directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the directors including relationships
among the members of the Board are set out under “Directors and
Management Biographies” on pages 71 to 76 of this Annual Report.

THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER (“CEQO")

The positions of Chairman and CEO are held by Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
and Mr. Chopin Zhang respectively. The Chairman provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the
Board. The CEO focuses on the Company’s business development and
daily management and operations generally. The Board considers that the
responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO respectively are clear and
distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not necessary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third
of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all independent non-executive directors are
independent.

EEREREHNED) TEERARAR
BRELETRANBFLOMAELEBEAT -
REBELMAN BLFATESRAADL
XBATEHAEHR -

EENRERFER(BREEETgXERMAE
RIENARERFINZICENEELER
BREFEIA -

EFERTHRAS (1THAR]D

ETRRITBBHES AIHEFBEERKT
(ChopinZhang) e £ H - T EEE EE A
ERAEESCANEEREE - THA
HAU—MEBIRARANELEZRE B
ERREBE-ZFEERA FTRETHAER
FEZBELHEABAT WEBARERK
ECEMBESHE -

BAYFHTES

HE2018FN2ANHLEFE EE2—&H
FAELETRUNEBZIEL 2B ILIER
TEENRT BURAITESASREE
EGEL =D REP-ZEIIEHRTT
EFEEABAENEEEARNEIAHA
IS EREEMNH -

ARAEWBIEBILIERTEERIELT
RAIEIBGEMENBLIEESIEEEB
THNFEEERR ARARREES
MIFATESTHYRBILIAL

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EREIBHRS (R)

" !i'h

== 7

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election,
whereas code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code states that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that
every director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the non-executive directors of the Company is appointed for a
specific term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation once
every three years.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such
induction includes visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings
with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for directors would be arranged and reading materials
on relevant topics would be provided to directors where appropriate. All
directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company organized one
training session conducted by the legal adviser of the Company for the
directors, in relation to updates on changes in the regulations of the
Stock Exchange and the Securities and Futures Commission. In addition,
relevant reading materials have been provided to the directors for their
reference and studying.
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The record of continuous professional development relating to director's R E E2018FE 12 A3 B I EEFE R EH =R E
duties and regulatory and business development that have been received HHE BEEZECZEBEBEEEZBE U LE
by the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to date of BRI R XK HE WIS B H LB R DM

this Annual Report are summarized as follows: g T
Type of Training "°*
Directors BE= £ 3 48 B
Non-executive directors FHITES
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu & U5 A& A/B/C
Mr. Qin Peng =& A/B
Mr. Zhang Ping o& ¥ A A/B
Ms. Lam Pik Po, Katty WEE L+ (R201943 525 H BEE)
(resigned on 25 March 2019) A/B
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Hua Li (resigned on 16 March 2018) ) e (R20184E3 F 16 A B4 E) =
Mr. Chopin Zhang ok S (Chopin Zhang) 5t 4 A/B
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben EEETE A/B
Mr. Cheng Shoutai BFAREE A/B
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway FABEE A/B
Note: =
Types of Training BB

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars, A:  HEEI € BFEEFSEAENT & Hat
conferences and workshops e.-exhNEEWTe

B: Reading materials relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities and  B: MEREERENE TR EEERA

regulatory updates B 2B MR
C:  Giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums C HEWMSek/SHe#LSmEEHEERE
Bl
DELEGATION BY THE BOARD EEENRE

The Board reserves for its decision of all major matters of the Company, E=EZSRZHEAANTMEEAEETLN L
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies # @ BIE BRI LEBMARFEEH - B2
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material FHBENTEE  RNIEELEBREIERLS B
transactions (in particular to those that may involve conflict of interest), AKX S (I AreF LT EHZEREE) 1%
financial information, appointment of directors and other significant &%l - ZEFXTEERLHEHMEAM B L EES
financial and operational matters. B
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The daily management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of
the Board committees are posted on the websites of the Company
(www.yashili.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are
available to shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 8 October 2010 with revised
written terms of reference (adopted on 26 August 2015) in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee consists of three
members including two independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Lee Kong Wai Conway (Chairman) and Mr. Mok Wai Ben and one non-
executive director, namely Mr. Zhang Ping (with Mr. Lee Kong Wai
Conway possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise).

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information
and reporting process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit and
appointment of external auditors, provide advice and comments to the
Board and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee held
three meetings and reviewed the Group'’s interim and annual financial
results and interim and annual reports, significant issues on the financial
reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit function,
appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of works, connected
transactions and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors three times without
the presence of executive director(s).

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 8 October 2010. As at
31 December 2018, the Remuneration Committee consists of five
members including three independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben (Chairman), Mr. Cheng Shoutai and Mr. Lee Kong
Wai Conway and two non-executive directors, namely Mr. Jeffrey,
Minfang Lu and Mr. Qin Peng.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. Its main duties are to
evaluate and make recommendation to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure relating to all directors and senior
management of the Group, including making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and
senior management; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no
director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages as well as the
annual bonuses of the executive directors and the senior management
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2018.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established on 8
October 2010. As at 31 December 2018, the Nomination Committee
consists of three members including one non-executive director namely
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman), and two independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr. Cheng Shoutai.
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties of
the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and
appointment of directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects set out in the Board Diversity Policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
and regional experience, etc.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of independent
non-executive directors and considered the qualifications of retiring
directors standing for election at the annual general meeting held on 1
June 2018. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2018.

BOARD PROCEEDINGS

Board practices and conduct of meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally
made available to the directors in advance. Notice of regular Board
meetings is served to all the directors at least 14 days before the meeting.
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given.

Board papers together with relevant information are sent to all directors
at least three days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to
keep directors apprised of the latest development and financial position
of the Company and to enable them to make decisions. The Board and
each director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board meetings and
where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of
the Company.
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The Company’'s memorandum and articles of association contain
provisions requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving transactions in
which such directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes
are normally circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and final versions are open for director’s inspection.

Attendance Records of Directors

The attendance records of each director at the Board meetings, Board
committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out below:

ARREEBEE XM NARIEA R
REMEFTHKETABBEARRZTHE
EXMG MEBESANRAEAZERS
VEE EMERERPFAEEAR

SHRNWERERB A FEMAEZS S
ARREEEZINERLE SRLEER
—RBRREERRTERN -—BRAERHAM
E=EH UNREER  MEKRAATHE
=EH-

EEHESRNLE

EEEHEARARREE2018F12A831H
IEFERTZESTH EEZETTH
MR AR

Number of Attendance in Person/Number of Meeting(s)

BEHERY ERRH

Annual

Audit Remuneration Nomination General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting®

BREREF

Name of director EEpE BEEg EREEE FHZEEE REZEE rEo®

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu [E S pk 5t & 7/9 — 2/2 1/1 1/1

Mr. Qin Peng =Sk E 9/9 — 212 — 0/1

Mr. Zhang Ping, Katty ok 3 % A 8/9 2/3 — — 1/1

Ms. Lam Pik Po, Katty™ MEELLO 7/9 — — — 11

Mr. Hua Li® EHFEEY 0/1 — — — —

Mr. Chopin Zhang iRk F (ChopinZhang) &£ 9/9 — — — 1/1

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben RExdksE 8/9 33 212 171 171

Mr. Cheng Shoutai BFAREE 8/9 — 2/2 11 11

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway 2= i 187 5 4 7/9 3/3 1/2 — 1/
Notes: Bt 5

(1) Resigned on 25 March 2019.

(2)  Resigned on 16 March 2018, no meeting was held on or before 16 March
2018.

(3)  The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 1 June 2018.

Apart from regular Board meetings, an independent non-executive
directors’ meeting was also held without the presence of the executive
director on 26 March 2018.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules as the Group’s code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company with all directors and
the directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms than the Model Code
for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished inside information of the Company. No incident of non-
compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was
noted by the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of directors and senior management
of the Group.

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
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than Directors) by bands for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out | 9 & EREEKREB(EERIN FHW
below: I

Number of
individuals
A"
Nil to RMB1,000,000 == AR % 1,000,0007T 1
RMB3,000,000 to RMB4,000,000 A R # 3,000,000 7T = A R #4,000,0007C 1
Total o 2

Details of the remuneration of each of the directors for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals of the
Group are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company's corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance with the Model Code and Employee Written Guidelines,
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
corporate governance report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 14 December 2018
which sets out the Company’s approach on the diversity of the Board.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

The Company believes that greater diversity of directors is good for
corporate governance and is committed:

o To attract and retain candidate(s) for Board with a combination of
competencies from the widest possible pool of available talent.

o To maintain a Board with diversity perspectives at all levels, in
particular, those aligning with the Company’s strategy and
objectives.

o To assess regularly the diversity profile of the Board and, where
applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions under
the succession planning of the Company and the progress on
achieving diversity objectives, if any.

o To ensure that the selection and nomination of Board positions are
appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates can
be considered.
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o To set up appropriate procedures for development of a broader and
more diverse pool of skilled and experienced senior management
that would be prepared for Board positions.

o To ensure that changes to the Board’s composition can be managed
without undue disruption.

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board to complement the Company's corporate
strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the nomination of
directors (as applicable), Board diversity has to be considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to the following:

J Gender

° Age

o Cultural and educational background

o Professional qualifications

Skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the Company’s business
growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree on
the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and make
recommendations to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession planning, as
applicable.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board diversity policy as
appropriate and recommend revisions, if any, to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a Director Nomination Policy on 14 December
2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company. The policy aims to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company as well as the Board continuity and
appropriate leadership at Board level.

Criteria for nomination and appointment of
directors

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

Character and integrity.

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy.

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board.

o Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would
be considered independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity.

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company.

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession planning and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.
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Nomination process

(a) Appointment of new director

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and
the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
where applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendations to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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(b) Re-election of director at general meeting

() The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues
to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendations to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a
candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular
to shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the structure,
size and composition of the Board and this Policy and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a Dividend Policy on 14 December 2018 which sets
out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in
relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

A summary of the dividend policy is set out below:
1. In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall

maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
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The Company intends to distribute part of the annual net profits of
the Group or other special dividend amount approved by the Board
as dividends to its shareholders, subject to the conditions and
factors as set out below. No specific dividend proportion has been
currently adopted.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Articles of the
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations
and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

. financial results;

] cash flow situation;

. business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

. interests of shareholders;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

o any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, the
following dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
for a financial year or period:

. interim dividend;

° final dividend;

o special dividend; and

o any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.
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6. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval.

7. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

8. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time to
time.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in
respect of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems, and that it has the responsibility to review
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
that there will be no material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
The Board is the highest decision-making authority for overall corporate
risk management, and is mainly responsible for performing the following
risk management duties.

During 2018, the Audit Committee reviewed whether or not the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company were effective
and adequate on behalf of the Board, submitted a report to the Board on
a proposed increase in the number of internal audit staff and established
a risk control committee composed of the members of the Board and the
department heads of the Group pursuant to the guidelines of the Listing
Rules. By establishing a comprehensive risk management organizational
system, the Group carried out risk management effectively, clarified
decision-making, execution, supervision and other risk management
responsibilities, formed a scientific and effective system with division of
duties and set up three lines of defense for risk management. The first
line of defense consisted of the centres, marketing and sales affairs
divisions and factories directly in charge of risk management; the second
line of defense comprised the risk and internal control management
committee and the risk management division of the audit centre in
charge of the overall planning and supervising of risk management; and
the third line of defense was composed of the Audit Committee and the
internal audit division of the audit centre in charge of verifying risk
management.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee is the
supervisory and evaluation office of risk and internal control management,
which guides and supervises the Group in carrying out risk management.
The risk and internal control management committee, being a committee
established under the Audit Committee, is the highest coordination and
business affairs office for risk management. The committee is composed
of the first level officials in charge of various centres, marketing and sales
affairs divisions and factories, and chaired by the chief executive officer of
the Group. The risk management division is directly under the audit
centre of the Group, reporting to the head of the audit centre. As the
centralized management department of the Group’s risk management,
the risk management division is responsible for the Company’s day-to-day
arrangement, coordination, supervision, analysis and reporting of risk
management.

The risk management division has developed a “Risk Management
Workflow”, which divides the workflow into five major sections, namely (1)
risk identification, (Il) risk assessment, (lll) risk response, (IV) risk
monitoring and (V) risk management reporting, and clarifies and unifies
the workflow trend of risk management as well as the roles and functions
of relevant departments, implementation steps and so on. To regulate the
system and set out unified management requirements for workflow
execution, the department has specifically set out the work requirements
for each section in the workflow as follows:

() Risk identification

Risk identification is the first step and the basis for risk
management. It refers to the process of analysing and discovering,
by the staff in each business area and at each level of the Company,
the potential factors that may impact on the achievement of
business objectives. The Group may take the initiative to select
appropriate, effective ways to cope with and handle risks only if it is
able to identify its own risks comprehensively and correctly.
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The Group’s risk identification is carried out in two main lines. The
first one is a routine check on risk identification arranged and
initiated by the risk management division once a year, and the
second one is a temporary risk identification initiated by each of the
centres, marketing and sales affair divisions and factories in line
with the management needs. The job requirements for risk
identification are as follows:

(1) Time of risk identification: the Group will initiate routine risk
identification for the coming year in the fourth quarter of
each vyear. The risk management division will issue the
relevant notice and collect internal and external information
(such as changes in China’s relevant policies or industry
regulatory requirements, the Company’s strategic and
operational objectives for the current period as well as major
findings on the risk management and internal audit
supervision for the previous year) for the preparation of
annual risk alerts;

(2) Scope of risk identification: there are inherent risks in
conducting any business activities. All the centres, marketing
and sales affairs divisions and factories are required to
organize risk identification on a unified basis according to the
required dates of starting and ending the risk identification as
notified by the risk management division. Management staff
and risk counterpart staff at each level are the main organizers
of risk identification and are required to boost the risk
management awareness among all staff internally and to
comprehensively identify various internal and external risks
which impact on the achievement of objectives;

(3)  Areas of risk identification: in commencing a risk identification
process, each centre, marketing and sales affairs division and
factory are required to sort out and collect risks
comprehensively and systematically in line with the Group’s
risk management framework which consists of seven
dimensional areas including strategy, market, finance,
operations, law and compliance, quality and food safety as
well as sustainable development, taking into account the
factors that impact on the achievement of the Company’s
business objectives;

(4)  Principle of risk identification: it is necessary to follow the
three basic principles including comprehensiveness,
systematicness and continuity;
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Method of risk identification: Employing the risk identification
methods commonly used by enterprises as well as a variety of
ways and methods to collect a wide range of risks associated
with the Group’s business areas;

Summarizing and submitting findings on risk identification:
risk counterpart staff of each centre, marketing and sales
affairs division and factory are required to describe each risk
identified strictly in accordance with the Company’s common
risk language and compile a list of risks identified at the
centre/marketing and sales affairs division/factory level which,
after being verified and confirmed by the centre, marketing
and sales affairs division and factory manager, shall be
submitted by the risk counterpart staff of centre, marketing
and sales affairs division and factory to the risk management
division of the Group's audit centre;

Organization of risk seminars: specifically for the findings on
risk identification submitted by each centre, marketing and
sales affairs division and factory, the risk management division
is required to sort out the differences regarding the unclearly
defined leading role in risk management and incomplete
description of risks;

Establishment and improvement of the risk database: the risk
management division is required to establish and improve the
risk database of the Group as an essential basis for risk
management based on the findings on risk identification
submitted by each centre, marketing and sales affairs division
and factory annually;

Other requirements: in addition to the routine risk
identification carried out by the Group each year, the centres,
marketing and sales affairs divisions and factories are required
to carry out temporary risk identification in line with their own
internal actual situations. The workflow and methods shall be
carried out with reference to the above criteria.
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Risk assessment

Risk assessment refers to the risk assessment conducted on the
basis of the possibility of occurrence and the degree of impact of a
risk. In particular, possibility refers to the probability of occurrence
of a risk, and the degree of impact means the degree of impact of
the occurrence of a risk created on the target. The scope of impact
covers daily operations, laws and regulations, financial loss, food
hygiene and safety, environmental protection, corporate reputation
and so on. By comparing various risks, the significant risks are
arranged, and the priority to manage these risks in chronological
order and the strategies to cope with them are determined initially.
The specific job requirements include:

(1) the cycle of a risk assessment (conduct regularly once a year);

(2)  to carry out a risk assessment at different levels;
(3) to assess and identify significant risks at different levels;
(4)  to build up a team of risk assessment experts;

(5) to set risk score weight across centres/marketing and sales
affairs divisions/factories.

Risk response

Risk response refers to the strategies and plans determined by each
level of the management for responding to risks in line with the
Company’s own conditions and the external environment, with a
focus on the management intent determined in the Company’s
development strategy upon assessment of the relevant risks. Risk
response shall take into account the growth objectives and the
balance between risk and opportunity, and focus on emphasized
management of and response to significant risks at each level. The
specific workflow includes:

(1) to determine the main unit in charge of the Group's
significant risks;

(2)  to make preparations for responding to and notifying of risk;
(3) to develop strategies for analysing and responding to risks;

(4)  to execute and modify measures for responding to risks.
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(IV) Risk monitoring (1) Jo pen B5 42
Risk monitoring is a mechanism or method used by the EREEEEEEERNEMR R
management to understand and determine whether risk BEBREEI RS EANIINTIRENHT

(V)

management is functioning continuously and effectively under the
changing internal and external environment. It is a continuous
process aimed at evaluating the effectiveness of risk control,
detecting control deficiencies and making improvement in a timely
manner. The specific work requirements are as follows:

(1) Division of duties in risk monitoring: significant risks at Group
level are monitored by the risk management division
throughout the process. The risk management division
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conducts random checks while significant risks of centre/ MEKXEBRBF L EHEEE
marketing and sales affairs division/factory level are monitored BT MR R R A AR R
by the risk counterpart staff of the centres/marketing and Bl BRI TN EEHEHE

sales affairs divisions/factories throughout the process;

(2)  Frequency of risk monitoring: significant risks at Group level
are monitored quarterly, while significant risks at centre/

2 EREZEBAR AEEEENE
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marketing and sales affairs division/factory level are monitored BIHEEDNR  THREEMNEAR

quarterly or monthly by the centres/marketing and sales BREZEBARAEZTEXAE BHE

affairs divisions/factories on a selective basis; /L\/M HEED THEENE
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(3) Particulars of risk monitoring: risk monitoring covers the
implementation and effectiveness of strategies for responding
to significant risks at each level as well as the monitoring and
early warning of significant risk events and related risk
information within the industry.

Risk management reporting

Risk management reporting includes the report submitted to the
superior risk management division annually as well as the
information and communication details generated in each part of
the process of carrying out risk management. The specific
requirements for risk management reporting are as follows:

(1) Risk management reporting to the Audit Committee: report
at least once a year, as required by the Audit Committee;
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(2)  Reporting to the risk and internal control committee: report at
least twice a year, as required by the risk and internal control
committee;

(3) Other risk management forms and reports: while the risk
management system and workflow (refers to risk
identification, assessment, response and monitoring) are
being carried out, the centres/marketing and sales affairs
divisions/factories shall, as required by the risk management
division, submit all kinds of process management form and
information report in a timely and quality manner to ensure
that the Group’s risk management information is
communicated and reported smoothly.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2018.

o The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure
and responding to enquiries.

° Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM

For any transaction proposed to be conducted between the Group and its
connected persons, the Company may be required to publish a connected
transaction announcement under the Listing Rules if such transaction
constitutes a connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules
and the proposed transaction amount is above certain threshold.

To ensure the strict compliance with such requirements by all
departments, the Company has implemented the Management System
for Transactions between the Company and External Related Party ( (&
AIESNEIREE T 5 EIRHIE) ) with effect from September 2017,
details of which are as follows:

() All business departments of the Company shall act as the first
gatekeeper prior to the occurrence of transaction, paying close
attention to any business activity which may constitute an
connected transaction and notifying the compliance department in
writing for identification, assessment and determination prior to the
occurrence of transaction or during the contract-drafting stage.

In the event that the proposed transaction amount meets the
disclosure requirement:

o if the transaction is identified as a non-continuing connected
transaction, the business department shall enter into business
contract to specify the contract term (no more than one year)
and the fixed transaction amount. Meanwhile, the compliance
department will publish a non-continuing connected
transaction announcement.

o if the transaction is identified as a continuing connected
transaction, (1) the term of the relevant business contract
shall be at least two years but no more than three years; (2)
the business department shall estimate the annual transaction
amounts and determine the annual transaction cap with the
compliance department; (3) the business department shall
keep proper record to avoid the actual annual transaction
amount exceeding the annual cap; (4) the business
department shall provide explanations in the case that the
term of the continuing connected transaction lasts for only
one year or below due to some exceptional reasons.
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The legal department of the Company shall act as the second
gatekeeper for connected transactions prior to the occurrence of
transaction. Through contract management and control, the legal
department shall notify the compliance department for
identification, assessment and determination in the event that any
contract to be signed is identified as one that may constitute an
connected transaction.

The finance department of the Company acting as the third
gatekeeper for connected transactions, and the compliance
department, are jointly responsible for, among others, gathering
information for disclosure of continuing connected transactions
pursuant to the Listing Rules and on-going monitoring of all the
continuing connected transactions of the Group. The finance
department will keep an eye on the nature of the transactions
when reviewing contracts to be signed, and shall notify the
compliance department immediately for identification, assessment
and determination in the event that any transaction could possibly
constitute a connected transaction. It, together with the compliance
department, shall also review and monitor the connected
transaction related information, including aggregate transaction
amounts and monthly trend of connected transactions that have
been announced, on a monthly basis.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 118 to 123 of this Annual
Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, Certified Public
Accountants, is set out below:

5B A BY B B2 A BUAM B 3 BN

ARBINBZBMBEREEMEHRRNE
BeETBRAFRAFRFEI1IBEI2ZAN
(9837 2 BRAm s ] o

H E2018F 12A3MHIEFE AR ADB
~,/FE AR B 2 A ok & &5 AT S KA
(FEft e =HEm) BN A0 T -

Fee paid/payable

Category of services BR 7% %8 5l B EREA
RMB'000

AREF T

Annual audit services FEEZRSE 2,309
Interim review services R AR TS 380
Other assurance services b B8 35 AR 75 294
Total & =t 2,983

COMPANY SECRETARY NTWE

Ms. Wu Miu Wah was the company secretary of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2018. Ms. Wu is a senior manager of the
Corporate Services Department of Tricor Services Limited and is not an
employee of the Company. On 10 April 2019, Ms. Wu resigned and Mr.
Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris was appointed as company secretary of the
Company. Mr. Kwok is the financial controller and company secretary of
Mengniu Dairy, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Kwok is not an employee of the Company.
Ms. Wu and Mr. Kwok will contact the management of the Company
and report to the Board chairman and/or the chief executive through Mr.
Eric Fang of Investment Management Division, when necessary. Ms. Wu
has confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional trainings during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. The general meetings of the Company provide a
platform for communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the nomination
committee, remuneration committee and audit committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees, are available to
answer shareholders’ questions at general meetings.

The Company has not made any changes to its memorandum and articles
of association in the year of 2018. The Company’s memorandum and
articles of association is available on the websites of the Company (www.
yashili.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.yashili.hk), where up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each separate substantial issue at general meetings,
including the election of directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for
election as a director are available on the Company’s website (www.
yashili.hk).

Policy relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy to
ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed.
The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSAL
AT GENERAL MEETING

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any one
or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE MEESELESR
BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send R EAJAZEFE XA ARA T FHEEH - 5
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal A EFE@/EHF@MEHN KA A —K T

with verbal or anonymous enquiries. GHREOBEIEZSEN -
CONTACT DETAILS Bk 4% B R
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to AR A0 E X FrilAI AR AR TR K ENE
the Company: Mok TSk
Address: Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower 3k B5E

262 Gloucester Road i 3% &

Causeway Bay H T ITiE2625%

Hong Kong FRAERNEAE
Telephone: +852 2845 1230 ESr +852 2845 1230
Fax: +852 2845 1231 [ER=R +852 2845 1231
Email: ir@yashili.cn FH - ir@yashili.cn
Contact person: Mr. Eric Fang - SN FHHARLAE

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send the A4 £ BRENVEBIRAZTE 2R
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as ZE sz - @A KB PR EARBRMTE) 2
the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, TFARGZEHRREEFEHZE Pttt - WIREH D
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. % -HEBEREEH  UFELEK - FEE
Shareholders” information may be disclosed as required by law. B e iR A2 M T T URE -
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu

Aged 50, was appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Board, and was redesignated as a non-
executive director of the Company on 15 September 2016. Mr. Lu was a
director for each of the following subsidiaries of the Company, namely
Yashili International Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou
Hong Kong International Co., Limited (“Newou”) and Scient International
Group Limited from 27 April 2015 to 9 January 2017. Mr. Lu is currently
an executive director and the CEO of Mengniu Dairy as well as a non-
executive director and the chairman of the board of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1117). Mr. Lu was the Vice President (Greater China) of
Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China and had been with the Danone
Group and Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (“Dumex China”) for over 10
years. During the tenure at the Danone Group, he demonstrated strong
strategic business and market planning capabilities. With strong
leadership, management skills and in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr.
Lu contributed significantly to the success of the Danone Group’s baby
nutrition business in China. Prior to joining the Danone Group, Mr. Lu
spent 9 years with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited and
almost 4 years with General Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu has over 18
years of experience in sales and marketing and has been serving in
general manager or executive level roles for over 9 years. He has extensive
experience in the management of fast-moving consumer products and
dairy companies and has an excellent grasp and the in-depth knowledge
of the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his Bachelor degree from Shanghai
Fudan University.
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Mr. Qin Peng

Aged 63, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company and
a member of the Remuneration Committee on 27 April 2015 and 5 June
2015 respectively. Mr. Qin has been appointed as the Chairman of China
division of the Danone Group since 2007, and has a deep knowledge and
understanding of international and Chinese business and culture. Mr. Qin
joined the Danone Group in 1983. Mr. Qin was appointed as the vice
president of the China Operation division of the Danone Group from
1997 to 2006 and as the vice president of the Corporate Development
division of the Danone Group in Asia Pacific from 1995 to 1996. Mr. Qin
served as the general manager of Amoy Foods Limited in Hong Kong
from 1991 to 1994 and as the general manager of Guangzhou Danone
Yogurt Company Limited from 1988 to 1990. Mr. Qin was engaged in
Danone’s marketing and sales operations in France when he joined the
Danone Group and has moved to Asia since 1988. Mr. Qin graduated
from the Rene Descartes University with a Bachelor degree and from the
Paris Institute of Political Sciences with a Master degree.

Mr. Zhang Ping

Aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company and
a member of the Audit Committee on 27 April 2015. Mr. Zhang was
appointed as the authorized representative of the Company on 16 March
2018. He has been also a director of Yashili International Group Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, since 27 April 2015. Mr. Zhang joined the
Mengniu Group in 2014 and is currently the chief financial officer of
Mengniu Dairy. He has over 25 years of experience in the industry of fast-
moving consumer goods, specializing in the management of operation,
finance and audit as well as risk control. Mr. Zhang successively worked
as the manager of internal audit and system development, finance
director in Swire Beverages Co., Ltd., general manager of its bottler
manufacturing company and chief executive officer in Coca-Cola Bottler
Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang graduated from Beijing
Information Science and Technology University with a Master degree in
management engineering. Mr. Zhang has also been a non-executive
director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1117) since 22
March 2016.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chopin Zhang

Aged 54, was appointed as the CEO and an executive director of the
Company on 1 January 2017. Mr. Zhang is one of the authorized
representatives of the Company. Mr. Zhang has also been a director for
each of the following subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili
International Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong
International Co., Limited and Scient International Group Limited since 10
January 2017. Mr. Zhang has over 30 years’ experience in production and
supply chain management and has extensive management experience in
the food and beverage industry. Mr. Zhang served as the chief executive
officer of Food Union (China) Co., Ltd. (“Food Union”) from August 2015
to December 2016 and devoted to the establishment and development of
Food Union’s business in China. Food Union is a global manufacturer of
dairy products and ice cream. Prior to joining Food Union, Mr. Zhang
served as the operation director of Dumex China from March 2010 to July
2015 and was responsible for the operation, supply chain and
procurement of Dumex China, and has made important contribution to
the development of Dumex China’s business. Prior to joining Dumex
China, Mr. Zhang held positions in a number of famous multinational
corporations, including serving as the supply chain director (Greater
China) of Starbucks and the General Manager of Starbucks China Trading
Company, and holding various positions with Owens Corning (a global
leader in the development and production of construction materials and
fiberglass composites), Nike (leading global sports brand), Johnson &
Johnson (the world’s leading manufacturer of medical devices,
pharmaceutical and consumer healthcare products) and American
Standard (the world’s leading manufacturer of bath and kitchen
products), specializing in production and supply chain consolidation and
management. Mr. Zhang obtained his Bachelor’s degree in mechanical
engineering from Shanghai Medical Instruments College and his Master
degree of Business Administration from Maastricht School of
Management in the Netherlands.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Aged 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member
of each of the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee on 15
November 2013. Mr. Mok has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of China Foods Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 506) since 29 August 2017. Mr.
Mok served as a senior consultant for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited in 2012. Mr. Mok had served as a general manager of Beijing
Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2011. From 1993 to 2001,
he was a general manager of Hangzhou BC Foods Company Limited and
Nanjing BC Foods Company Limited. Mr. Mok also served as the general
manager of Swire Beverages Limited responsible for overseeing bottling
plant of Swire Beverages Limited in China. Mr. Mok was awarded a
Bachelor degree of Economics from McGill University, Canada in 1975.

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee on 15 November 2013. Mr. Cheng is a
qualified lawyer of the People’s Republic of China, the chief partner of
Tahota Law Firm, a law firm based in China. Mr. Cheng also serves as a
director of the All China Lawyers Association (R Z 2 E 2 AT &I ), an
arbitrator of the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (CIETAC) (FEIBEIBRKLEE ZHMHEEZESMEE), the
president of Sichuan Province Lawyers Association (F1)I| & 2ET & e )
and a legal advisor of the People’s Government of Sichuan Province. Mr.
Cheng holds a Doctorate’s degree in civil and commercial law from
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics. Mr. Cheng is honored
with the titles of “Model Worker in the Judicial Administration System in
Countrywide (ZEIFNATTH R T4 EN1EE)”, National Outstanding
Lawyer, Chambers Asia-Pacific Asia’s Leading Lawyer for Business (£ 1A HT
a5 Kb & At B S 42EM) and China Top Ten Influential Lawyers of Asia
Legal Business (ALB) (35 M%7 4#E5%). He has been nominated for the Best
Managing Partners of the Year of ALB for two times and was one of the
Fangyuan Top Ten Elite Lawyers of the Year as well as the First Session of
Top Ten Outstanding Lawyers Graduated from Southwest University of
Political Science and Law.
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Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 27 November 2013. Mr. Lee has over 30
years of experience in public accounting and auditing, corporate finance,
merger and acquisition and initial public offerings. Mr. Lee served at Ernst
& Young from September 1980 to September 2009. Mr. Lee was a
partner of Ernst & Young and held key leadership positions in the
development of Ernst & Young in China. Mr. Lee is a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Australia and New Zealand, the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants respectively. From 2007 to 2017, Mr. Lee was a member of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan Province.

Mr. Lee is an independent non-executive director of Chaowei Power
Holdings Limited (stock code: 951), China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 1117), China Rundong Auto Group Limited (stock code: 1365),
GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), GOME Retalil
Holdings Limited (stock code: 493), NVC Lighting Holding Limited (stock
code: 2222), Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (stock code: 1115), West China
Cement Limited (stock code: 2233), WH Group Limited (stock code: 288)
and Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2611) (the above
companies are all listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). From
July 2014 to September 2015, Mr. Lee also served as a non-executive
director of China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1237). From November 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Lee was also
an independent non-executive director of CITIC Securities Company
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6030) as
well as the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030)). Mr. Lee was
an independent non-executive director of China Taiping Insurance
Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 966) from October 2009 to August 2013.
Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of Sino Vanadium
Inc. (@ company which was delisted on the TSX Venture Exchange in
December 2011, stock code: SVX) from September 2009 to December
2011.

Mr. Lee graduated from Kingston University (formerly known as Kingston
Polytechnic) in London with a Bachelor’s degree in Arts in July 1980 and
further obtained his postgraduate diploma in business from Curtin
University of Technology in Australia in February 1988.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wen Jieping

Aged 42, is the chief financial officer and the general manager of the
financial management centre of the Company. Ms. Wen joined the
Company in May 2011 and is primarily responsible for the internal
financial control and overseas investment projects. Prior to this, Ms. Wen
was the department head and a senior manager of the audit department
of KPMG (Guangzhou office). She obtained her dual Bachelor degree in
International Commerce English and Accounting from Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies and her Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from Sun Yat-sen University. Ms. Wen is a member
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris

Aged 46, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on
10 April 2019. He is also the financial controller and company secretary
of Mengniu Dairy. Prior to joining the Mengniu Group in May 2007, Mr.
Kwok was the financial controller of a Hong Kong listed company and
had also served in an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor degree in
accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEBHRS

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of
the Group's performance during the year under review and a discussion
on the Group's future business development and outlook of the
Company’s business, possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing and important events affecting the Company occurred during
the year ended 31 December 2018 are provided in the “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 40 of this Annual Report. An
account of the Company’s relationships with its key stakeholders is
included in the paragraphs headed “Emolument Policy”, “Retirement
Benefits Schemes” and “Major Customers and Suppliers” of this
Directors’ Report.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year ended 31
December 2018 using financial performance indicators is provided in the
section headed “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to
40 of this Annual Report.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance by reference
to environmental and social related policies, as well as compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Company will be provided in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” which will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.yashili.hk) and a printed
copy of the same will be despatched to the shareholders of the Company
upon request.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group'’s principal activities during the year under review.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 124 to 263 of this
Annual Report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

SPECIAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended the payment of a special dividend of RMB1
cent per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2018,
amounting to approximately RMB47,456,000 in total (2017: Nil) to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members on 18
June 2019, subject to the approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting to be held on 6 June 2019. The payment of the
proposed special dividend will be in cash.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Thursday, 6
June 2019. Notice of the annual general meeting and all other relevant
documents will be published and despatched to the shareholders of the
Company in due course.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year under
review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately RMB5,158.5 million, which may be
distributed provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year under review amounted to
approximately RMBO0.8 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group held property,
plant and equipment of approximately RMB1,510.6 million. Movements
in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2018
and during the period from the end of the year of 2018 to the date of
this Annual Report were:

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman)
Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Ms. Lam Pik Po, Katty™

Executive directors:

Mr. Chopin Zhang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Hua Li®

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Notes:
(1) Resigned with effect from 25 March 2019.

(2)  Resigned with effect from 16 March 2018.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Article of Association of the
Company, Mr. Zhang Ping, Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr. Lee Kong Wai
Conway shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 71 to 76 of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting
during or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors in the Board has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years which will continue
thereafter unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of
the service contract, including by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party to the other. No Director proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of
their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout
the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company had the following interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")), which have
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short
positions which the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
are taken and deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which
are required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the
Listing Rules:

Directors’ interests in the shares of Mengniu Dairy (being a holding
company of the Company and an associated corporation of the
Company):
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of  the issued share

Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares capital

ERITREN

ESEB B REEtE ZERYE BRED

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu Beneficial owner 1,777,574 0.05%
B B & BEREAA

Mr. Zhang Ping Beneficial owner 486,223 0.01%
RFERE EnEAA

Mr. Chopin Zhang Beneficial owner 532,793 0.01%
3K F (Chopin Zhang) %t 4= EnlEA A

Note: Pt

(1) All the shares are held in long position.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which had been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code contained in the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, at no time was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors and chief executives of the Company (including their spouse
and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interest or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010, and adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010. Details of the
Share Option Scheme are as follows:

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
motivating eligible participants to optimize their future contributions to
the Group and/or reward them for their past contributions, attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going relationships with such
eligible participants who are significant to and/or whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group.

The maximum number of the ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Group
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at 1
November 2010 (the “Listing Date”), that is, 350,000,000 Shares, which
represented approximately 7.38% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
the date of this report. No option may be granted to any participant of
the Share Option Scheme such that the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
to that person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant
exceeds 1% of the Company'’s issued share capital from time to time.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board
and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay
the Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance of the grant on or before the 28
days after the offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than
whichever is the highest of:

(@) the nominal value of a share;

(b)  the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets on the offer date; and

() the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Listing Date, after which no further options will be granted
or offered.

On 23 July 2013, Mengniu International made a voluntary general offer
to option holders of the Company (“Option Offer”), to cancel the
outstanding options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
the Share Option Scheme. Please refer to the composite offer and
response document issued by the Company, Mengniu Dairy and Mengniu
International relating to, among other things, the Option Offer dated 23
July 2013 for further details.

On 13 August 2013 (being the final closing date of the Option Offer), the
Option Offer was accepted in respect of 52,088,266 options. The
underlying options together with all the rights attached thereto were
cancelled and given up and all the outstanding options automatically
lapsed upon acceptance of the Option Offer.

No option was granted by the Company nor was there any outstanding
option granted by the Company from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2018. As at 31 December 2018, there is no outstanding option granted
by the Company.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Schemes”
above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above,
at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities (including debentures) of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS FER
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND WERRAE
UNDERLYING SHARES

MARBEEXRFTETRABENA B
2018512 A31H - WA Al ok H M8 L H
MO EBEROTHEEREESFALBE
BB EXVEE2 R3S IE X AR E T A
NAMEZHIAE  HBALZARBEESFR
HEERMIE3IB6CHRTATENELHAD
BEIABMALTSEAE(TIEARTES
HEBITHRAB)MT :

So far as is known to the Director or chief executives of the Company, as
at 31 December 2018, the persons or corporations (other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interest or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporation(s) which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares shareholding®
HREMN
=g B, EEHE ZEREAE =Rl
Mengniu Dairy™ Interests in a controlled corporation 2,422,150,4379 51.04%
SEZED 2 ) B ) R
Mengniu International Beneficial owner 2,422,150,437% 51.04%
SEBR EnlEE A
Danone SA? Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
# HE SA? SAE A B B R s
Danone Baby and Medical Holding®® Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
SR A B B R
Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074® 25.00%
Bv(Z)
X2 A B )
Nutricia International BV® Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
SR A B B R s
Danone Asia® Beneficial owner 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
ERETE M@ EnlEE A
Zhang International Investment Ltd.®  Beneficial owner 303,462,119% 6.39%
KEKBERIZREBR QA ExnEA A
Vanguard International Investment Interests in a controlled corporation 303,462,119% 6.39%
Co., Ltd
SR A B B #E
Zhang Yangui Interests in a controlled corporation 303,462,119% 6.39%
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Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2018, Mengniu Dairy held 99.95% interest in Mengniu
International and Mengniu International directly held the relevant Shares.

(2)  As at 31 December 2018, Danone SA held 100% interest in Danone Baby
and Medical Holding. Danone Baby and Medical Holding held 100% interest
in Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV. Danone Baby and Medical
Nutrition BV held 100% interest in Nutricia International BV. Nutricia
International BV held 100% interest in Danone Asia and Danone Asia
directly held the relevant shares.

(3)  As at 31 December 2018, Zhang International Investment Ltd. was held as
to 35.06% by Vanguard International Investment Co., Ltd, which is in turn
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Yangui.

(4)  All the shares are held in long position.

(5)  The total issued Shares as at 31 December 2018 was 4,745,560,296.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Directors are not
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Baby and Medical Holding #f 5 Danone Baby
and Medical Nutrition BV #] 100% # 2 °
Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV %
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The March Settlement Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu

On 16 March 2018, Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) Trading Limited
(“Maanshan Trading”) entered into a settlement agreement (the
“March Settlement Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), a subsidiary of
Mengniu Dairy, in respect of the settlement between Maanshan
Trading and Inner Mongolia Mengniu of the consideration for the
purchase of tickets for the 2018 FIFA World Cup by Maanshan
Trading from FIFA through Inner Mongolia Mengniu. The total
consideration under the March Settlement Agreement shall be
US$514,174.2 (equivalent to approximately HK$4.0 million). Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 March 2018
for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the March Settlement Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would support the
marketing activities of the Group.

As of the date of the March Settlement Agreement, Mengniu
International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds 51.04% of the
shares of the Company and therefore is a substantial shareholder of
the Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a connected person of
the Company. As Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a subsidiary of
Mengniu Dairy and Maanshan Trading is a subsidiary of the
Company, the entering into of the March Settlement Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest applicable percentage ratio
in respect of the March Settlement Agreement exceeds 0.1% but is
less than 5%, the March Settlement Agreement is subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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The April Settlement Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu

On 13 April 2018, Maanshan Trading entered into a settlement
agreement (the “April Settlement Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu in respect of the settlement between Maanshan Trading
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu of the consideration for certain FIFA
sponsorship rights relating to the 2018 FIFA World Cup (being
rights relating to, among others, the use of intellectual property,
advertising, supply and distribution of products, marketing and
promotional activities, and the allocation of tickets for the 2018
FIFA World Cup) (the “FIFA Sponsorship Rights”). Pursuant to the
April Settlement Agreement, Inner Mongolia Mengniu shall allow
Maanshan Trading to enjoy the FIFA Sponsorship Rights which were
granted by FIFA to the Mengniu Group, and in consideration,
Maanshan Trading shall pay Inner Mongolia Mengniu an amount of
US$879,400 (equivalent to approximately HK$6.9 million) (exclusive
of tax). Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
13 April 2018 for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the April Settlement Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would enable the
Group to enjoy such FIFA Sponsorship Rights which would support
the marketing activities of the Group.

As of the date of the April Settlement Agreement, Mengniu
International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds 51.04% of the
shares of the Company and is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a connected person of the
Company. As Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy and Maanshan Trading is a subsidiary of the Company, the
entering into of the April Settlement Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect
of the April Settlement Agreement exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%,
the April Settlement Agreement is subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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Product Development Cost Arrangement with
Danone ELN

On 9 October 2018, Dumex China entered into a letter of intent (the
“Letter of Intent”) with Danone Trading ELN BV (“Danone
Trading”), a subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of the Danone
Group, with respect to the proposed development and manufacture
of infant formula products by Danone Trading for Dumex China.
The Letter of Intent provides for, among others, the product
development cost arrangement (the “Product Development Cost
Arrangement”), pursuant to which Dumex China shall reimburse
Danone Trading for all costs and expenses incurred by Danone
Trading in developing the infant formula products for Dumex China
in accordance with the development schedule set out in the Letter
of Intent (the “Development Cost”). The Development Cost is
expected to amount to EUR713,361 and may be adjusted upward
by no more than EUR100,000 as the development work progresses
in accordance with the development schedule set out in the Letter
of Intent. Except for the provisions in relation to the Product
Development Cost Arrangement and certain miscellaneous
provisions, the entering into of the Letter of Intent does not
constitute legally binding commitments from Dumex China and
Danone Trading. On 15 January 2019, Dumex China, Newou and
Danone Trading entered into an addendum (the ”Addendum”),
pursuant to which Newou shall replace Dumex China to be the
buyer of the infant formula products that Danone Trading
undertakes to develop and manufacture, and shall be the person to
reimburse Danone Trading for the Development Cost in pursuance
to the Letter of Intent. Save for the amendments set out above, all
other major terms and conditions of the Letter of Intent shall remain
in full force and effect. Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 9 October 2018 and 16 January 2019 for further
details.

The Directors are of the view that the Product Development Cost
Arrangement and the transactions contemplated thereunder would
lay a foundation for the Group's diversification of product lines and
strengthen the synergies between the Group and the Danone
Group.
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As of the date of this announcement, Danone Asia has a 25.0%
shareholding interest in the Company. Danone Trading is an indirect
subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of Danone. Therefore,
Danone Trading is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Dumex China is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company. As such, the Product Development Cost
Arrangement and the transactions thereunder constitute a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As the highest applicable percentage ratio (other than
the profits ratio) calculated based on the maximum amount of the
consideration of the Product Development Cost Arrangement
exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%, the Product Development Cost
Arrangement is subject to the reporting, announcement and annual
review requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Disposal of Interest in Yashili New Zealand,
the Share Purchase Agreement and the
Shareholders’ Agreement

On 14 December 2018, Yashili International Group Limited (“Yashili
(HK)") and Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. (the “Purchaser”)
entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase
Agreement”), pursuant to which Yashili (HK) has conditionally
agreed to dispose of (the “Disposal”), and the Purchaser has
conditionally agreed to acquire 49% of the issued share capital of
Yashili New Zealand, subject to the approval of the independent
Shareholders. The consideration for the Disposal consists of two
tranches. The first tranche is the US$ equivalent of 49% of
NZ$315,000,000. The second tranche is the sum of: (i) the US$
equivalent of 49% of NZ$2,937,716; (i) the US$ equivalent of 49%
of the closing date total comprehensive profit amount (if positive);
and (iii) the US$ equivalent of 51% of the forfeited tax loss amount.

Yashili New Zealand is a company incorporated in New Zealand and
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. As of the date
of the Share Purchase Agreement, Yashili (HK) holds 100% of the
issued share capital of Yashili New Zealand. Upon completion of the
Disposal, Yashili (HK) will hold 51% of the issued share capital in
Yashili New Zealand, and Yashili New Zealand continues to be a
subsidiary of the Company.
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On 14 December 2018, Yashili (HK), the Purchaser and Yashili New
Zealand entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the “Shareholders’
Agreement”) for the purpose of regulating the management of
Yashili New Zealand, the relationship between Yashili (HK) and the
Purchaser and their dealings in the shares of Yashili New Zealand
post completion of the Disposal, subject to the approval of the
independent Shareholders.

Please refer to the joint announcement of the Company and
Mengniu Dairy dated 14 December 2018 for further details.

The Directors (excluding the independent non-executive Directors
(whose views will be set out in the letter from the independent
board committee to be included in the circular to be despatched to
the Shareholders)) are of the view that the Share Purchase
Agreement, the Disposal and the Shareholders’ Agreement would
enable the Group to strengthen its strategic partnership with the
Danone Group and achieve greater synergies.

As of the date of the Share Purchase Agreement, Danone Asia has
a 25.0% shareholding interest in the Company. The Purchaser is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of
the Danone Group. Therefore, the Purchaser is a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. As Yashili (HK) is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the entering into
the Share Purchase Agreement and the Shareholders’ Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as
defined under the Listing Rules) (other than the profits ratio) in
respect of the Disposal is more than 5% and the total consideration
thereof is not less than HK$10,000,000, the Share Purchase
Agreement, the Disposal and the Shareholders’ Agreement are
subject to the independent shareholders’ approval, reporting,
annual review and announcement requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. As of the date of this Annual Report, the Share
Purchase Agreement, the Disposal and the Shareholders’
Agreement have not been approved by the independent
shareholders and the Disposal has not been completed.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected Persons

(@)

(b)

Mengniu Dairy, Inner Mongolia Mengniu, Tian Jin
New Value Supply Chain Company Limited (“Tianjin
New Value”), Burra Foods Pty Ltd (“Burra Foods")
and Inner Mongolia Digital Technology Digital
Distribution Co., Ltd. (“Inner Mongolia Digital
Technology”)

Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds
51.04% of the shares of the Company and is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a
connected person of the Company. As each of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu and Tianjin New Value is a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy,
each of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Tianjin New Value is a
connected person of the Company. Burra Foods is owned as to
51.35% by Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming Co., Ltd., which is in
turn owned as to 42.3% by Mengniu Dairy. Therefore, Burra Foods
is an associate of Mengniu Dairy under Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing
Rules and a connected person of the Company. Inner Mongolia
Digital Technology is wholly owned by Inner Mongolia Mengniu,
which is in turn a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy. Therefore, Inner
Mongolia Digital Technology is an associate of Mengniu Dairy under
Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing Rules and a connected person of the
Company.

Danone Trading, Danone Asia-Pacific Management
Co. Ltd. (“DAPM"), Nutricia Early Life Nutrition
(Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (“NELN"), Danone Asia Pacific
Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“DAPH"), Nutricia
Pharmaceutical (Wuxi) Co., Ltd. (“Nutricia
Pharma”), Danone Nutricia NZ Ltd (“Nutricia NZ")
and Shanghai Nutri Go Food Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai
Nutri Go")

Danone Asia, a subsidiary of Danone SA, has a 25.0% shareholding
interest in the Company. Therefore, Danone SA is a connected
person of the Company. As each of Danone Trading, DAPM, NELN,
DAPH, Nutricia Pharma, Nutricia NZ and Shanghai Nutri Go is an
indirect subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of the Danone
Group, each of Danone Trading, DAPM, NELN, DAPH, Nutricia
Pharma, Nutricia NZ and Shanghai Nutri Go is a connected person
of the Company.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

Trademark Licensing Agreement

On 25 September 2015, as one of the conditions precedent to the
completion of the equity transfer agreement in relation to the entire
equity interests in Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products
Co., Ltd. (“Oushi Mengniu”), Yashili International Group Ltd. (“Yashili
(Guangdong)”), Oushi Mengniu and Inner Mongolia Mengniu
entered into a trademark licensing agreement (the “Trademark
Licensing Agreement”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Mengniu (as
licensor) agreed to grant Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and
its affiliates (as licensees) a nontransferable and non-exclusive right
to use and sub-license certain registered trademarks (the
“Trademarks”) of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, which are subject to
change by Inner Mongolia Mengniu from time to time in the PRC,
for a term commencing from the date of the Trademark Licensing
Agreement for a period of (i) 50 years, or (i) the operation period
of Oushi Mengniu, whichever is later. The Trademark Licensing
Agreement may be renewed subject to the negotiations among the
parties in the future. The annual license fee is equal to (a) 3% of
the net sales revenue arising from the sale of the pediatric milk
formula products and milk powder products for adults for which
the Trademarks are used (the “Products”) by Yashili (Guangdong)
and its affiliates during that respective year, and (b) (i) 3% of the
net sales revenue arising from the sale of the Products by Oushi
Mengniu during that respective year, or (i) RMB18.0 million,
whichever is higher. The net sales revenue of Oushi Mengniu shall
start to accrue (i) following the completion of the registration of the
capital reduction as further described in the joint announcement of
the Company and Mengniu Dairy dated 21 September 2015 and
the circular of the Company dated 29 October 2015, or (ii) from
January 1, 2016, whichever is earlier. The annual license fee shall be
paid by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates within
two months after the end of each year. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2015
("September 2015 Announcement”) for further details.
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The Directors are of the view that the entering into of the
Trademark Licensing Agreement will benefit the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole in the following respects: (i) the Company
can benefit from the brand of Mengniu Dairy, the “Mengniu”
trademark is highly recognized in the PRC and the use of the
“Mengniu” trademark would be beneficial to the sale of the
Company’s adult milk powder products and maintain the market
share of Oushi Mengniu’s infant milk powder; and (ii) through the
“Mengniu” trademark license, the Company could access more
support from Mengniu Dairy in terms of brand resources.

On 22 December 2017, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a confirmation letter in
relation to the Trademark Licensing Agreement, pursuant to which
the parties agreed that for each of the years ending 31 December
2017 and 2018:

— no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and Yashili
(Guangdong) to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the use of the
Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing Agreement
provided that the expenses incurred by Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates) for the promotion,
marketing, advertising and distribution of the Products (the
“Marketing Expenses”) in any such year shall not be less than
3% of the revenue from the sales of the Products to third
party customers in such year; and

— in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by Oushi
Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates) in any
year are less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of the
Products to third party customers in such year, Oushi Mengniu
and Yashili (Guangdong) shall pay the shortfall to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu within two months after the end of such
year.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate license fees
payable by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates to
Inner Mongolia Mengniu under the Trademark Licensing Agreement
was RMBO, which was less than the cap of RMB45 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$54.771 million) as disclosed in the September
2015 Announcement.
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2 . Transition Services Agreements

On 27 May 2016 (after trading hours), Dumex China entered into a
series of transition services agreements (the “Transition Services
Agreements”) with members of the Danone Group, pursuant to
which the relevant members of the Danone Group agreed to
provide certain transitional services to Dumex China in respect of IT
support, lab sharing, accounting service, procurement support and
office sharing during the respective terms of the Transition Services
Agreements.

A.

IT Support Transition Services Agreement

Pursuant to an IT support transition services agreement (the “IT
Support Transition Services Agreement”) entered into
between DAPM and Dumex China, DAPM will provide, or
cause to be provided (including subcontracting any of its
affiliates to provide) to Dumex China, certain IT services from
the completion of the acquisition of Dumex China by Yashili
(Guangdong) (the “Dumex Transaction”) until the date on
which all of the individual transition periods for the services
provided by DAPM under the IT Support Transition Services
Agreement have expired. The consideration for the services
shall be the aggregate amount of the cost of the services plus
a 5% markup and the applicable value added tax at the time
the written invoice from DAPM is issued to Dumex China.

Accounting Service Transition Services Agreement
Pursuant to an accounting service transition services
agreement (the “Accounting Service Transition Services
Agreement”) entered into between Dumex China and NELN,
NELN will provide, or cause to be provided to Dumex China,
tax services, treasury services and accounting services during
each individual transition period from the completion of
Dumex Transaction until the date on which all of the
individual transition periods for the services provided by NELN
under the Accounting Service Transition Services Agreement
have expired. The consideration for the services provided
pursuant to the Accounting Service Transition Services
Agreement shall be the aggregate amount of the cost of the
services plus a 5% markup and the applicable value added tax
at the time the written invoice from NELN is issued to Dumex
China.
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Office Sharing Transition Services Agreement
Pursuant to an office sharing transition services agreement (the
“Office Sharing Transition Services Agreement”) entered into
between NELN and Dumex China, NELN will provide, or cause
to be provided to Dumex China access to certain offices
during each individual transition period from the completion
of Dumex Transaction until the date on which all of the
individual transition periods for the services provided by NELN
under the Office Sharing Transition Services Agreement have
expired. The consideration for the services provided pursuant
to the Office Sharing Transition Services Agreement shall be
the aggregate amount of the cost of the offices plus a 5%
markup and the applicable value added tax at the time the
written invoice from NELN is issued to Dumex China.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 27
May 2016 (“May 2016 Announcement”) for further details of
the Transition Service Agreements.

The Directors are of the view that the Transition Services
Agreements ensure the smooth transition and operation of
Dumex China following the completion of the Dumex
Transaction.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the IT Support Transition
Services Agreement was RMBO million, which was less than
the cap of RMB5 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$5.92 million) as disclosed in the May 2016
Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Accounting Service
Transition Services Agreement was RMBO million, which was
less than the cap of RMB0.8 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$0.947 million) as disclosed in the May
2016 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Office Sharing Transition
Services Agreement was RMBO million, which was less than
the cap of RMBO0.3 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$0.355 million) as disclosed in the May 2016
Announcement.
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Manufacturing and Supply Agreement

On 27 May 2016, Dumex China entered into a manufacturing and
supply agreement (the “Manufacturing and Supplying Agreement”)
with Danone Trading, an indirect subsidiary of Danone SA, pursuant
to which Dumex China agreed to purchase and Danone Trading
agreed to sell certain products for infant nutrition from time to time
during the term from the completion of Dumex Transaction to 31
December 2027. The prices shall be negotiated each year prior to
the start of the year and shall be calculated based on the cost of
the relevant infant nutrition products supplied plus a markup of
10% and with reference to the volume forecasts provided by the
Dumex China to Danone Trading. Please refer to the May 2016
Announcement for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Manufacturing and Supply
Agreement enables Dumex China to secure a long-term supply of
four tailored nutrition products from the Danone Group, which
would complement the existing product portfolio of the Group and
enhance the bargaining power the Group in channel distribution.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Manufacturing and Supply Agreement was
RMBO, which was less than the cap of RMB14 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$16.576 million) as disclosed in the May 2016
Announcement.
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Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement

On 4 November 2016, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a strategic cooperation supply agreement (the
“Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement”) with DAPH and
Danone Trading, each a subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of
the Danone Group, pursuant to which Yashili New Zealand agreed
to sell and DAPH and Danone Trading (on behalf of themselves and
their Affiliates) agreed to purchase base powder products and dairy
ingredients during the term of the Strategic Cooperation Supply
Agreement. The Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement shall take
effect upon: (i) the approval of the independent shareholders of the
Company of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereunder, and (ii) consultation with the
DAPH and Danone Trading's shareholders. The Strategic
Cooperation Supply Agreement shall be effective until 31 December
2018 (the “Initial Term”). The term of the Strategic Cooperation
Supply Agreement shall be extended for one year upon the expiry
of the Initial Term unless any party gives notice to refuse to extend
the term of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement beyond
the Initial Term at least six months prior to the expiry of the Initial
Term. The price of the base powder products and dairy ingredients
will be specified in individual purchase orders and shall be
determined on a cost plus basis with reference to the applicable
Incoterms and payment terms, which is consistent with market
practice. The prices for the base powder products and dairy
ingredients may be revised upon mutual agreement between Yashili
New Zealand and DAPH and Danone Trading every calendar
trimester.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4
November 2016 (“November 2016 Announcement”), the circular
of the Company dated 23 November 2016 (“November 2016
Circular”) in relation to the Strategic Cooperation Supply
Agreement for further details.
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The Directors (excluding the independent non-executive Directors
(whose views were set out in the letter from the independent board
committee included in the circular despatched to the Shareholders))
are of the view that the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would enable Yashili
New Zealand to improve its utilisation rate, thereby achieving
greater synergies between the Group and the Danone Group. Upon
the taking effect of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement,
the purchase contract (the “Purchase Contract”) dated 17 August
2016 between Yashili New Zealand and DAPH will terminate
automatically, and all the purchase orders under the Purchase
Contract will be automatically be subject to the Strategic
Cooperation Supply Agreement.

The Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 14 December 2016 (the “2016 EGM").
The Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement became effective on
31 December 2016.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement
was RMB283.50 million, which was less than the cap of RMB350
million (equivalent to approximately HK$401.524 million) as
disclosed in the November 2016 Announcement and the November
2016 Circular and approved by the independent shareholders of
the Company at the 2016 EGM.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 2 July
2018, as of 30 June 2018, none of DAPH and Danone Trading has
notified Yashili New Zealand to terminate the Strategic Cooperation
Supply Agreement after the Initial Term expires. Therefore, in
accordance with the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement, the
term of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement shall be
extended for one year beyond the Initial Term (the “Extension”),
subject to the approval of the independent Shareholders. As
disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and Mengniu
Dairy dated 14 December 2018, as the parties to the Strategic
Cooperation Supply Agreement were contemplating new
arrangements in relation to the cooperation, the Extension lapsed.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 2 July
2018 and the joint announcement of the Company and Mengniu
Dairy dated 14 December 2018 for further details.
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Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu

On 9 March 2017, Dumex China, Yashili (Guangdong), Shanxi
Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Yashili (Shanxi)”) and Oushi Mengniu, each
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a framework purchase
agreement (the “Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
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Mongolia Mengniu”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of SIVEEEERZ((ERFRERF A
Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to which Dumex China, Yashili BEZXEHzD Bt FHARK

(Guangdong), Yashili (Shanxi) and Oushi Mengniu agreed to MRBIEXRBROBHRAR  Z2EZF
purchase, and Inner Mongolia Mengniu agreed to sell (by itself or Bl - H+R(ER)  EEAMOLA) X

through its subsidiaries), raw materials from time to time during the
term of the Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. The Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu supersedes the purchase contract dated 1 December 2015
between Oushi Mengniu and Inner Mongolia Mengniu. The
Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu is
effective from 9 March 2017 to 31 December 2018 and shall be
extended for two more years if no written request is delivered by a
party to the other party before 31 December 2018. As of 31
December 2018, neither the Dumex China, Yashili (Guangdong),
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Yashili (Shanxi) or Oushi Mengniu nor Inner Mongolia Mengniu has MOEBER) BEH(LA)KEHSEF
delivered any written notice in respect of termination of the HASSEFEERK FTERNESEAEN
Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu to REBEXRpBZERARS - HEXTMNZMH

the other party. Therefore, the term of the Framework Purchase
Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu shall be extended for two
years (the “31 December 2018 Extension”). Accordingly, the
Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu
shall remain in force until 31 December 2020. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 9 March 2017 (the “9
March 2017 Announcement”), 25 August 2017 (the “25 August
2017 Announcement”), 22 December 2017 (the “22 December
2017 Announcement”) and 31 December 2018 for further details.

The Directors expect that the transactions contemplated under the
Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu and
the 31 December 2018 Extension would enable the Company to
procure high quality raw materials from a stable source and reduce
its procurement costs for raw materials.
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The annual cap of the Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
initially RMB100 million (equivalent to approximately HK$112
million) as disclosed in the 9 March 2017 Announcement. It was
adjusted to RMB39 million (equivalent to approximately HK$46
million), RMB19 million (equivalent to approximately HK$23
million), RMB39 million (equivalent to approximately HK$45 million)
and RMB50 million (equivalent to approximately HK$56 million) as
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 25 August
2017, 20 June 2018, 4 September 2018 and 23 November 2018 (the
“23 November 2018 Announcement”), respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Framework Purchase Agreement with
Inner Mongolia Mengniu was RMB49.67 million, which was less
than the cap of RMB50 million (equivalent to approximately HK$56
million) as disclosed in the 23 November 2018 Announcement.

The Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ

On 1 May 2017, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a service agreement (the “Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ”) with Nutricia NZ, pursuant to which Yashili New
Zealand agreed to co-pack and deliver to Nutricia NZ canned infant
formula during the period from 1 May 2017 to 30 June 2018 (being
the initial term commencing from 1 May 2017 to 31 December
2017 extended for six months according to the Service Agreement
with Nutricia NZ). Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 18 January 2018 for further details.

On 31 May 2018, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ agreed to
extend the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ for another six
months (the “31 May 2018 Extension”). Accordingly, the Service
Agreement with Nutricit NZ shall remain in force until 31 December
2018. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31
May 2018 (“31 May 2018 Announcement”) for further details.
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On 3 December 2018, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ agreed
to extend the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ for another six
months (the “3 December 2018 Extension”). Accordingly, the
Service Agreement with Nutricit NZ shall remain in force until 30
June 2019. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 3 December 2018 for further details.

The Directors are of the view that are of the view that the
transactions contemplated under the Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ, the 31 May 2018 Extension and the 3 December 2018
Extension would enable Yashili New Zealand to further improve its
utilisation rate, thereby achieving greater synergies between the
Group and the Danone Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ as
extended by the 31 May Extension was NZ$6.91 million, which was
less than the annual cap of NZ$12 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$66 million) as disclosed in the 31 May 2018
Announcement.

Framework Purchase Agreement With Tianjin New
Value

On 22 August 2017, Dumex China, Yashili (Guangdong), Yashili
(Shanxi) and Oushi Mengniu, each a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a framework purchase agreement (the “Framework
Purchase Agreement with Tianjin New Value”) with Tianjin New
Value, pursuant to which Dumex China, Yashili (Guangdong),
Yashili (Shanxi) and Oushi Mengniu agreed to purchase, and Tianjin
New Value agreed to sell, raw materials from 22 August 2017 to 31
July 2019. Please refer to the 25 August 2017 Announcement and
the 22 December 2017 Announcement for further details.

The Directors expect that the Framework Purchase Agreement with
Tianjin New Value and the transactions contemplated thereunder
would enable the Company to procure high quality raw materials
from a stable source and reduce its procurement costs for raw
materials.
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The annual cap of the Framework Purchase Agreement with Tianjin
New Value for the year ended 31 December 2018 was initially
RMB71 million (equivalent to approximately HK$83 million) as
disclosed in the 25 August 2017 Announcement. It was adjusted to
RMB91 million (equivalent to approximately HK$110 million),
RMB71 million (equivalent to approximately HK$82 million) and
RMB62 million (equivalent to approximately HK$70 million) as
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 20 June
2018, 4 September 2018 and the 23 November 2018
Announcement, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Framework Purchase Agreement with
Tianjin New Value was RMB59.04 million, which was less than the
cap of RMB62 million (equivalent to approximately HK$70 million)
as disclosed in the 23 November 2018 Announcement.

Lab Testing Service Framework Agreement

On 13 November 2017, Dumex China, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a lab testing service framework
agreement (the “Lab Testing Service Framework Agreement”) with
Nutricia Pharma, an indirect subsidiary of Danone SA and a member
of the Danone Group, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to
provide lab testing services to Nutricia Pharma from 13 November
2017 to 31 December 2019. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 14 November 2017 (“14 November 2017
Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Lab Testing Service Framework Agreement enable the
Group to achieve greater synergies between the Group and the
Danone Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Lab Testing Service Framework Agreement
was RMBO0.01 million, which was less than the cap of RMBO0.3
million (equivalent to approximately HK$0.35 million) as disclosed in
the 14 November 2017 Announcement.
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Processing Agreement with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu

On 1 January 2018, Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Shanxi), each a
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a processing agreement (the
"Processing Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to
which Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Shanxi) agreed to provide
processing services in respect of whole milk powder, skim milk
powder and other products to Inner Mongolia Mengniu from 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2020. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 2 January 2018 (“2 January
2018 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Processing Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu
would enable the Group to meet the production needs for its milk
powder products as well as fully utilize and better allocate the
Group’s production capacities which in turn generate additional
revenue to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Processing Agreement with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu was RMB51.87 million, which was less than the cap of
RMB80 million (equivalent to approximately HK$96 million) as
disclosed in the 2 January 2018 Announcement.
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10. Processing Agreement with Shanghai Nutri Go

11.

On 23 March 2018, Dumex China, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a processing agreement (the “Processing
Agreement with Shanghai Nutri Go”) with Shanghai Nutri Go
pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to provide processing
services in respect of NutriGo nutrition packs to Shanghai Nutri Go
from time to time from 23 March 2018 to 22 March 2019. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23 March 2018
(”23 March 2018 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Processing Agreement with Shanghai Nutri Go would
generate revenue for the Group and enable the Group to explore
additional business opportunities in the future.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Processing Agreement with Shanghai Nutri
Go was RMBO0.38 million, which was less than the cap of RMB6
million (equivalent to approximately HK$7.43 million) as disclosed in
the 23 March 2018 Announcement.

Supply Agreement with Burra Foods and Offtake
Agreement with Burra Foods

On 26 April 2018, Newou, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a supply agreement (the “Supply
Agreement with Burra Foods”) with Burra Foods, pursuant to which
Newou agreed to purchase, and Burra Foods agreed to sell, base
powder products for milk based recipes (the “Base Powder
Products”) from 26 April 2018 to 30 June 2018. If Newou and
Burra Foods enter into a new supply agreement before 30 June
2018, such agreement shall supersede the Supply Agreement with
Burra Foods. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 26 April 2018 for further details.
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On 28 June 2018, Newou entered into the an offtake agreement (the
" Offtake Agreement with Burra Foods"”) with Burra Foods, pursuant
to which Newou agreed to purchase, and Burra Foods agreed to
sell, the Base Powder Products from time to time from 28 June
2018 to 31 December 2018. The Offtake Agreement with Burra
Foods shall supersede the Supply Agreement with Burra Foods, and
all the purchase orders still performing under the Supply Agreement
with Burra Foods shall automatically be subject to the Offtake
Agreement with Burra Foods. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 28 June 2018 (the “28 June 2018
Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Supply Agreement with Burra Foods and the Offtake
Agreement with Burra Foods would enable Newou to procure high
quality raw materials from a stable source, which would lay a solid
foundation for the Group’s expansion into high-end product
categories.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Supply Agreement with Burra Foods and
the Offtake Agreement with Burra Foods was AUD1.99 million in
aggregate, which was less than the cap of AUD10 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$57.68 million) as disclosed in the 28 June
2018 Announcement.

Can Supply Agreement with Nutricia NZ

On 23 May 2018, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a can supply agreement (the “Can Supply
Agreement with Nutricia NZ”) with Nutricia NZ, a subsidiary of
Danone SA, pursuant to which Yashili New Zealand agreed to
purchase and Nutricia NZ, agreed to supply cans from time to time
from 23 May 2018 to 30 June 2020 unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the terms of the Can Supply Agreement with
Nutricia NZ. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 23 May 2018 (“23 May 2018 Announcement”) for further
details.
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The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Can Supply Agreement with Nutricia NZ would enable
Yashili New Zealand to procure high quality packing materials from
a stable source, further achieving greater synergies between the
Group and the Danone Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Can Supply Agreement with Nutricia NZ
was NZ$0 million, which was less than the cap of NZ$2 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$10.8 million) as disclosed in the 23
May 2018 Announcement.

Framework Supply Agreement with Burra Foods

On 20 June 2018, Newou entered into a framework supply
agreement (the “Framework Supply Agreement with Burra Foods”)
with Burra Foods, pursuant to which Newou agreed to purchase,
and Burra Foods agreed to sell, canned infant formula milk powder
under the brand of Shanai from time to time from 20 June 2018 to
31 December 2018. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 June 2018 (“20 June 2018 Announcement”)
and the supplemental announcement of the Company dated 26
June 2018 for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Framework Supply Agreement with Burra Foods would
enable the Group to further develop its high-end product line.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Framework Supply Agreement with Burra
Foods was AUDO million, which was less than the cap of AUD7
million (equivalent to approximately HK$41 million) as disclosed in
the 20 June 2018 Announcement.
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14. Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy

On 29 June 2018, the Company entered into a Framework
Agreement (the “Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy”)
with Mengniu Dairy in relation to (i) purchase of goods by the
Mengniu Group from the Group (“Type | CCT"); (i) purchase of
goods by the Group from the Mengniu Group (“Type Il CCT"); (iii)
provision of services by the Mengniu Group to the Group (“Type |l
CCT"); and (iv) provision of services by the Group to the Mengniu
Group (“Type IV CCT"). The Framework Agreement has a term of
three years commencing from the date of the approval of the
independent Shareholders (the “Effective Date”).

The goods under the Type | CCT and Type Il CCT are mainly raw
materials for dairy products, raw materials for food, food additives
(including but not limited to whole milk powder, skimmed milk
powder, white sugar, etc.), auxiliary materials, packing materials,
semi-finished goods and finished goods. The list of goods may be
updated from time to time according to the business needs of the
Group and the Mengniu Group. The services under the Type IIl CCT
and Type IV CCT are mainly testing services, storage and leasing
services, marketing and sales services, IT services, labour services,
advisory services and management services. The scope of services
may be updated from time to time according to the business needs
of the Group and the Mengniu Group. The price and terms of the
transactions under the Framework Agreement shall be determined
in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms,
negotiated on an arm’s length basis and no less favourable to the
Group than those available to the Group from independent third
parties.

Please refer to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 2 July
2018 in relation to the entering into of the Framework Agreement
with  Mengniu Dairy (“2 July 2018 Announcement”), (i) the
announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2018 in
relation to, among others, the revision of proposed annual caps of
the continuing connected transactions under the Framework
Agreement with Mengniu Dairy, and (iii) the circular of the
Company dated 22 February 2019 (“22 February 2019 Circular”),
for further details.
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The Directors (excluding the independent non-executive Directors
(whose views were set out in the letter from the independent board
committee included in the 22 February 2019 Circular)) are of the
view that the Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy and the
transactions contemplated thereunder would enable the Group to
achieve greater synergies with the Mengniu Group. In particular, (i)
the purchase of goods and services from the Mengniu Group will
enable the Group to realize stable and quality sourcing and reduce
purchase costs; and (ii) the provision of goods and services by the
Group to the Mengniu Group will diversify and increase the Group's
income and most importantly improve the capacity utilization of the
Group.

The Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy and the
transactions contemplated thereunder were approved by the
independent Shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 12 March 2019. The
Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy became effective on 12
March 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of transactions
under the Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy was RMBO
million, RMBO million, RMBO million, RMBO million for Type | CCT,
Type Il CCT, Type Il CCT and Type IV CCT, respectively.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

EETEEBUENTES HEE
B O R2019F 28228 @K FrEH
BUYEEZERHHEFERI)RE - H
SHAETUMNELEBGZEREETH®
EIRXSGEAYRALNEBRERF £
EEOBRKE - BBZmME - ()Ax
TEERBEARERBED TS ERE
RETREBEFRBRIR  WHRERE
BRA: R(VAEERNTFEERER
f & IR 7% ] % ok AR & B IR A TROR
MEMAEENKA MEESHRE
ARARNEERNEEFAE -

MEAIEMNELGE REBETHE
TRSEN2019F38NEBEITZA
RAIREFRARE FAARR BB K
B - BRI EMNERBEER
20193128 A% -

HZE2018F 128318 ILFE - B A
SHAENERBEETHERER
SHEA - FEBREISEN - FHEH
EXZENNEFEBEZSERIV
NZXSEESABARBEZHEE T
AREBEZEEL ARBZEETK
AREBEEHET -

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 == w= == == == == == == == ==




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EFBHRE (R)

15. Settlement Agreement with Inner Mongolia 15. EBERAESE4ITVTWEESRAR
Mengniu and Settlement Agreement with HBEHHAETINEESE

Mengniu Dairy

On 29 June 2018, the Company entered into: (i) a settlement
agreement (the “Settlement Agreement with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy, in respect of the settlement between the Company and Inner
Mongolia Mengniu of the consideration of the shares of Mengniu
Dairy granted to the certain employees of the Group according to
and vested under the restricted share award scheme adopted by
Mengniu Dairy on 26 March 2013, and (ii) a settlement agreement
(the "Settlement Agreement with Mengniu Dairy”) with Mengniu
Dairy in respect of the settlement between the Company and
Mengniu Dairy of the consideration of the share options granted to
the certain employees of the Group according to and vested under
the share option scheme adopted by Mengniu Dairy on 3 June
2016 (together, the “Settlement Agreements”). Please refer to (i)
the announcement of Mengniu Dairy dated 7 May 2018 for further
details about the abovementioned restricted share award scheme
and share option scheme, and (i) the announcement of the
Company dated 2 July 2018 in relation to the Settlement
Agreements (the “Settlement Agreements Announcement”) for
further details of the Settlement Agreements.

The Directors are of the view that the Settlement Agreements and
the transactions contemplated thereunder will provide incentives to
and retain the core team of the Company, and in turn achieve the
stable development of the Company in the long run.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Settlement Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu and the Settlement Agreement with Mengniu
Dairy was RMB3.19 million and RMB2.22 million, respectively,
which was less than the cap of RMB6.5 million and RMB3.5 million,
respectively, as disclosed in the Settlement Agreements
Announcement.
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16. Distribution Agreement with Inner Mongolia

Digital Technology

On 2 October 2018, Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) Distribution Co., Ltd.
("Yashili Maanshan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a distribution agreement (the “Distribution Agreement
with Inner Mongolia Digital Technology”) with Inner Mongolia
Digital Technology, an indirect subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy,
pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Digital Technology was
authorized by Yashili Maanshan and agreed to distribute the
Products of the Group via a number of designated e-commerce
platforms from time to time from 2 October 2018 to 31 December
2018. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 2
October 2018 (“2 October 2018 Announcement”) for further
details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Distribution Agreement with Inner Mongolia Digital
Technology would enable the Group to access the established
resources and advantages in the designated e-commerce platforms
by the Mengniu Group and strengthen the synergies between the
Group and the Mengniu Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Distribution Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Digital Technology was RMB10.83 million, which was less
than the cap of RMB90 million as disclosed in the 2 October 2018
Announcement.

The pricing policies set out in the relevant announcements and
circulars (where applicable) of the connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions set out above have been
followed when determining the price and terms of the transactions
conducted during the year.

Other than the connected transactions and the continuing
connected transactions set out above, in respect of which the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract of significance
has been entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders during the year ended
31 December 2018.
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The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were entered into:

— in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

— on normal commercial terms or better; and

— according to the agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company’s
shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this
Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group's business, that competes or competed or is or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to and including
the date of this Annual Report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Service Contracts” above, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands where the Company
is incorporated applicable to the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications
and competence of individual employees and are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee periodically. The emoluments of the Directors
are recommended by the Remuneration Committee and are decided by
the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has previously adopted two share option schemes to
motivate and reward its Directors and eligible employees. Details of the
schemes are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes”
above.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2018.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentages of basic salaries of the employees to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. The contributions are charged to the
consolidated income statements as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme.
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The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's total contributions to
the retirement benefits schemes charged in the income statement
amounted to RMB29.5 million. Details of the Group's retirement benefits
scheme and the basis of calculation are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
customers were 10% and 17% of the Group's total sales respectively.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers were 17% and 49% of the Group’s total purchases respectively.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2018 did a Director, his/
her associate(s) or a shareholder, which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have an interest in
any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
(i) For the purpose of determining the identity of
shareholders who are entitled to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
31 May 2019 to Thursday, 6 June 2019, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on Thursday, 6 June 2019, all duly
completed and signed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 30 May 2019
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(ii) For the purpose of determining the identity of
shareholders who are entitled to the proposed
special dividend

Subject to the approval of the proposed special dividend by the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 14
June 2019 to Tuesday, 18 June 2019, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected.
In order to qualify for the proposed special dividend, all duly
completed and signed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 13 June 2019.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed, with the Company’s
management and the external auditors, the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company and discussed auditing, risk
management, internal control, whistleblowing policy and system and
financial reporting matters, including the review of the Group's financial
statements’ for the year ended 31 December 2018.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution for its re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not
less than 23.42% of the Company’s issued shares pursuant to a waiver
granted to the Company by the Stock Exchange for the period from the
Listing Date.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of short-term and long-term bank loans of the Group as at 31
December 2018 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements. Other than such bank loans, the Group had no other bank
loans.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 70 of this Annual
Report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the five financial years ended 31 December 2018 is set out on page 264
of this Annual Report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had no significant event after the reporting period.

On behalf of the Board

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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To the shareholders of Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 124 to 263, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed
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Key audit matter

the key audit matter

Impairment testing of goodwiill
Goodwill amounting to RMB991
million represented 13% of the
Group's total assets as at 31
December 2018. The impairment
tests performed by management
involved significant estimations of
the value in use of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") groups
to which the goodwill is allocated.

The accounting policies, significant
estimates and related disclosures
are included in note 2.4 Business
combinations and goodwill, note
3 Impairment of goodwill and
note 18 Goodwill to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included,
among others, evaluation of
management’s identification of
CGU groups to which goodwill is
allocated and assessment of the
impairment model and underlying
assumptions by comparing key
assumptions such as the
forecasted revenue and gross
margins with historical operating
results. We involved internal
valuation experts to assist in
evaluating the impairment model
and in benchmarking key
assumptions including expected
perpetual growth rates and
discount rates. We also assessed
management’s sensitivity analysis
to evaluate the impact of
reasonably possible changes
including revenue growth rates
and gross margins.

We also reviewed the adequacy
and appropriateness of the related
disclosures included in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

HMREtSA:
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Impairment testing of trademark with indefinite lives

Trademark with indefinite life
amounting to RMB283 million
represented 4% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December
2018. The impairment tests
performed by management
involved significant estimations in
determination of the value in use
of the CGU to which the
trademarks belong.

The accounting policies, significant
estimates and related disclosures
are included in note 2.4 Intangible
assets, note 3 Impairment of non-
financial assets and note 17
Intangible assets to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included,
among others, assessment of the
impairment model and the key
assumptions, such as forecasted
revenue growth rates and gross
margins. We compared key
assumptions such as forecasted
revenue growth rates, unit selling
prices and unit costs with
historical results or industry peers.
We involved internal valuation
experts to assist us in evaluating
the impairment model and key
assumptions in particular those
relating to perpetual growth rates
and discount rates. We also
assessed management'’s sensitivity
analysis to evaluate the impact of
reasonably possible changes
including revenue growth rates
and gross margins.

We also reviewed the adequacy
and appropriateness of the related
disclosures included in the
consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE

ANNUAL REPORT
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. TONG KA YAN.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

) o B Year ended 31 December 2018 EH Z2018F 12 A31HILFE
)
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e BHEBEE

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P aE AR¥T AREFIT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BERE
REVENUE A 5 2,254,716
Cost of sales $H &S A 7 (1,332,513)
GROSS PROFIT EF 922,203
Other income and gains = NS & 5 70,167
Selling and distribution expenses HE RARSHR X (893,156)
Administrative expenses THRAX (271,224)
Impairment losses on financial assets 4 Rl & & A (B 18 & (17,437)
Other expenses A% 6 (145,537)
LOSS FROM CONTINUING BEKEEBR
OPERATIONS (334,984)
Finance income B 755 U A 7 123,728
Finance costs B 75 Ak 2N 8 (18,109)
Net finance income SE B AU A 105,619
LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM BHEKSERBATEE
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 7 (229,365)
Income tax credit BT 15 1 35 8 10 49,554
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM B R E EE X F(EE)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (179,811)
Attributable to: EZEBN:
Owners of the parent ISENEIIT-E=F =N (179,811)
RMB cents
AR5
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BRAREERES A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEERER (BB 12
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted E AR5 (3.8)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SHEOWEE

Year ended 31 December 2018 & Z2018F 12831 B ILFE

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBTIT
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FERRA (A (179,811)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Htt2mEKzE(BX)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be AR EHEENSER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: 825 2 H fth & E Wz~
(BXR) :
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BIMEEIINERRITHEZRE
operations (33,250)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be AR IABEIRIEH HEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 1B %5 2 % H 1 2 HE W 25
(#BX) (33,250)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR S E##HM2EIKE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (BX) (33,250)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR
THE YEAR EEZEWE(BX)BHE (213,061)
Attributable to: HER :
Owners of the parent NEREFEE A (213,061)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

S {7t 8 F5 A R =

31 December 2018 2018512 531 H

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P aE AR¥T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE K& 13 1,510,604 1,602,976
Construction in progress EEIRE 14 85,677 64,383
Investment properties KEME 15 73,785 59,333
Land use rights + b {5 B R 16 86,420 88,793
Intangible assets mIAE 17 327,972 316,750
Goodwill [ 18 991,236 991,236
Deferred tax assets RETRIEE E 19 371,036 277,793
Long-term bank deposits RHISRITER 24 100,000 —
Prepayments, other receivables and T FRIE - H e Y R IE
other assets Hi&EE 22 8,882 3,462
Total non-current assets JEMEN B E AR 3,555,612 3,404,726
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 20 757,376 786,324
Trade and bills receivables BRI KREE 21 162,968 144,336
Prepayments, other receivables and TR RRIE - E R WRIE &
other assets HiEE 22 237,012 191,189
Other current financial assets Htn#emiEE 23 683,616 724,748
Pledged deposits RBRFNK 24 315,315 243,621
Cash and bank balances WE LIBRTES 24 2,010,318 1,748,395
4,166,605 3,838,613
Assets of a disposal group classified as DA A AHEENE S A
held for sale BE 30 — 187,237
Total current assets BB EETE 4,166,605 4,025,850
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables B S EMAR 25 349,935 338,440
Other payables and accruals Hib e R R IEET & A 26 1,376,401 1,037,658
Interest-bearing bank loans sHEERIT B K 27 415,128 529,696
Tax payable FERFT 1S HE 8,569 12,192
Total current liabilities ME) B (EERE 2,150,033 1,917,986
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 2,016,572 2,107,864
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHERRBERS
LIABILITIES 5,572,184 5,512,590
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
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2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
P 5T AR¥T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Deferred income I & W = 28 2,245
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIE A E 19 19,418
Total non-current liabilities ERB B EEEE 21,663
Net assets EEREE 5,490,927
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of B RATREE A
the parent FE A6 R &
Share capital B& 72X 29 399,352
Reserves #1E 5,091,575
TOTAL EQUITY EHAE 5,490,927
Mr. Chopin Zhang Mr. Zhang Ping
% F (Chopin Zhang) & 4 REEE
Director Director
2 2




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

SHESENE

Year ended 31 December 2018 & Z2018F 12831 B ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRASAIRERAA
Capital PRC Other ~ Share option
Share Share redemption statutory capital reserve/share  Translation ~ Contributed Merger  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve award reserve reserve surplus reserve  earmnings Total
BRERE/
RiBRE

L HE i BE/BRE
BA  BEE  EBGE OIERE ARG ZORE  EXBR  EHER  OHRR  RERA 5t
RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBO0D  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMB'00
ARBTL ARMTL ARETR ARBTI ARMTL ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETL ARKTL ARETR

Notes  (note29)  (note 41(i)) (note 41(iil))  (note 41i))
ME (W29 (A0 (FE 4ndil)  (HFEE 416
As at 1 January 2017 ®2017€181A 399352 3,845616* 818 182,021%  (44,615* = 57,067 1,367204*  (850504)F  744,655* 5,701,614
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - - - —  (179811)  (179.811)
Other comprehensive income  £- 1 2 28
Exchange differences on N RRINE
translation of foreign BENEEE
operations — — — — — — (33,250) — — — (33,250)
Total comprehensive loss ~ 2R %48
for the year = = = = — — (33,250) = — (179811 (213,061)
Share option and share award ;2 5 Jk i 1 B
arrangements** g - - - - - 2374 — — — — 2374
At 31 December 2017 R20175128318 399,352  3,845,616* 818*  182021* (44615 2,374* 23817 1,367,204 (850,504)%  564,844* 5,490,927
At 1 January 2018 #2018%151R 399352 3,845,616* 818+ 182,021*  (44,615)* 2,374* 23817¢  1,367,204*  (850,504)*  564,844* 5,490,927
Profit for the year ERHH - - - - - - - — — 52,275 52,275
Other comprehensive income - #1224
Exchange differences on N RRINE
translation of foreign RENEER
operations - - - - - - 7351 - - = 7351
Total comprehensive 2EREAE
income for the year - - - - - - 7,351 - - 52,275 59,626
Share option and share award %} 22 511 & B 1 B
arangements** S| — — — — — 1,212 - - - - 1212
At 31 December 2018 R2018F 128318 399,352  3,845,616* 818*  182,021%  (44,615)* 9,646% 31,168*  1,367,204*  (850,504)*  617,119* 5,557,825

* These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ELFESEMAK018FH MR RE HE
RMB5,158,473,000 (2017: RMB5,091,575,000) in the consolidated MR A % 5 A R 5 5,158,473,000 7T (2017 4 :
statement of financial position. AR #5,091,575,0007T) °

** 0On 13 July 2017, 7 May 2018 and 24 December 2018, China Mengniu ~ ** 201747 A13H + 201845 H 7 H #2018

Dairy Company Limited (“Mengniu Dairy”) , the Company’s ultimate holding F12A248  FRZFIAEARAATR
company, granted 570,845 unit of shares and 4,445,780 unit of share FIED ARBZzEEERAF  RIE
options under its share award scheme and share option scheme, HEZHEEBRESBFENRARGES
respectively, to the Company’s directors and management of the Group for K& A B 1% H 570,845 0% i% 22 F14,445,780
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who REARE LM APESFEBRINELE
contribute to the success of Mengniu Dairy . The amount represented the BHEZASRBHBRER- X EHE
fair value amortisation of these share options and share awards in 2018. B FREBERRESBT2018FHA

REEHEE-

== = =m == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD ANNUALREPORT 2018 == == == =on == == == == == =m




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

SHREREER

Year ended 31 December 2018 & Z2018F 12831 B ILFE

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B sE AR%T T ARBTIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING K& EZBHHERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax i Bl &5 18 (34,833) (229,365)
Adjustments for: FHEIEE
Depreciation and amortisation B L gy 7 153,203 178,596
Net loss on non-current assets HEFRBEEN
B 185 58 6 4,181 250
Impairment losses for property, Yz BRE MR ENRE
plant and equipment = 7,216
Provision for impairment of trade B NEMEWRREN
and other receivables B (1,249) 17,437
Provision for impairment of FEUKEER
inventories 6 30,728 25,656
Interest income FEMA 7 (77,677) (105,813)
Interest expense MERAX 8 16,099 18,109
Foreign exchange difference, net fE N B Fa 6 23,926 3,300
Net gain on disposal of assets HERAGEEEED
classified as held for sale U 25 7F 58 5(a) (51,962) —
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary BRE TARIEX 6 — 11,698
Gain on other investments H i E W 7 (35,900) (17,915)
Share option and share award A% 2= ER 4 K i e Rk B 51 2
arrangements 7,272 2,374
33,788 (88,457)
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,425) (200,331)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills & S EWER R EH
receivables (g m), m (17,823) 4,598
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FEff3IE - EtE i sE &
other receivables and other assets H b & & (3 ), SR (92,481) 48,837
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits 52 [R &l 4R 17 17 7% A0 H {th & @b
and other financial assets B R /(5 n) 40,739 (288,016)
Increase in trade payables, other BHREMER  EMEN
payables and accruals FRIB A fE S+ & A 8 0 312,514 288,940
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income & %E U 5 52 hn,~ OFi 2>) 2,116 (1,084)
Cash generated/(used) in operations & & EBEL (FTE)E S 277,428 (235,513)
Income tax paid on operating activities 4% % 3% &) 2 15 Fr 15 %% (13,305) (19,345)
Net cash flows from/(used in) KREEHREB (FTRES
operating activities H 264,123 (254,858)

BEIFERERARDLT 2018FFH




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

SHREH=EE (E)

Year ended 31 December 2018 & Z£2018F 12831 HILFE

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BteE ARMT AREEFT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest and gains on investments 2 A&
received 162,443 77,408
Tax paid on investing activities BEFHEMNER (12,990) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BMERIXEMSE
plant and equipment IE 9,267 13,789
Proceeds from sale of other financial & HE th & 7t & & A7 15 ZAE
assets 1,993,207 1,587,245
Proceeds from disposal of assets HEREREEEMAMB
classified as held for sale POl 5 (a) 252,822 —
Receipts of bank deposits with original R 2| HI B & = & A LA £ &)
maturity of more than three months 4R 77 17 2¢ 2 2 &9 dg =X 227,489 379,927
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary  H & + 2 & Z 8 31 — 4,747
Payment of bank deposits with original & ZI| 23 B /& = 1& A LA E #9
maturity of more than three months 48 7717 ZCHY f~F 3% — (18,107)
Payment of long term bank deposits & 238 17 17 7% K9 f~F X (100,000) —
Acquisition of property, plant BEWE WELRZHE
and equipment (17,631) (23,102)
Payment of construction in progress & L2118 B & 7k (75,670) (97,604)
Acquisition of intangible assets BERTLAE (17,275) (1,086)
Acquisition of other financial assets BEEMEREE (1,913,571) (1,635,895)
Net cash flows from investing REZBREESTE
activities 508,091 287,322
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank loans BEXFTSRIE 32 568,285 1,227,252
Receipts of pledged deposits at B2 $R 1T 8 ZXAE B8 &Y 21 2R 4K 41
maturity in relation to bank loans F g =k 150,491 798,905
Payment of pledged deposits in relation E2 4R 1T & 5% 48 Bl () 3K 17 3¢
to bank loans 915 3K (301,428) (150,491)
Repayments of interest-bearing bank ~ BE s+ B E &
loans 32 (689,490) (1,807,132)
Interest paid EEREESS (11,019) (18,154)
Net cash flows (used in)/from BMEFE (A FFERSE
financing activities F (283,161) 50,380
NET INCREASE INCASHAND CASH BE&RBESZEWEMFEE
EQUIVALENTS 489,053 82,844
Cash and cash equivalents at FNREEEESEEY
beginning of year 24 668,962 581,491
Effect of exchange rate changeson EZXSFHUBRERRE
cash and cash equivalents ZEUNZE 358 4,627
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT £RHAENRBEEZEEY
END OF YEAR 24 1,158,373 668,962
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 June 2010 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter
22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of
dairy and nourishment products.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company is China
Mengniu International Company Limited (BVI). The ultimate holding
company of the Company is China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Cayman).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

1.

REAREEER

MEHERZERER A (ARRF]
R2010F6 ABHIREH S BB A A
EENRENGIFE=ZREM K&
HEET)EHRERETMKLAE
HREERAF - ATMRER MU A
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands ©

AEEXTERFREMHEEARAK

BEG -
BEERA EEZRARAATERY

BEERAAGBV) KERKERRA
ARTBERFTAEXAR2E (F2)-

FAAER

RRABEBFRBINFBHT

Place of
incorporation/
registration and  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
business registered share capital  attributable to the Company Principal activities
KL BETRE/ AAFEEN
TEREXLHE OMERFEE REBAL TEXHB
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
DR B ik BEE i
Yashili International Ltd. BVI US$1 100% — Investment holding
(“Yashili (BVI)")
HEMBEEARAR HEBREXHES (E 100% — REER
(' Yashili (BVD) )
Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Investment holding
("Yashili (HK)")
HLAEREEERAR £ BT — 100% #REER
(LA GEE)]D
Newou Hong Kong International Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Import and export of
Co., Limited dairy products and
(“Newou Hong Kong") related materials
HREERRERAA £ BT — 100% #HOFAHmER
([FHERREE]) 18 B B

2018FF 3R




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFRREEER @w)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) FAREE @
Place of
incorporation/
registration and  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
business registered share capital  attributable to the Company Principal activities
MR BETRE/ AAEELER
BEREELYE  SMERFEE REF D TEEH

Company name Notes Direct Indirect

NEEE MiEE HiE A

Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., New Zealand NzD287,032,059 — 100% Production and sale
Limited (“Yashili New Zealand") of dairy products

HERELHAEERAA G 1798 71.287,032,059 ¢ — 100% 4£ERHEEIED
(Eiil B

Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) (i) PRC RMB470,000,000 — 100% Production and sale
Dairy Products Co., Ltd. of dairy products
("Oushi Mengniu”)

AETRERFARBER HE AR # 470,000,000 7T — 100% 4£ERHEEAHM
EEQR(RERSE)])

Yashili International Baby (i) & (i)  PRC RMB531,815,600 — 100% Production and sale
Nourishment Co., Ltd. of dairy products
("Yashili Nourishment")

HTRIBBREHREER HE AE#531,815,6007T — 100% 4ERHEEIESD
BRAR ((ELAEER]

Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) Trading (i) PRC RMB20,000,000 — 100% Wholesale and retail
Limited (“Maanshan Trading") of dairy products

HEMAE(FRILHEEFR HE AE#20,000,0007% — 100% FHRPEFTE
AR(IB&RILEE]D

Yashili International Group Ltd. (i) & (i) PRC RMB1,126,105,300 — 100% Production and sale
("Yashili (Guangdong)”) of dairy products

HETHBEREEERAA i AR #1,126,105,3007C — 100% H£ERHEEINRM
(THEF (ER)])

Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC RMB300,000,000 — 100% Production and sale
("Yashili (Shanxi)") of dairy products

AR FAERRDA H A R # 300,000,000 7T — 100% #ERHEAHS
(THEEFI(LEE) D)

Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (if) & (iii) PRC RMB2,226,000,000 — 100% Production and sale
(“Dumex China") of dairy products

SEEBENRRMBRRA Y AR #2,226,000,0007C — 100% £ERHEEA R
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31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2 A R&EEEH@m
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) FRAERE @
(i)  These companies are registered as wholly-foreign-owned () ZEREBNFBEKIBINEG D
enterprises under PRC law. E
(i) These companies are limited liability companies established in iy ZERAARPERKYDNER
the PRC. The official names of these companies are in Chinese EERE - ZERAMERETE
and the English names are for reference only. BRI MEENXERIEHS
EX
(i) In May 2016, Yashili (Guangdong) acquired Dumex China (i) 201658 HEA(ER) K=
from Danone Asia. e N T ZESFE o
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the EEREELEREVWWZARNBFRAAE
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year EHAEFBAFEEEBRTE 5§
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To BRAEBREEFBEZ2ENLD - &
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the EREREEMFRAAZHBLER
directors, result in particulars of excessive length. FHBEARTTE -
2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION 21 25 HE%E

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include
all International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except for other current financial assets which have been measured
at fair value. Disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 2.4. These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

ZEMBHRRIIRIBEABER G ER
BEERMNBEEREMBHREEN(H
R BmEREL ) (AT eE2 i EEK
CRmE AR BREFEARER
BINBERTEARTBRARERER
REMRDEREEARAEEFE
S ZEMBRERECREBELXNAE
Pimel-HEFEREEEMARRAE
FREEEEAABEREZEZEERN
FEARIR FR24-ZFAMH
BRENARETARED 27
HBEEPIN MEBEHABRERE
AT ) T8
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31 December 2018 2018512 31 H

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued) 2.1 25 EE @

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing right that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

EprEE
EHVBHRERBEARARETRA
(HBAIEAEE] RNEE2018F12 A
BTHIEFENTBERE -

FRABRERARREZKEEE
MER(ERERBLER  -E4A5E
A2ERRECENEHMALELE
RESTED%R EEEIBBHK
RECRTEENZERBI L RN
TR(AAEEEHRRELEXAR
ABEMEENRESEN) BRAE
BRESIEBIZ IR B B E -

EARNTERXHEEERKRELE
FHRFBATHRRE A5ES
EEATHEFEREETHEEE T
RECEERZS

() BEBERECFHMBREEFEE
Z ) e

() REMIBHEMEBNEN: &
(O AKREMRERMEBEREE-

FREAMFBHRRTIER - B G5
KR - A IR BN R B A R B R & HIE
R TRBMNEERKEARENAR
SEREZHRZA)ESHNEE
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31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group'’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

Bas M H fth 2 U R B & A KRR o &P
EEEBRANAAEMIEZERERS
ZEETOR  EEESEHIEE
BESELERF MAKEAKREZ
MELMEE AE #m KA
XEkBeREBNRZBEAMHER
TIAEEH -

MREFEMBAKRAR EAELN =
R BRF PR —HELZHELE TR
# SERSUREEREIANTFAF
ETEFG - ETREE FRAES
REATHMAERENNERZE
REDERS -

fisd A< 5= B 5k = 8 — [ F 2 A O 4E
e RAIEBEEROK T ARINEE
(BREEE) RBE ()T Tk
o A B 1B K i) 20 A 25 R RS 8% B9 R 5T
EZ8: RERONMERKENAAR
BE -(WMRETARENAAEE
KB et kP I AL EEN AR
B1E - ST AT E M 2 W R
AEBREEBNDEFR DB /BERRR
BB EEEEREENRBEEM
BENBRLTEEERRNEE -
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31 December 2018 2018512 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIESAND 22 €3 BERBESTENSE
DISCLOSURES )
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the AEBERAFHERERNTHIIL
first time for the current year's financial statements. KIEZT R ISR E %R -
Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of R RE WS NE o HE
Share-based Payment Transactions HE B 55257 iE
EET AR
Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments MBI heE HRABBRGBERE
with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts AEBI B 455 ERIEA5 R A
EET AR 79 R B R AT 7
HREAEIE 2 F
TA
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments BRESHRE £MTA

ERIFE IR

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers [ B 765 R & HEF TS R
AR Z5 1557 WA

Amendments to IFRS 15 Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from BREF IS & BB B B B 7R R A
Contracts with Customers Rl 1558 JERIZE 155 B K
1EET AR F#EEAAm
WA
Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property W&t AE ] RE N EEE
FA0OFRIEET R
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and R ER X GREEK
Advance Consideration EZEaenE FHIE
F225%
Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 5 B B 76 R B B 75 3R 45 2 B
2014-2016 Cycle ERI2014F 2 B1RRBEBEEE
2016 F B R,  HERIFE285 8
FEHE 1BET AR
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31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Except for the amendments to IFRS 4 and Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle, which are not relevant to the preparation
of the Group’s financial statements, the nature and the impact of
the new and revised IFRSs are described below:

(a) Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and
Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Amendments to IFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects
of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features for
withholding a certain amount in order to meet an employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-based payment; and
accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions
of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification
from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify
that the approach used to account for vesting conditions
when measuring equity-settled share-based payments also
applies to cash-settled share-based payments. The
amendments introduce an exception so that a share-based
payment transaction with net share settlement features for
withholding a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s
tax obligation is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction when certain conditions are
met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the terms
and conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction are modified, with the result that it becomes an
equity-settled share-based payment transaction, the
transaction is accounted for as an equity-settled transaction
from the date of the modification.

The amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group as the Group does not
have any cash-settled share-based payment transactions and
has no share-based payment transactions with net settlement
features for withholding tax.

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIESAND 22 € HERBESEMNWSE
DISCLOSURES (Continued) Eb (&)

(b) IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing
together all three aspects of the accounting for financial
instruments: classification and measurement, impairment and
hedge accounting.

The Group has early adopted IFRS 9 (2013) on 1 July 2014,
the Group has adopted the full text of IFRS 9 (2014) from 1
January 2018. Therefore, the comparative information was
not restated and continues to be reported under IFRS 9 (2013).

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of adopting
IFRS 9 on the statement of financial position, including the
effect of replacing IAS 39's incurred credit loss calculations
with IFRS 9's expected credit losses (“ECLs").

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

(b) EH PR B %5 ¥k & 2= B 559

%:[2BIA
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FEHME BEBRTHREEE
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NE B 20147 418 2 AR
BT BB B RS EREI%R
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2B BHEXRREBEEETENSE
B )

(b) IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)
A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under IAS 39
and the balances reported under IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018

DEEMEE @\
RIEBEE 2 2R E 395 MR
A H20185E1 A1 0 B % B B Bt

is as follows: B EERFIRBE NG HRE
ITHERMT :
IAS 39 measurement IFRS 9 measurement
B S HERI %395 EIBR BT R RIS 05
T&t& Tst&
Category Amount Re-classification ECL Amount  Category
il kit BESE RECEFR &8 %Rl
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
fiisx ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Financial assets SREE
Trade and bills receivables B 5 EWNF R E & (i) L&R' 144,336 = = 144,336 AC?
Financial assets included in B ERTERIE «
prepayments, H i FEYRRIE )
other receivables and HiEEM
other assets SREE L&R! 69,065 — — 69,065 AC?
Other current financial assets  H i &) & @& & FvPL 724,748 — — 724,748 FVPL
Pledged deposits TRENBRTER L&R! 243,621 — — 243,621 AC?
Cash and cash equivalents & RIRTET L&R" 1,748,395 — —  1,748395 AC?
2,930,165 — — 2,930,165
Total assets BEBSE 7,430,576 — — 7,430,576
Financial liabilities SRERE
Trade payables B 5 T AC? 338,440 — — 338,440 AC?
Financial liabilities included in 3% 7 £ b JE £+ 32 %
other payables and gLk
accruals =L AC? 554,986 — — 554,986 AC?
Interest-bearing bank loans ~ F B4R 1THE AC? 529,696 — — 529,696 AC?
1,423,122 — — 1,423,122
Total liabilities BEEE 1,939,649 — — 1,939,649
! L&R: Loans and receivables 1 L&R: & T % JE U 3018
2 AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost 2 AC: LEESE RN At EN S @A
EdemBaE
3 FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3 FVPL: M AR BEETEBEESF
FFABRENERMEE

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

22 BHEXRREBEEETENS
B )

(b) IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued) DB E @)

Note: B =T -

(i) The gross carrying amounts of the trade and bills receivables () [EBRgs %8 F399% T &
under the column “IAS 39 measurement — Amount” E—2HINTHEZEERR KL
represent the amounts after adjustments for the adoption of EEMAEEESKABEREY
IFRS 15 but before the measurement of ECLs. Further details of M EERFEISHEHFAERLE
the adjustments for the adoption of IFRS 15 are included in TEHERELRAENMNSE-
note 2.2(c) to the financial statements. BRA BB RE %R 1558

MAENEMASNEEEE
B HR R MY 75 2.2(0) PRIt
Impairment A

AT &R AG 85I BB & 7 2 A1 5 39
S5 T B 48 HA )RR B A A B R B
BREERAEIR THEHERRE
REBEENHERER - EAHNE
B e MR ME21P R

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening
impairment allowances under IAS 39 to the ECL allowances
under IFRS 9. Further details are disclosed in note 21 to the
financial statements.

Impairment
allowances under ECL allowances
1AS 39 under IFRS 9
B E R BB B 7 3 5 2 B
#3958 T ELLAN
AERE RHERERES
at 31 December at 1 January
2017 Re-measurement 2018
R2017F R2018F
12A31A EfTTE 181H
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTF T ARBTT
Trade and bills receivables L COES 9,119 = 9,119
Financial assets included in prepayments, &R T8 114 318 -
other receivables and other assets H fth & U R I A
HWEENSREE 4,192 — 4,192
13,311 — 13,311
Impact on reserves and retained profits HRENMREBEEINPEZE

The transition to IFRS 9 has had no impact on the opening

reserves and retained profits.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@

IFRS 15 and its amendments: Revenue
from Contracts with Customers and its
clarifications

IFRS 15 and its amendments replace IAS 11 Construction
Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and it
applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15, establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset and
liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The disclosures are included in
notes 3 and 5 to the financial statements. As a result of the
application of IFRS 15, the Group has changed the accounting
policy with respect to revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the
financial statements.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption and elected to apply the
standard to contracts that are not completed as at 1 January
2018.

5 PR B 7% 3R &5 ZE B 5815
SRHEBII AR [HEE
?‘;ﬁﬂélﬂ UL A R H %
B

B B 5 S e R R SE 155 R B A&
AIABRRKER G ERE1RE
HEK BREFrERF 185K
ARBERE XK DEOIIME
MINERNETFIILANES
HY P B UL o BB B 75 R 5 2E R
FISHET —EH AT EE
NFtEEEZPAMNEENRA -
AR 45 B % B 75 e 5 R I 55 155K
WaERN T ERREEALRR
EPBEEEMmI MRS MAEBRR
WARE - BRI HREERIFES
HRBEMERE ARG T E M
BB mTE - ERITEIAT &
RHEUENEEREER B85
BWANFD  BHOEHEE
EHRAREEMBERBEZL
AR BB MGG - REAR
BN BHRERMEIRS - ARIE
P B B 7 R 5 R B 1555k R
SECHMBHRRME2400 %
AERE R BER -

RNEBE KBS ET B WA R AR
Bf 5 RS 2RI ZE 1555 - WiEIER
R20184 1 A 18 Bl i & 5T KA
AR ERFAER -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIESAND 22 €3 BERKEESEMNS

DISCLOSURES (continued) Eb (#8)

() IFRS 15 and its amendments: Revenue () PR B % 3R &5 #E B 5815
from Contracts with Customers and its EREEIAR [HEF
clarifications (Continued) BT BRI ARHEE

=HEC )
The cumulative effect of the initial application of IFRS 15 was BREMEIR B s %515
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of SREBEBTEERAEFAZEN218
retained profits as at 1 January 2018. Therefore, the FI1ATENREBRBF I EH
comparative information was not restated and continues to PR B hRER W RE
be reported under IAS 11, IAS 18 and related interpretations. it - WAEERE R @& F
115% - BB & 512 R 5 185% K48
MRERE -
Set out below are the amounts by which each financial B 4% B PR B 7R SR 45 HE BN S5 1558 ¥
statement line item was affected as at 1 January 2018 as a R2018F1A1TEM B B ®WMES
result of the adoption of IFRS 15: T ESBHIMT -
Increase/
(decrease)
i CR )
Notes RMB'000
BaE ARBTT
Liabilities =R
Other payables and accruals: HEMENRBREGSER : (ii)
— Advances from customers —RBPFEMAR (i) (289,320)
— Contract liabilities —&AREE (i) 289,320
Total liabilities Y=l —
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIESAND 22 € BERBEESHN S

DISCLOSURES (continued) Eb (48)

(c) IFRS 15 and its amendments: Revenue (c) B FK 3R & XE B 5515
from Contracts with Customers and its -?-Jj‘?: KEEFIAN [EHES
clarifications (Continued) BRI EENBRARHEE

B 1(8E)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial B 40 B PR B F& SR 5 HE BN S5 1558 ¥
statement line item was affected as at 31 December 2018 as PR2018F 12 A31H M B 7% 3k &
a result of the adoption of IFRS 15. The adoption of IFRS 15 G| ESEET M T o B4
has had no impact on the Group's financial performance, BIRR BF f5 5 A 155 AR &
opening reserves or on the Group's operating, investing and Emo s HUmENARE
financing cash flows. The first column shows the amounts ERNEEEE "EETHN@ME
recorded under IFRS 15 and the second column shows what EEHReREESE-F %
the amounts would have been had IFRS 15 not been adopted: BRINEMNEER SRS ERE

ISR ERE F_IEERT
IR BB B 15 RS RIS 15
SREVE R -

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 R2018F12A31 B WA 0F 8 7
December 2018: e

Amounts prepared under

SHEER

Increase/
IFRS 15 Previous IFRS (decrease)
RANE B B R R PR AN B B B #m/

EEBFEI155KE £ g= el ) (W)
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
=3 ARBF T AREFTTT ARBTR
Inventories GE (i) 757,376 758,872 (1,496)
Prepayments, other receivables TR IR - H A FERIE
and other assets REMEE
— Right-of-return assets — EUUR E /R (i) 1,496 — 1,496
Total assets EEBE 7,722,217 7,722,217 —
Other payables and accruals Hpth e 50 R BT B A
— Contract liabilities —ARARE (ii) 249,686 — 249,686
— Advances from customers —RPEEMK (ii) — 249,686 (249,686)
— Refund liabilities — B aE—EN
RER (i) 2,291 — 2,291
— Return right liabilities —REESE (0] = 2,291 (2,291)
Total liabilities BEAE 2,164,392 2,164,392 —
Net assets BEFE 5,557,825 5,557,825 —
Total equity T o FFE 5,557,825 5,557,825 —
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c) IFRS 15 and its amendments: Revenue
from Contracts with Customers and its
clarifications (Continued)

The nature of the adjustments as at 1 January 2018 and the
reasons for the significant changes in the statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018 are described
below:

(i) Sale of dairy and nourishment products

with variable consideration

Some contracts for the sale of dairy and nourishment
products provide customers with a right of return and
trade discount. Before adopting IFRS 15, the Group
recognised revenue from the sale of goods measured at
the fair value of the consideration received or receivable,
net of returns and allowances. If revenue could not be
reliably measured, the Group deferred the recognition
of revenue until the uncertainty was resolved. Under
IFRS 15, a transaction price is considered variable if a
customer is provided with a right of return.

Rights of return

For a contract that provides a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the Group
previously estimated expected returns based on the
average historical return rate. Before the adoption of
IFRS 15, the amount of revenue related to the expected
returns was deferred and recognised as return right
liabilities, which were included in other payables and
accruals in the statement of financial position with a
corresponding adjustment to cost of sales. The initial
carrying amount of goods expected to be returned was
included in inventories.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIESAND 22 €N B EREEZEHNS

DISCLOSURES (Continued) Eb (48)

() IFRS 15 and its amendments: Revenue () PR B % 3R &5 #E B 5815
from Contracts with Customers and its EREEITRN [EHEP
clarifications (Continued) BIIEREPKBAREE

==
BluE

(i)

Sale of dairy and nourishment products
with variable consideration (Continued)
Rights of return (Continued)

Upon adoption of IFRS 15, the Group has recognised a
right-of-return asset which is included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets and is measured at
the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned
less any expected costs to recover the goods, including
any potential decreases in the value of the returned
goods. In addition, a refund liability was recognised
based on the amount that the Group expects to return
to the customers using the expected value method.
Accordingly, the Group reclassified return right liabilities
of RMB2,291,000 to refund liabilities as included in
other payables and accruals, reclassified inventories of
RMB 1,496,000 to right-of-return assets as included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets as at
31 December 2018.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIESAND 22 @3 B ERFBEEHEMWE

DISCLOSURES (Continued) Eb (48)

() IFRS 15 and its amendments: Revenue () PR B % 3R &5 #E B 5815
from Contracts with Customers and its EREGIT AN TEHER
clarifications (continued) BRI ERANKBAREE

Bl @)

(i) WBIZEF AN

(ii) Consideration received from customers in

advance

Before the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group recognised
consideration received from customers in advance as
other payables and accruals. Under IFRS 15, the amount
is classified as contract liabilities which are included in
other payables and accruals.

Therefore, upon adoption of IFRS 15, the Group
reclassified RMB289,320,000 from other payables and
accruals to contract liabilities as at 1 January 2018 in
relation to the consideration received from customers in
advance as at 1 January 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, under IFRS 15, RMB249,686,000
was recorded in contract liabilities in relation to the
consideration received from customers in advance for
the sale of dairy and nourishment products.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d) Amendments to IAS 40: Transfers of

Investment Property

22T HMERBESTENSE
B )

(d) .IZ/\ E*-t—) E\'J%ﬁzl'o%)bﬁ’g

BT (REYENE
%]

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer ZEEITEMET AaMEESY
property, including property under construction or ¥ (PREEYESEREYE)
development into, or out of investment property. The HAREHREYE - ZFEF]
amendments state that a change in use occurs when the HE BMERAATERAK
property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of EHMENTEEAEFERHEENE

investment property and there is evidence of the change in

B RARARE - BT

use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use BEFAVENSE I T6EREMHE
of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. FRHEEMNEE ZEEBITHAK

The amendments have no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

%@Eﬂ%ﬂﬁﬂ‘k%i I 48 {E ] 2
go

(e) IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions (e) BB BHRERELZE
and Advance Consideration E 3% 5?% ”"22% D[N R
H 78 sk 18 |

IFRIC 22 provides guidance on how to determine the date of
the transaction when applying IAS 21 to the situation where
an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign
currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The
interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of
it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-
monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary
liability (such as deferred income) arising from the payment or
receipt of the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance of recognising the related
item, the entity must determine the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration. The
interpretation has no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 B NI AREMNNERE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 19

Amendments to IAS 28

IFRIC 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Definition of a Business'

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between

an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Leases'

Insurance Contracts®

Definition of Material?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement?

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12
and IAS 23!
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 B NI AREMNER

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Further information about these IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on
the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an
integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business, it
must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create output.
A business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is
on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus
on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or
other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether an acquired
process is substantive and introduce an optional fair value
concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2020.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised
in the investor’'s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB in January 2016 and a new mandatory
effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases —
Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective
recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement’ date of a lease, a lessee
will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-
of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset
meets the definition of investment property in IAS 40, or relates to
a class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 B NI AREMNER

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on
the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will
be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability
upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease
term and change in future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will
generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting
under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting
under IAS 17.

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all
leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and
distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. IFRS 16
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under IAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group
will adopt IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. During 2018, the Group
has performed a detailed assessment on the impact of adoption of
IFRS 16. The Group has estimated that right-of-use assets of
RMB31,684,000 and lease liabilities of RMB31,684,000 will be
recognised at 1 January 2019.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on
the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of IFRS 9
only includes interests in an associate or joint venture to which the
equity method is applied and does not include long-term interests
that in substance form part of the net investment in the associate
or joint venture, to which the equity method has not been applied.
Therefore, an entity applies IFRS 9, rather than IAS 28, including the
impairment requirements under IFRS 9, in accounting for such long-
term interests. IAS 28 is then applied to the net investment, which
includes the long-term interests, only in the context of recognising
losses of an associate or joint venture and impairment of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments on 1 January 2019. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 B NI AREMNER

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRIC 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current and
deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of IAS 12 (often referred to as "uncertain tax
positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies
outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with
uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i)
whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax
treatments by taxation authorities; (i) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in
facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use of
hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application, without the restatement of comparative information.
The Group expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January
2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEHBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEHBERE @
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties B HE AL
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: — SR BEAEBE G N
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (@) ZAIBZBATREHALTHE
family and that person EHE Mm&a AL
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () TEHlgERIESAEE
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEEBmMERTE X
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) BAEEFIAEEERA
Group or of a parent of the Group; TEZEBEHEAENKE
or 514
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions by ZAAEFTAETINETAIEHENE
applies: ‘ﬁ‘j% :
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEBEEEAEHEER £
group; E& K E R A
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i) —HEEARS —TEME
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of EBRAHEELE(HE —
the other entity); BEEMEAR FRAIA
RFRARIZIET)
(i the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (i) ZEEBEASEHAER—
third party; BEZFHEEMRE:
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy " HEBAEZE-FHEEN
other entity is an associate of the third entity; tE - ME—EBERBA%ZSTE
R EE AR
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the V) &%
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7«1»‘%@%%%5’] EEE
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Ifﬂlﬁh‘

benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers of
the post-employment benefit plan;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEHBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for
in accordance with IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated
Plant and buildings 13-47 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
Office equipment and others 3-5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in buildings held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value.
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of investment properties. The
estimated useful lives are 50 years. Depreciation methods, useful
lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a
sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be
the case, the asset or disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for the sale of such assets or disposal
groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities
of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held
for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling
interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial assets)
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Office software

Office software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of
5 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products, commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)"
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income if both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the
definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments) (Continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at
fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so
eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for
as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are
not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows
that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be
classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under IAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under IAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with positive net
changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and
negative net changes in fair value presented as finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January 2018)” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading or
designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only
occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under IAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and policies under IAS 39 applicable before
1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and policies under IAS 39 applicable before
1 January 2018) (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each
reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments
are considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external
credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for contract
assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage2 —

Stage3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

—AH R @

AHNHBBMORE  AEERAD
MEERNH A EEFBERT
BRI BERERAEBEEE
EAEERAENEMEELBRIEE
TARE R BN A B S R & 5HE
AEBTAERAEREERY - &
BEABERKEANR S RER
SIS BMEE -

NARBEFELEZH T AHLME
BREMEB TAMZBHEXAGE
MEMEEE—RITETARSHL
BE YEBRBBHLETEZNARE
EUATFD NN EMERTEED
BERRFTEEREREBX-

FIEE — BVNRERAREHER
ARBEEMEERRX
EHESEN12EAES
EREXNERITA

FE2MEBR — B YR ERIARERRE
RBBERNETZER
HESMEERREBX
EHETERRGEHRE
REINERITA

E3RER — REAGERAENESH
EE(EBETEBEXR
RIEMRIE)  HEX%E
BENEEENREE
HIERBL




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S 1 Bl 55 ¥R 2% bif 5 (48)

31 December 2018 2018512 31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

g

24 T EETHERE®W

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
and interest-bearing bank loans.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make
a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis and, in the
case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1
January 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24 TEEFHERRBEwW
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EHEB %EETA Gl ONE-D
(a) Sale of dairy and nourishment products (a) HEAHRRANEER

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1
January 2018) (continued)

Revenue from the sale of dairy and nourishment products is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the dairy
and nourishment products.

Some contracts for the sale of dairy and nourishment
products provide customers with rights of return. The rights
of return give rise to variable consideration.

Rights of return
For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return

the goods within a specified period, the expected value
method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied in order to determine the
amount of variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned,
instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-of-
return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of
sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from
a customer.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FE€HBERE @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1
January 2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(b) Consigned processing service
Revenue from the consigned processing service is recognised
when dairy and nourishment products is delivered.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Service income

Revenues from services rendered are derived principally from the
testing service performed by the Group. Revenue is recognised
when the services are rendered.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

||P

WAER(EH2018F181H
HEEA) @

ﬁ%ﬁ%JéEﬂ%Aﬁ)

b) ZFEAMNIRSE
SZEA T IRAS B I AT AL S
M BERTTERER -

HE WA
WA T 42 7 HR B s P L ) e R o

B WA
EMBMAEERBERBBRA -
RAERBAEASE  RLEREL
MIAGBFRKUERSEESRTA
M EHF AR A
RECHAERTDFIEONRE -

g B WA

e B AT E B BR R & 1S W B R TR &Y
REREHER RS AENKE
Mg {ET%E/RJ\$%HH§E@%H%
SR SEHETE o

AR 75 A
REEHERAETERE EERRNR
BIBRTS o WA TE RIS IR B RERD

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 == w= == == == == == == == ==




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S 1 8l 55 ¥R 2% bif 5 (48)

31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1
January 2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@)  from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

() interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset;
and

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Contract assets (applicable from 1 January
2018)

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEHBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January
2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or an
amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods
or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

Contract costs (applicable from 1 January 2018)

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a
contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset related is
recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FESHBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Right-of-return assets (applicable from 1
January 2018)

A right-of-return asset represents the Group'’s right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods, including any potential
decreases in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates
the measurement of the asset recorded for any revisions to its
expected level of returns, as well as any additional decreases in the
value of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities (applicable from 1 January
2018)

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all of the
consideration received (or receivable) from the customer and is
measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction
price) at the end of each reporting period.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Group's subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") except for Hong Kong (“Mainland China”) participate
in a central defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed
by the local municipal government in the locations in which they
operate. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
companies’ payroll costs and are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central defined contribution retirement benefit
plan.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under
short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of past services provided by the employee and the obligation
can be estimated reliably.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An
additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the equity-settled transactions or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where a share-based option award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X E2HBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
based on the assessment of its specific facts and circumstances.
Once the functional currency is determined, it can be changed only
if there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions. As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB
is used as the presentation currency of the Group. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group's net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised
in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair
value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 X ESHBERE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

INEE ()

REERNBEREE KR ILERFE
EREESGFEBRAEANENHEE
) B IR ) 4R T AR Y [E KB
MNERHBRRAEEN T RARE
NREELNIEEUHEENRIFER
MEENHH MREANEZEMNR
g AAKREERESEMNKKL
WHIBMRENZ S A -

ETREEARIITRANNEERE Y
FARE RBEHPR ZFEBN
BERBBEERERRNERRER
AEBENIHRER ZFERWED
REAEFENMEFHEZBRER
AR BEAHELAMELZENEAM
2EW TR AT LB G
e EHMEBINEBE  BZBTE
SNETSARR R E 2 E RS A KA
ERNEET -

REaHRERERME  BINFAF
MRERERELRSAREZTANE
REXSHESARE - BIFRAE
FREEENRESRENREFOMN
BYEHEXTBE/ARE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 == w= == == == == == == == ==




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S 1 8l 55 ¥R 2% bif 5 (48)

31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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Judgements F

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, RERBAEBEN S RENBRES -

management has made the following judgements, apart from those BTHZEBENGT EEEDEH
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the AT HE - DEHAMHTBHRRAE E
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: REBEBREFEATE

Revenue from contracts with customers HEFIZEREBERAWKA

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly AREEBHEANN THHEEFEET
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from PAYHWASEREBROET

contracts with customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for the sale
of dairy and nourishment products

Certain contracts for the sale of dairy and nourishment products
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include a right of return and trade discounts that give rise to AEHEMNEEENBEERM - &
variable consideration. In estimating the variable consideration, the {ﬁ d‘ AIEEER NEBEFEBES

Group is required to use either the expected value method or the
most likely amount method based on which method better predicts
the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that
the estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based
on its historical experience, business forecast and the current
economic conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable
consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualified as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a
portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the
portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to
determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Variable consideration for returns

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in the
transaction price for the sale of dairy and nourishment products
with rights of return.

The Group developed a statistical model for forecasting sales
returns. The model used the historical return data to come up with
expected return percentages. These percentages are applied to
determine the expected value of the variable consideration. Any
significant changes in experience as compared to historical return
pattern will impact the expected return percentages estimated by
the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Variable consideration for returns (Continued)

The Group updates its assessment of expected returns every half
year and the refund liabilities are adjusted accordingly. As at 31
December 2018, the amount recognised as refund liabilities was
RMB2,291,000 for the expected returns and trade discounts.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2018 was RMB991,236,000 (2017: RMB991,236,000).
Further details are given in note 18.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually
and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further details,
including a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, are given in note
17 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on ageing of the balances
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables is disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of
items of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charges where
useful lives are different to those previously estimated, or it will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives; actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expenses in the future periods.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax
losses at 31 December 2018 was RMB128,977,000 (2017:
RMB124,569,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31
December 2018 was RMB2,460,739,000 (2017: RMB2,515,312,000).
Further details are contained in note 19 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Since the acquisition of Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy
Products Co., Ltd. (“Oushi Mengniu”) and Dumex Baby Food Co.,
Ltd. (“Dumex China”) in 2015 and 2016, respectively, and the
operation of Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Limited (”Yashili New
Zealand”) at the end of 2015, the Group underwent various group
reorganisations, including the purchase, production and sales
functions.

From the first half of 2018, the Group is reorganised into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@  Production and sale of milk powder products — this segment
includes the development, manufacture and sale of milk
powder products in the PRC and overseas.

(b)  Production and sale of dissolvable products — this segment
includes the development, manufacture and sale of soymilk

powder, rice flour and cereal products.

(c)  Other operations mainly include the sale of surplus raw

4,

EESBER

BHR205FREBASTHBRETFI
BRAREAARTBRESRE)]
006 FNBLZEXLBDZRRBBRA
AI([Z %A E]) LA K20155F K
FEHEETAIEER G (AR
¥D)MEE AEELETHIEE
BH BERE LEREED®E-

B2018F ¥ & REBEREBEMM
MBHEEEIHETEF DR LA
T = A | EE=E D ER

@ EERHEEDHER —ZDM
BRETEMEINEE  BER
HEDNMER -

) EERHBEEHRHER —ZNH
BREMAE RENMHEEITNHH -
K RERER-

(0 EMEBTIEERHEEARRES

materials, the production and sale of base-powder and HEAEE HEEMRIFEMNT
consigned processing service, the results of these operations R - ZEXEBHREHNIH

are included in the “others” column.

fll ] —1 -

The change was made to improve the way in which the business A EKRE DN E A T IELE
units can be managed. The comparative figures have been FEETHER - A REFTE&LIBIA
retrospectively adjusted. R B o

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources among segments, the senior executive management team
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of “reportable segment profit”, i.e., “revenue less cost of
sales and allocated selling and distribution expenses”. The Group
does not allocate other income and gains, net finance costs,
expenses other than certain selling and distribution expenses to its
segments, as the senior executive management does not use this
information to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of
the operating segments. Segment assets and liabilities are not
regularly reported to the Group’s senior executive management and

AEERESB2EFHIBRE R
PEER SATHREEEK S RIE
[F] 2% #BiaFl a2 (BITIRAR
EHEEXNARMA DB HEE REHF
STDRFELEDHBORR - AEH
TEEE MK A KK B R A F
% B0 E KA R X A SNEY B L
PHESBF RARSHRITHRE R

ABUTEFEALAERSERERE
%%%%&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ°m%$%@
FTHRERTHREEABERY

therefore information of reportable segment assets and liabilities is %B éﬁ ERaE Bl HWEBBSRE
not presented in these financial statements. NI EZINFAZRAOHEERAEN
AR -
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

(Continued)

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.

Segment revenue:
(Note 5)

DEUWA -
(P &ES)

Sales to external customers $4 €& F 4N 3= B

Intersegment sales D EBEHE

Reconciliation: E

Elimination of EIHD A EHE
intersegment sales

Revenue from continuing #3548 48 & g A
operations

Segment results DEEE

Reconciliation: HER -

Finance income R TN

Finance costs B 75 B 7R

Other income and gains  E i Yz A R U 25

Corporate and other SEAMEM R DB
unallocated expenses B

Loss before tax R AT ES 1R

Other segment Hitt o EBER
information

Depreciation and 1 & K o
amortisation

Unallocated amounts RO BERIEA

Total depreciation and mEREHERE

amortisation

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH

KREFHER @)

DERHE RERREE IR T
MEZEHERRANHEERTR
5 o

Year ended 31 December 2018
B Z2018F12A31BLLEE

Milk powder  Dissolvable
products products Others Total
MBER A E m Hth ast
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR®TR AR®TxR
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BREHETER @)

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE2017F12A31BIEFE

Milk powder Dissolvable
products products Others Total
N EE S SR M@ HAth A&
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARHEEF T AREFIT AREFIT
Segment revenue: DI A :
Sales to external customers $5E& F 9N = 1,867,329 144,911 242,476 2,254,716
Intersegment sales o 2B H S — — 9,360 9,360
1,867,329 144,911 251,836 2,264,076
Reconciliation: E):
Elimination of D HEEE
intersegment sales — — (9,360) (9,360)
Total revenue AU A 2,254,716
Segment results DEELE 92,677 (14,326) (8,257) 70,094
Reconciliation: HER -
Finance income B 75 U8 A 123,728
Finance costs B 75 Ak ZN (18,109)
Other income and gains  H i Uz A K2 U 25 70,167
Corporate and other EEMEMKD A
unallocated expenses B H (475,245)
Loss before tax KR Fi BT &S 18 (229,365)
Other segment Hithn HER
information
Depreciation and P& N g
amortisation 109,602 7,916 38,799 156,317
Unallocated amounts KOO IAE 22,279
Total depreciation and e kB
amortisation 178,596
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BREFTIHER @)
(Continued)
Geographical information ih & & R
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AREF T
Mainland China B A 2,066,132
Overseas F N & 188,584
2,254,716
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the PR AEEUNEEEEE D -
customers.
Information about a major customer FEEXFHNEER
Revenue from continuing operations of approximately FE LB EB R AR LA
RMB304,498,000 (2017: RMB170,910,000) was derived from sales R #304,498,0007C (20174 : A R #&
by other segment to a single customer, including sales to a group 170,910,0007T) Jh 2k B E #b 5 2B ) &
of entities which are known to be under common control with that —XEMHEE BREMEBEMEZEP
customer. HEZEH N —EHETENHEE -
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hitlt A K W
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASHIT
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers % 1% 81 & F 5T 7 & [ H A
Sales of goods §H & 7 an
Consigned processing services RN IRE

2,254,716

2,254,716
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hfbig A R U= )
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers MIBHEEFTLERWA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) WAEEBHHA

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BZE2018F12A31BLEFE
Milk powder  Dissolvable

products products Others Total
MWW ER A E m Hth ast
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TxR

Types of goods or ERREER

services

Sale of goods $H & 7 m

Consigned processing 52 55X 10 T AR 7%
services

Total revenue from KBEE P AL
contracts with &R A
customers

Geographical markets i & ™ 15

Mainland China FRBR K fE

Overseas N

Total revenue from RIFE R P TN
contracts with & RBBKA
customers

Timing of revenue W T 2R B B
recognition

Goods transferred at R EEY
a point in time

Services rendered at B 2 52 K AR 75
a point in time

Total revenue from KIEREFR]L
contracts with & R2UA
customers
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hiug A K& W& )
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers MIBHEEFTLERWA
(Continued) (#&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) WAGEEBRMA@E
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from UTA M RAREEEERS P
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the M AR A D ERfE S B R4

segment information:

Year ended 31 December 2018
BZE2018FE12A31BILEE
Milk powder  Dissolvable

products products Others Total
T EM A E m Hith &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTR ARWTR AR¥TR

Segments ok

Sales to external customers $§€& FINILE B

Intersegment sales D EEHEE

Reconciliation: HAE -

Elimination of intersegment 15 $4 % 2B [ §4 &
sales

Total revenue from KBEE P AL

contracts with customers & [ 42 g A

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TERBRARESEARNEDRH - 4
in the current reporting period that were included in the BREETHVAERAE® &L A E
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period BmENBAEBHIASEE:

and recognised from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods:

2018
RMB’000
ARBTR

Revenue recognised that was included in contract HA¥] & [E & E T EHRE B
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:  #E R HI UL A :

Sale of goods $H & 72
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA - Hit A K UK &= @)
GA|NS(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers MIBHEEFTLERWA
(Continued) (&)
(ii) Performance obligations (i) BHEK
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is AEBNBHORBHEWOT :

summarised below:

Sale of dairy and nourishment products HEIHBMEER

Revenue from the sale of dairy and nourishment products is MEIR ML EERMNIRAL
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is BEEHEEZATFEMERED
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the dairy RORFTREIMIAHERMNE
and nourishment products. B

Consigned processing service FZFER NI AR

Revenue from the consigned processing service is recognised SIHERNIRENBMAEILRR
when dairy and nourishment products is delivered. A& T Em R R -
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA - HA A K UK & @)
GA|NS(Continued)
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: EfmlARKZENSTOT -
2018 2017
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B & ARBT R ARETT

Other income and gains H AU A R U =
Net gain on disposal of assets classified & 3% 5 73 & & &= A &
as held for sale Wz F 5E (a) —
Government grants BT 48 B
— Compensation for expenses —HEEATHMNEE
incurred 1,698
— Compensation for acquisition of —HEEEENMEE
assets 1,084
— Taxes refunded — B 400
Rental income oM A 9,423
Promotion service income HE AR 7S YA 17,000
Consigned processing services ZFERMIHA 33,267
Others HAth 7,295
70,167
Note: M 5
(@  During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group received a @ AFEEMB(PEH)BEHRLER
consideration of RMB252,822,000 for disposing of property, plant ERABIEE(PE)I THKE
and equipment and a land use right of Scient (China) Baby SEmE Tt ERE KB BERA
Nourishment Co., Ltd. (“Scient (China)”), the cost and expenses R #252,822,0007C © & B & E KK
incurred of which amounted to RMB200,860,000, resulting in a net K# 4 B A H s+ A R 200,860,000
gain of RMB51,962,000 before income tax. T KB RATEE RZ AR

51,962,0007T °
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6. OTHER EXPENSES 6. HMX
2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARE TR AREFTT
Impairment of inventories GFEKEERE 25,656
Foreign exchange expenses, net b 5 B K 3,300
Loss on disposal of non-current assets & & JEm B & &
FHEK 250
Losses on disposal of inventories GFEREREX (@) 50,356
Donations el 940
Cost of consigned processing services  Z =& £ A T Ak 4 38,289
Losses on disposal of a subsidiary BEE—@FARMNEAX 31 11,698
Others Hi 15,048
145,537
Note: B 5
(@  Losses on disposal of inventories mainly represented losses arising @ HFERERXIZHEERBHRBRE
from stocktake, and disposal of obsolete inventories. FEMELEMEBEL-
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BREAIEE

75 B e A B 1R Y S B (HE )
NI FREFERE

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®B TR ARETFIT
Cost of goods sold B miEE kA 1,332,513
Cost of consigned processing services 5 =F Al T B 7% —
Depreciation of items of property, plant ¥ % - E R R #E T &
and equipment 13 164,445
Depreciation of investment properties X E&E¥ETE 15 2,447
Amortisation of land use rights + It {55 P AR 4 5 16 2,394
Amortisation of other non-current assets £ th IE 75 8 & 2= % £ 4,275
Amortisation of intangible assets A 17 5,035
Total depreciation and amortisation WEMEHAE 178,596
Minimum lease payments under EEMK2HERRKES
operating leases of buildings 27,125
Auditors’ remuneration Z BB & 2,726
Employee benefit expense BERMNE(TEBEES
(excluding directors’ and chief NEBITHAEFHHN) :
executive’s remuneration):
Wages, salaries and allowances T& - %4 NEAL 418,121
Termination benefits BB (2 42,876
Pension scheme contributions BIREFT B3R
(defined contribution schemes) (R ETED 33,677
Equity-settled share-based payment EEER DI NREX
expenses 2,374
497,048
Interest income F B WA (105,813)
Gain on other investments H A% & W= (17,915)
Total financial income B 75 U A 42 R (123,728)
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 W R ZORE 21 7,495
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BT A

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT

Interest on bank loans wholly repayable ~ ZBR A F ABHEER
within five years RITERHHE 18,109

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EEREEHITEFT M
REMUNERATION
The Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the years, BIEEB N A EHI5E383%(1)a) ~ (b)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and QM M E —Ho (BRES MAHH
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the A E) -

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARET R AREFT T

Fees e 660
Other emoluments H b B &

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4% - ZBE R EWF| 25 2,271

Performance related pay B 245 75 8 Y = B 7,922

Pension scheme contributions RIRE T BN 94

10,287

10,947
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERERITEFMmw
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BYFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during AREBEINEBEILIIENITESH
the year were as follows: EREMT :
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFT
— Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben —REEEEE 220
— Mr. Cheng Shoutai —RBSFREE 220
— Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway —FEELEE 220
660
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent KREEBBESYNEBIIEGITE
non-executive directors during the year (2017: Nil). EHHAMEH B (20174 - &) -
(b) Executive directors, non-executive (b) HITESE  FHITES
directors and the chief executive NMEREHITE
Salaries,
allowances, Pension
and benefits Performance scheme Total
Fees inkind related pay contributions remuneration

R RS RS
e REWNZE REORM  SHEHER HHam
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000

2018 2018 % ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR AR¥Tn AR%Tx
Executive directors HTES
— Mr. Chopinzhang ~ — 5& F- Chopin 7t &£
(i) (iii) (i) (i)
— Mr. Hua Li (ii) — 3 77 5 A (i)
Non-executive FHTES
directors
— Mr. Lu Minfang —BEHREE
— Mr. Qin Peng —RBEE
— Mr. Zhang Ping — 5R F-Peter £ A4
— Ms. Lam Pik Po, —MEE 1 (v)
Katty (iv)
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

9. EENEEHITEFMN@

(b) Executive directors, non-executive (b) HITEE - FHITES
directors and the chief executive (continued) MEFEHITE @
Salaries,
allowances, Pension
and benefits  Performance scheme Total
Fees inkind  related pay  contributions  remuneration
A= HEE BiRe
we REDFZE BESEHRDH FHEIER HieE
RMB'00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2017 20174 ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
Executive directors BITES
— Mr. Chopin Zhang — &k F Chopin & &£
(i (i) (i (i) = 1,230 5,794 43 7,067
— Mr. Hua Li (ii) —E N KA — 1,041 2,128 51 3,220
— 2,271 7,922 94 10,287
Non-executive directors JE# 1T EE
— Mr. Lu Minfang —EHBEE - = — — —
— Mr. Qin Peng —RELE — — — = =
— Mr. Zhang Ping — 3R FPeter £ 4 = = — — -
— Mr. Huang Xiaojun (v) — EBEE 2 A (v) — — — — —
— Ms. Lam Pik Po, —MEE 1 (v)
Katty (iv) — = — = =
— 2,271 7,922 94 10,287
Notes: BT

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Chopin Zhang is also the chief executive.

On 16 March 2018, Mr. Hua Li resigned as an executive
director.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Mr. Chopin Zhang
has been granted certain units of shares and share options by
Mengniu Dairy under its share option scheme and share award
scheme. The amounts of fair value amortisation of these shares
and share options granted to Mr. Chopin Zhang during the
year ended 31 December 2018 was RMB2,584,050. The
remuneration relating to the share options and shares granted
to the directors is not included in the above analysis.

On 25 March 2019, Ms. Lam Pik Po, Katty resigned as a non-
executive director.

On 5 June 2017, Mr. Huang Xiaojun resigned as an executive
director.

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

REFEERBHLRERENT
=

HR2018F3 A16H @ #FE H %k &£
BERITES -

HZE2018F 12 A31BILFE
3K *F(Chopin Zhang) %t 4 # #%
FEREIEMERES I RK
DRETETHETRD RE
B% 4 - 3R S (Chopin Zhang) %t 4
EETHZERO RERER
B Z=2018F 128318 IF £ F
MAREBEEHSBEAARE
2,584,050 BEHAEFEEKRT
B 3% 55 B8 A% 4 I % 22 A9 4R 78 B
SWRBER LMD -

M2019F3H25H  HMEE
TEAENITES -

M2017F6 ASH  EmEEFE AL
BIERITES -
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EEREEHITEFHN@
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(c) Five highest paid employees (0 IEmaMEREE
The five highest paid employees during the year included one AEERAUEaT ATFEE
director (2017: two directors), details of whose remuneration —fLQ017F - WAL EE B
are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for FENWMESERNE RN LXKt
the year of the remaining four (2017: three) highest paid WEE e RFEZFHEAMR017
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of FZRDFEF FERNTE
the Company are as follows: WEmFaRITBEABNME M
™
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - E8L R E Y 2% 1,168
Performance related pay B 2 45 75 8 B =R B 5,427
Pension scheme contributions RIKREFT B
(defined contribution schemes) (FEzmETET2) 101
6,696
The number of the non-director and non-chief executive BEH AU TEBMIEEERIFEEFE
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the OB ESHENT :

following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EB8#®E

2018 2017

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 % 2,000,001 7T = % ¥ 2,500,000 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 7% 2,500,001 7t = 7 ¥ 3,000,000 7T 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 7% 3,000,001 7t = 7 ¥& 3,500,000 7T —
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 /& ¥ 3,500,001 T & 7 ¥ 4,000,000 7T —
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 ¥ 4,000,001 7T & & ¥ 4,500,000 7T =
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 & # 4,500,001 7T & & ¥ 5,000,000 7T =
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 7% 5,000,001 7t = % ¥ 5,500,000 7T =
3
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10. INCOME TAX 10. FREBL
PRC income tax has been provided at the rate of 25% (2017: 25%) FEAEREHREEFEFANERRES
on the estimated assessable profits arising in PRC during the year. B {E 5T E BB A s B 1% 25% (2017 4F -
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the 25%) BT R ET E o Hfthih [ E R
rates of tax prevailing in the countries (or jurisdictions) in which the BAMREBDRAEELE Fﬁ B X
Group operates. (HalEER)MBRETHEGE
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBFT
Current income tax BV EA B 15 %50 13,694
Adjustments in respect of current tax of AENERUNEFEEDN
previous periods BIVER 75 18 38 2 1,382
Deferred income tax EIEFTS (64,630)
Tax credit for the year from continuing RNEERHRELERBS H
operations (49,554)
A reconciliation of the income tax credit applicable to loss before EEEXN BB BAIEEIRPRETE
tax at the PRC statutory income tax rate and the income tax credit FEMMERAEHMEMK R BHig
at the Group's effective income tax rate for the year is as follows: BAEEERAEMMERITENTE
BEHR - HRRAN T
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFT
Loss before tax BREEATE R (229,365)
At the PRC statutory tax rate of 25% ZAEDEER E25%
(2017: 25%) (i) (20174 : 25%) (i) (57,341)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of RENERUNEEFEEDN
previous periods BIVER 75 18 38 2 1,382
Effect of non-deductible expenses R b0k 2 3,349
Effect of tax rate differences (i) TR E B E() (14,169)
Tax losses not recognised RHE SR IA 5 1B 54,033
Tax losses utilised from previous periods A AE R w}éﬂa (22,849)
Effect of non-taxable income THEBRANZE (13,959)
Tax credit for the year at the effective rate  ANFEIREERHERAEN
HIA % (49,554)
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10. INCOME TAX(Continued)

(i

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC passed
by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007 (the
“New Tax Law"), the statutory income tax rate of the Group'’s
PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008, except for
Oushi Mengniu which is subject to a preferential tax rate of
15%, in accordance with “The Notice of Tax Policies Relating
to The Implementation of Western China Development
Strategy”.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2018 is calculated
at 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit
for the year.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of New Zealand, Yashili
New Zealand is subject to an income tax rate of 28% (2017:
28%) in New Zealand.

10. FR 18 % m)

(i)

BEFTEZEARARERRS
M2007F3 8168 & B B %
AREMBESEMESHE)(H
BE])  AEBTBRNE QR A
2008F 1 A1H M ETE MG
MER% - BRBE(ARFEAE
e 7H B A B R BL RS A B B UK
KEBEHNBN) BERFEHR
15% K BB X -

REFEHEMNABRELES
(EBEXES]) MR E R
RAKREEEERESHERE
BREIEESHEREIAMEN -

REE2018FH BN EHEHE L
INAREEMHFRERT G - 1%
#816.5% (2017 F : 16.5%) ) Tt
KEHIE o

BEFARBEROETRER
VAR AEXEETABRMNET
28% (2017 4F : 28%) B Ffr 15 T Bt

11. DIVIDENDS 1. RE
2018 2017
RMB000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETT

Proposed special — RMB 1 cent
(2017: Nil) per ordinary share

BESH —SE AR
AR5 (20174 - &)

The proposed special dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (2017: Nil).

Cem

RERZFRENTRIKES

He 28 15 X

HREEBRREAFEASE L EES
(2017 F - 4®) -

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH
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216 !ivb

== 7

12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts is
based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 4,745,560,296 (2017: 4,745,560,296) in issue

12. 328
N ESY

=

%%ﬁé&ﬂ/ﬂ‘éﬂémmﬁﬁw

TEERTAE ARG E NS
%@)B%LAEWE%MT A% HY o
o %4745560296]&(2017¢

during the year, as adjusted to reflect the rights issue during the

year.

The parent has no dilutive potential shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are

4,745,560,296 %) 51 & » Z IR EHE &K A
AR AR F R B BCRL B O ©

RAREEEBFRN -

AEEREANESRN(BER SR

based on: ERWT -
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBFT
Earnings/(loss): BHNERE) :
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity — FBF 5T & & i% 5 7K 71 #5522 7
holders of the parent, used in the basic (BRI R AL BERR
and diluted earnings/(loss) per share B AEAL R F/(EE)
calculations (179,811)
Number of shares
[igvig - g
2018 2017
‘000 ‘000
T T
Shares: f&{m :
Weighted average number of ordinary ATEERERMEE RN /(&
shares for the purpose of the basic and 18) BT A3 A9 58 A% 0 - 15 £
diluted earnings/(loss) per share
calculations 4,745,560
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2018 20185

Cost: BA

At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 A 1H

Additions NE

Transfer from construction in HREGERETR
progress (note 14) (FizE14)

Transfer to investment properties B Z % & 1%
(note 15) (Fi5E15)

Disposals BE

Exchange realignment ExAE

At 31 December 2018 M2018512A31H

Accumulated depreciation and R E R E
impairment:

At 1 January 2018 20186 1R 1H

Depreciation provided during the 4 N EHE M &
year (note 7) (Bt 5£7)

Transfer to investment properties B & 18 &) ¥
(note 15) (Fit5E15)

Disposals BE

Exchange realignment EEAE

At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A318

Net carrying amount: BHEE:

At 31 December 2018 2018612 A31H

At 1 January 2018 M2018F1A1H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold
land

BRLH
RMB'000
ARETR

Plant and
buildings

HERBT
RMB'000

AR®BTR

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH

1B.UE BEERE

Office

Machinery and Motor  equipment
equipment vehicles  and others Total

BAER
BERRE BBE HORE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®Tn AR%®Tn AR¥Tn
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. ¥ 3% - HE K& & @

Office
Freehold Plant and Machinery and Motor  equipment
land buildings equipment vehicles  and others Total
#J# N E‘
BELH BERETF BERRE [ EIE Y uﬂ% Gl
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

2017 20174 ARBFTT AREFR ARBTL ARETR ARMTT ARBTL
Cost: B
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 818 54,513 909,521 1,616,310 33,091 45,789 2,659,224
Additions NE — 5,483 10,665 5 6,949 23,102
Transfer from construction in BRahEEIR

progress — 5,651 23,450 362 2,767 32,230
Transfer from assets of a disposal  EBEEHEFHER

group classified as held forsale B EEEE 2,002 11,356 1,613 5,447 20,418
Transfer from investment HREEREYE

properties — 55,011 — — = 55,011
Assets of a disposal group classified D AZHEHE

as held for sale REAEE — (53,274) — — (53,274)
Transfer to construction in progress & # % 75 12 T 12 — (185) a, 050) - - (1,235)
Disposals BRE — (3,147) (46,426) (11,715) (19,883) (81,171)
Disposal of a subsidiary BEFAA (34,984) (38,653) (539) (1,875) (76,051)
Exchange realignment ExRFE (2,227) (16,228) (33,657) (30) (86) (52,228)
At 31 December 2017 #2017 12 A31H 52,286 869,850 1,541,995 22,787 39,108 2,526,026
Accumulated depreciationand R T ERFE :

impairment:
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1A18 e (191,082) (617,374) (25,498) (36,612) (870,566)
Depreciation provided during the ~ FRNEHRETE

year — (45,003) (112,219) (2,037) (5,186) (164,445)
Impairment WA (3,077) (3,956) (154) 29) (7,216)
Transfer from assets of a disposal  BEEHHEEH

group classified as held forsale B EAEE (905) (4,375) (522) (2,226) (8,028)
Transfer from investment ERARENE

properties — (4,531) — — — (4,531)
Disposals RE — 1,586 37,011 10,165 18,370 67,132
Assets of a disposal group dlassified 748 & H&

as held for sale REAAE - 8,500 — — — 8,500
Transfer to construction in progress & # &= £ & T2 — 27 150 — — 177
Disposal of a subsidiary BEFAA 18,591 30,625 512 1,034 50,762
Exchange realignment [ & AR — 1,148 3,955 20 ry) 5,165
At 31 December 2017 #2017 12 A31H = (214,746) (666,183) (17,514) (24,607) (923,050)
Net carrying amount: REEE :

At 31 December 2017 R2017%12A31H 52,286 655,104 875,812 5273 14,501 1,602,976
At 1 January 2017 R®2017%1 818 54,513 718,439 998,936 7,593 9,177 1,788,658
As at 31 December 2018, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand #1E2018F 124310 FHTAFAEN =
including property, plant and equipment of RMB1,025,260,000 MEEBDFEBEA E #1,025,260, 0007_5

were collateralised for a bank loan of RMB33,920,000 under a 0] #@ ¥ BMELERH J;E W — R FE

general security agreement (2017: property, plant and equipment WE T LWERSHELHNAEAR ﬂ%
of RMB1,093,906,000 were collateralised for a bank loan of 33,920,000 F SR 1T E FX (20174 = A
RMB66,883,000). R #1,093,906,000 7T E’J ME--BE KR

BEER - BREBHE T WERE
BAOABAR %66,883,00073 MIRTTE
) e
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14. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 14.

HEIR

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Pt 5E ARBTRE AR®TRT

Cost %N
At beginning of the year REH] 40,524
Additions 0 79,730
Disposal of a subsidiary BE—XTAA 31 (41)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment #E# A% - HE &

& 1,058
Transfer to property, plant and equipment HEBEEE HEK

R 13 (32,230)
Transfer to intangible assets HEREEEFEEE 17 (22,478)
Transfer to long-term deferred expense ERERHFEHER (332)
Exchange realignment ME R (136)
At end of the year REKXR 66,095
Provision for impairment BE (1,712)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12A31 B EREEE 64,383

As at 31 December 2018, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand
including construction in progress of RMB3,049,000 were
collateralised for a bank loan of RMB33,920,000 under a general
security agreement (2017: construction in progress of
RMB3,576,000 were collateralised for a bank loan of
RMB66,883,000).

None of the interest expense was capitalised to construction in
progress for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil) prior to
being transferred to property, plant and equipment.

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH

FH 2018128318 FAEILER
TEEEREEEAR3,049,0007T
MEZRIRER —MREHHET N
ER R4 A AR 33,920,0004 iR
18 5% Q017F : AR #3,576,0007C
MEREIERER —REREHBET MU
EHHEY A A RK66.883,0007T &Y
BITER -

REHEYE BELZER  PNE
E2018F12A3MBIEFE  EBFER

EREZIERMAEEMQOT7F:
)
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15.

REWMZE

2018 2017
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Pt 5E ARBTRE AR®TRT

Cost: R
At beginning of the year RE ] 75,032
Transfer from property, plant and equipment =& 5% - ME K&

B 13 —
Transfer from assets of a disposal group ERAFAEFEDN

classified as held for sale REMEE 53,274

Transfer to property, plant and equipment HEEME HEK

5 1E (55,011)
At end of the year NER 73,295
Accumulated depreciation: R E:
At beginning of the year RER (7,546)
Charge for the year FAME 7 (2,447)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EE B W% - K E &

B 13 —
Transfer from assets of a disposal group ERAFAEFEN

classified as held for sale REMEE (8,500)

Transfer to property, plant and equipment EEREYE BEK

R 4,531
At end of the year RER (13,962)
Carrying amount at end of the year RERBEEEE 59,333

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined by the
directors of the Company, based on the market approach with
reference to market transaction prices of similar properties, taking
into account other factors, i.e., characteristics of the properties and
locations, was estimated to be approximately RMB156,275,000 as
at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB124,721,000).

== = =m == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD ANNUALREPORT 2018 == == == =on == == == == == =m
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy

15. B E Y % @)

NRBEEBRERE
TEREHN T AEBREEDED

RABEFENERGRE:

of the Group's investment properties:

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2018 using

FAR2018FE12A3MBANAABENIE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERWE EATUBEE EXFAHEER
ZHE BOAEE WARE
(E&/—) (E&/=) (&8 =) &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥BTR AR%®TR AR®TxR

DR EEHE

[HEJEX/ES

Fair value measurement for:
Commercial properties

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2017 using
AR20177F 12BN AR EBENAE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ERME BEAER EATIEE

B N 8 A SR
(HZH—) (B4 ) (F8=) &t
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTFT ARBTT AR®ETT ARBTET

Fair value measurement for: A 4 BEEH £ :

Commercial properties BEMEYE — — 124,721 124,721

During the years of 2018 and 2017, there were no transfers into or
out of Level 3.

2018 F R2017FHELN R BEFTEE
AF=ZMFEF=—FED -

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH
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16. LAND USE RIGHTS 16. X ih {F A #E
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTFT
Carrying amount at beginning of the year ~ F ¥R E B & 95,265
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 31) BEF AR (FaE31) (2,496)
Amortisation for the year (note 7) FAFHRE S (HHEE7) (2,394)
90,375
Current portion included in prepayments, 5t AR 8 & E P BN 7/IE -
other receivables and other assets E b B W SRR E fth & B (1,582)
88,793
Land use rights represent prepayments of land use rights premium T b A R AN 5 [ A AP AT
to the PRC authorities by the Group. The Group's leasehold land is BANOLHMERRELEES AEEH
located in Mainland China, on which its manufacturing plants were MELHWERNFE  BEXEERE -
located. The Group is granted land use rights for a period of 50 AEBEBERTH L ERARE - RS0
years. The Group has obtained land title certificates for all the land F - AEBELRSEELENEE
use rights. TR REE -
17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B EE
Software Trademarks Total
Notes B4 B &t
31 December 2018 201812 A31H M ARBTRIT AR¥TR AR®BTR
Cost at 1 January 2018, net of FYFE
accumulated amortisation
Purchased BE
Transfer from construction in progress ¥ # 5 £ 2 T 72 14
Disposals BE
Amortisation provided during the year 7N 5 # §4 7
Exchange realignment fE K& H)
At 31 December 2018 FRFE
At 31 December 2018 FR
Cost X 7R
Accumulated amortisation Sst# Y
Net carrying amount FRFE
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

31 December 2017 2017912 A31H

17. B EE @

Software  Trademarks Total
Note B GRS ait
M ARETT AREBTRT AR®TT

Cost at 1 January 2017, netof ~ E ¥ % &
accumulated amortisation

14,754 283,047 297,801

Purchased = 1,086 — 1,086
Transfer from assets of a disposal B B A FER

group classified as held for sale & & HE & 645 — 645
Transfer from construction in EEOEEIR

progress 22,478 — 22,478
Disposal of a subsidiary RETRNA 31 (10) — (10)
Amortisation provided during the 7~ 4= # §4

year (5,035) — (5,035)
Exchange realignment [ & & &) (215) — (215)
At 31 December 2017 FRFE 33,703 283,047 316,750
At 31 December 2017 F R

Cost J@N 53,953 283,047 337,000

Accumulated amortisation 2=+ 8 (20,250) — (20,250)
Net carrying amount FRFEE 33,703 283,047 316,750

As at 31 December 2018, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand
including intangible assets of RMB3,483,000 were collateralised for
a bank loan of RMB33,920,000 under a general security agreement
(2017: all the assets of Yashili New Zealand including intangible
assets of RMB4,761,000 were collateralised for a bank loan of
RMB66,883,000 under a general security agreement).

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the intangible
assets represented trademarks with indefinite useful lives identified
in acquisition, and purchased and customised software held by the
Group. Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in
“Administrative expenses”, “Selling and distribution expenses” and
"Cost of sales”.

H 201812 A318H FTABMILED
2 HEEREEEAR3,483,0007T
WEFREERN —MREBET - N
EE B A AR #33,920,0007T &9
RITEFQOI7TFE : 2FHEEREER
AR®A4761,000 W EFLEERNK —
BRBWHE T AERHEBOHAEAR
¥ 66,883,000 T HER1TE ) ©

2018512 A31H k20175124318 »
BEEEANERHAINERASH T
BMEMNFENBEERITENHASEE
BHMSRT - EBEEERIE TR AT
BT [EEREHAZ IRIMEEX
K]
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 17. B & = @)

Impairment testing of trademarks

The recoverable amount of the Dumex infant formula products
CGU to which the trademarks belong has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projection
is 17.28%(2017: 16.87%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows of the Dumex infant formula products CGU beyond the
five-year period is 3% (2017: 3%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation for 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2017. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projection to undertake impairment testing of trademarks:

(@) Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average
gross margin achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements
and expected increase in production costs.

(b) Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

(©)  Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to the
actual data of the past year of countries from where raw
materials are sourced.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development
of dairy and nourishment products, discount rates and raw
materials price inflation are consistent with external information
sources.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

(SR Y RER:E

BIZEMBRNZEZBRRRTNHE
IR S E B AR T UL Bl S 58 TY A
SREBABMENTFHRIELE K
FEAAEE HAREGREENFE
FEMEREBETUABET HERFE
HA%BIRES REMELIR K B17.28%
(2017 : 16.87%) - Z X B H R F
DHBREELTEVNRESREBRERR
BREAFH 2V EEERET B3%
(2017 : 3%) °

£ 5t E2018%F 12 A31H K&20174F12
BB AEBERERS TMHE-
EEBRAEeREEAETRIZEE
AR ENSEFEBRRFO W
T~

@ BEEENF —ARERHEEE
M EEOEENEERETE
M — AR THERE 3
R A T B SR R T A
A AT T LA B

() FHRE—MAFRXTIHAAL
RREBREELELNTER

72N
i

g o
2

0 BREYHEREDH —2ZFRAK
BEREFERHRE -

ERIBBMEERTHERBER
FREMEMHEREHHNETERR
CORERERERUNEIE 67 O =

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 == w= == == == == == == == ==




17.

18.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S 1 8l 55 ¥R 2% bif 5 (48)

31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 17.

Impairment testing of trademarks (continued)

The sensitivity analysis for the Dumex infant formula products CGU
to which the trademarks belong on the key assumptions used in the
calculation of value in use, taken individually, gives the following
results:

BEEE @

[EEENRER: BN

AEBEERNZRBRERES D
MERREEHEVNERAEERA
REEREBR BEBEDHETH
RUEDH JHERNT :

Reasonably possible change  Impairment
ARERENESEZE e
RMB’000
ARBFT
Revenue growth rate g A 4% E = Decrease 6% [& 1K 6% 56,271
Gross margin rate E R =X Decrease 11% [&1K11% 38,076
GOODWILL 18. &
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AREFTT
Carrying amount at 1 January and R1A1TBRMI12A318H
31 December EEmEmEE 991,236
As at 31 May 2016,Yashili (Guangdong) (the “acquirer”), a 20165 A31H - ¥ = FI(E ®E)

subsidiary of the Group, acquired a 100% equity interest in Dumex
China (the “acquiree”). The business acquisition gave rise to
goodwill of RMB718,476,000.

In 2015, Yashili (Guangdong) (the "acquirer”), a subsidiary of the
Group, acquired a 100% interest in Oushi Mengniu (the “acquiree”),
a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, which is also the ultimate holding
company of the Group. The acquirer recorded goodwill amounting
to RMB272,760,000, which was originally recorded in the book of
Mengniu Dairy as a result of the Mengniu Dairy’s acquisition of
Oushi Mengniu in a previous year.

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH

(TWEF]D XREBEN—RFAA
We BB % 3= 0% B ([ 4% W B 5 1) 100%
B WIEEKWBHREEARE
718,476,000 7T 7 G 2 o

20154 » FETF (FEHR) ([WEH D) -
AEBN—FRTFAE WETE
SHE(IwEESD(AEEMIZERA
ARG ILEN—RFRAA)BI100%
B WEBTEmMLRT AREY
272,760,000t EH & - Z B A BT
FESFIERNBEUHSFRERE
Hio
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18. GOODWILL (continued) 18. %%(E)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the following cash-generating unit for impairment testing which is
in line with the way in which the Company manages its business:

° Milk powder products cash-generating unit group.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the milk powder
products cash-generating unit group is RMB991,236,000.

The recoverable amount of the milk powder products cash-
generating unit group has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 17.47% (2017:
14.70%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the
milk powder products CGU beyond the five-year period is 3% (2017:
3%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation for 31
December 2018 and 2017. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projection to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

(@) Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average
gross margin achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements
and expected increase in production costs.

(b) Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant group of CGU.

(c)  Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to the
actual data of the past year of countries from where the raw
materials are sourced.
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18. GOODWILL (continued) 18. % % (&)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued) GESNCAER A
The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development AERIEnNEERMSZEREBER
of dairy and nourishment products, discount rates and raw WMIREMEMEERESHNFTE/K
materials price inflation are consistent with external information FEEEIBEE R — 5 -
sources.
The sensitivity analysis for the milk powder product cash-generating HEDNERBRESELEMESNF
unit group on the key assumptions used in the calculation of value AEEEELEFARERER  BAHE
in use, taken individually, gives the following results: DRETHRMENT SHRERAT

Reasonably possible change  Impairment

THBRENSESH P
RMB’000
ARBT T
Revenue growth rate g A S8 K Decrease 2% (1K 2% 543,216
Gross margin rate E R = Decrease 4% [& 1K 4% 178,756
In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably possible REBEERAE PHERBRSEH
change in the other key assumptions on which the recoverable BAASM O WEBETKENEM
amount is based would not cause the milk powder products cash- AR EERAE TR e IREEE
generating unit group’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable HIreERNEDBEBEBRBEYLOKE
amount. 1 o
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19. DEFERRED TAX 19. IEFE R I
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year FRNELEFMSHEEBMNMAGEIENE
are as follows: ;T
Deferred tax assets EIEFIEHERE
Impairment Taxlosses  Accruals Others Total
EEHE HEEBR ERER Hith &t

Note RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ME  ARBTT ARBTT ARETL ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 A 18
Debited/(credited) to the RPN IBR K AH

statement of profit or EEHIE

loss 10
Charged to other Etr2mBEAS R

comprehensive income

At 31 December 2018 142018412 A31H

At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 18 10,152 108,255 62,738 21,805 202,950
Debited/(credited) to the F AR B KR AH
statement of profit or BRI

loss 10 (1,393) 17,994 44,735 15,199 76,535
Charged to other Etr 2B E NS R

comprehensive income (12) (1,680) — — (1,692)
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A31H 8,747 124,569 107,473 37,004 277,793
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19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 19. IE LB IE @)
Deferred tax liabilities EEMEHRAE
Interest income
accruals Others Total
EHFR
FEFER Ht &5t
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B & ARETFT ARETT AREBTT
At 1 January 2018 201841 A1H
Debited to the statement FAREREXTAHN
of profit or loss IR T T 18 10
At 31 December 2018 M2018% 12 A31H
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1H1H 7,482 31 7,513
Credited to the statement FARANREZKRTAK
of profit or loss iR AE A 18 10 11,905 — 11,905
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A31H 19,387 31 19,418
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Represented by: Hep a4
— Deferred tax assets —IEEFRIBE E 277,793
— Deferred tax liabilities —IEEFRIBE & (19,418)
258,375
As at 31 December 2018, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand A 1F2018F 12 A31H iAW ILE R
including deferred tax assets of RMB32,583,000 were collateralised 2 & E B EEE A R #32,583,000
for a bank loan of RMB33,920,000 under a general security THELEMBEERN —RBIRBWH=Z
agreement (2017: all the assets of Yashili New Zealand including T AR EE4 A A RE33,920,000
deferred tax assets of RMB39,607,000 were collateralised for a THRITERQOI7E : EBEIL £y
bank loan of RMB66,883,000 under a general security agreement). > EAEEBIEEE AR ¥39,607,000
THRELEHEBEEERRN —RRBHE
T LVERE L & A K 166,883,000
TLRIIRITE ) o
Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be EEEESHANKEE AL HIRER
available against which the above tax losses and deductible FAE - AT BAEKI P R IEEE R
temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years. AR E R ER -
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19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in New Zealand of RMB32,740,000
(2017: RMB39,282,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB96,237,000 (2017: RMB85,287,000) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following item:

19. IE #E B 18 (@)

AEERTABEENREEREBA
R #32,740,0007C (20174 : A R ¥&
39,282,000 T) + AI PR HAIKSH B E A
AR R R FERLE T -

REBRTEAMMESNHRIBEIEA
A R #96,237,0007T (20174 « AR #&
85,287,0007C) * A —E R F [Em -
LAE $5 K R FE BB ) o

EEBREEW R N5 H B ER

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARETT

Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) 7 A B K FE & A 59 4 18 B 18 (i)

_ 2,515,312

(i)  The above tax losses are available for a maximum of five years
to offset against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the above item as it is not considered probable that there will
be taxable profit available to offset against the tax losses in
the future.

The following deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised in
respect of the following items:

At 31 December 2018, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of the subsidiaries established in Mainland
China amounted to RMB413,240,000 (2017: RMB413,557,000).
Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised in respect of the
withholding tax that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained earnings, as the Company controls the dividend policy of
these subsidiaries in Mainland China and the directors have
determined that these profits are not likely to be distributed in the
foreseeable future.
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20. INVENTORIES 20. 7 &
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®F T AREFIT
Raw materials R MR 208,142
Finished goods X @ 398,607
Work in progress ES A 161,501
Packing materials B H=E M E 16,985
Low value consumables KEHEER 1,089
Total s 786,324

As at 31 December 2018, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand
including inventories of RMB193,567,000 were collateralised for a
bank loan of RMB33,920,000 under a general security agreement
(2017: all the assets of Yashili New Zealand including inventories of
RMB152,961,000 were collateralised for a bank loan of
RMB66,883,000 under a general security agreement).

H 20185 12 A31H  FHAAEHILEN
2 EEEREEE AR 193,567,000
THEEER —REREHRET  NE
BB 49 A A R 33,920,000 7T K9 iR
TERQ7TFE : FTAWILEDNZF
EESIEEEARE152,961,0007T )
FEER —REFHE T LEIEK
Y B AR 66,883,000 THIRITE

) e

21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 1. ESRUNRARKRERE
2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AREFIT
Trade and bills receivables Y ES 153,455
Impairment VERIE] (9,119)
144,336

The Group normally allows a credit limit and credit term to its
customers which is adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group’s
trade and bills receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, and there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AEERERTEPHEEREREM
EEHR YAESEBRTHE-
AEENEZREARRBEENEDR
RENNEFAR HABEXEER
SHRAR - 8P RERUREERIL &N
HHE -

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. ESRWARKREE @

PR HIR - 4840 R B 8 A0 B U BR K
KW R E R A H A BR iR O T 40

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

allowance, is as follows: T
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBFIT
Within 3 months =8 A AR 126,288
3 to 6 months =& NEA 4,606
6 months to 1 year NEAZE—F 12,470
1 to 2 years —FEWE 972
Over 2 years M F A E —
144,336

As at 31 December 2018, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand
including trade receivables of RMB108,469,000 were collateralised
for a bank loan of RMB33,920,000 under a general security
agreement (2017: all the assets of Yashili New Zealand including
inventories of RMB101,608,000 were collateralised for a bank loan
of RMB66,883,000 under a general security agreement).

B IE2018F 128318 FABWAEN
2EEEREEEA K 108,469,000
THEZRBRRFTER —RRIEHBE
T AEWEREL A A R33,920,000
TTRRITERQOI7E B ILEN
2 EEEREEE AR 101,608,000
THEEER —REEMET A&
B g 4 B A R % 66,883,000 7T A9 iR
TER) -

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade and

EOREFRRBRBEREBENE N

bills receivables are as follows: T

2018 2017
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FaE ARETT ARBTT
At 1 January ®1A1H 747
Impairment losses, net B R K F R 7 7,495

Transfer from assets of a disposal ¥ B#FH A FE
group classified as held for sale 877
At 31 December M®12A31H 9,119
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. EFRWAR KR EE @

Impairment under IFRS 9 for the year ended PREFIE IR EZERIZE ISR T
31 December 2018: HZ2018F12A31BLFE
REMT :
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a FREBREBE R SR EFEREEETR
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision B UstE2EEERABL  BE
rates are based on ageing of the balances for groupings of various ZRENEABLUBRAERANEER
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer PEO AR P ER) /R R
type). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, Fo-ZaERMTEBENELER &
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable BSHEBENLEREHHAATESHE
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, B E B 2R AR R AR 2R £ AR
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. MEANEERER I ENEN -
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on REBESHEWRFERBELEENE
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: BEREHNEEHNNDT -
Ageing
SRR
Less than 1to Over
1 year 2 years 2 years Total
As at 31 December 2018 R2018%12HA31H —FH0R —FERF MEFEUE At
Expected credit loss rate TEHEABAX 1% 98% 99%
Cross carrying amount REREEE
(RMB’000) (AR ¥ T ) 164,835 4,092 1,594 170,521
Expected credit losses RHEREBEX
(RMB’000) (AR FT) 1,971 4,004 1,578 7,553
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Y !i'h

W== ¥
21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)  21. B 5 FE U X & Z & ()
Impairment under IAS 39 for the year ended B FR = 5t 2 A "39-?-)%?@
31 December 2017: 2017F12A31B L FERE
mE
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31 December AEREBE g ERIZE395% - 812017
2017 that were not individually nor collectively considered to be FNANBERERNXBEBERAD

impaired under IAS 39 is as follows:

BIEZE SRR ZREDITAT

2017

RMB'000

ARBFIT

Neither past due nor impaired 3 K 180 B 3 R (B 129,600
Less than 3 months past due wmE LR =18 B 7,096
136,696

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there were no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a
number of independent customers that had a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors were of the
opinion that no provision for impairment under IAS 39 was
necessary in respect of these balances as there had not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.
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22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 22, FE{ & 18 - H b fE W X 18
OTHER ASSETS REMWEE
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT

Prepayments for purchase of raw BERME R TEM K

materials 14,939
Value-added tax recoverable FRINBEN 81,065
Prepayments for purchase of advertising J8 {5 & % B9 52

services —
Other receivables arising from suppliers’ & U £ & 75 2% 7|

rebate =
Interest receivable & Y A1) 2 57,116
Advances to sales offices Btk b A& 3,172
Others H1h 42,551

198,843

Less: Non-current prepayments W —FUENRAGEER 3,462
Impairment allowance VERIERE (4,192)
Total SR 191,189

ST ROR ~ E e WK IE K H A

The amounts due from related parties included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets are as follows: BENEWBEE BT -
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Subsidiaries of the parent's main BEERARNEZRRTRN
shareholder S a/NC] 241
Ultimate holding company and its TR AR REF QA
subsidiaries 33
A substantial shareholder and its HEAEBEEAZENKE T R
subsidiaries B /N 1,641
1,915

BEIFERERARDLT 2018FFH




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S 1 Bl 55 ¥R 2% bif 5 (48)

31 December 2018 2018512 31 H

236

22.
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PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS(Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand
including prepayments, other receivables and other assets of
RMB9,357,000 were collateralised for a bank loan of
RMB33,920,000 under a general security agreement (2017: all the
assets of Yashili New Zealand including prepayments, other
receivables and other assets of RMB9,209,000 were collateralised
for a bank loan of RMB66,883,000 under a general security
agreement).

Except the amounts disclosed above, the amounts as at 31
December 2018 and 2017 were unsecured, non-interest-bearing
and had no fixed terms of repayment.

22,

HARIE HibEWRIE
EEMEE @

B IE2018F 12 A31H  FTABILEN
2HEEREEEARKEI357,0007T
MBI RIE - EtENREREME
ERER—RERZBHBET  NEDMEE
4 A/ A R 33,920,000 7T 8 iR 17 & X
Q7% : I HILENELEERR
818 A R #9,209,000 7T #) 78 1+ 7 18 -
EMmERFEREMEEER — R
REWHZET  UWERHBHAEARE
66,883,000 T H ER1TE F) ©

B Fat & %40 - 20184 K 2017412 A
STHEWEHRY AERBREE 8
EETETERBEH-

23. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 23. Hit B e mEE
2018 2017
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
B 5E ARMT T AR T T
Bank wealth management products £ RTH E &K & = m (i) - 724,748
Note: M aE -

(i) As at 31 December 2018, the Group's bank wealth management
products were mainly financial products purchased from banks with
good credit ratings with expected annual interest rates of 4.1% to 4.5%
(31 December 2017: 2.0% to 5.1%). These investments were
acquired with original maturity of one month to one year and were
not allowed to be withdrawn prior to the maturity date without the
banks’ consent.

As at 31 December 2018, the bank wealth management products
amounting to RMB96,551,000 (31 December 2017: R\MB49,052,000)
were pledged to certain bank loans amounting to RMB94,244,000 (31
December 2017: RMB49,421,000).

As at 31 December 2018, the bank wealth management products
amounting to RMB141,056,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB150,053,000) were pledged for letters of credit.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES ANDOTHER 24. B4 RBITEBRFRES
DEPOSITS F&
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Cash and cash equivalents RWENESEEY 668,962
Pledged deposits R &I BV IR 1T F K 243,621
Time deposits with original maturity REIHB A =188 X £H
of more than three months EHF R 1,079,433
1,992,016
Less: Short-term pledged deposits for J& : $RITAEIE 2 EHRZE S
banking facilities FR 243,621
Less: Long-term bank deposits B REVRITER —
Cash and bank balances BERBETERF 1,748,395
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T AREFIT
The above balances denominated in: A 5| S ¥ 5| E &R & R RITLE -
— RMB — AR 1,919,656
— United States Dollar (“USD") — =7 57,925
— Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD") — B 14,182
— European Dollar (“EUR") — BT 247
— New Zealand Dollar (“NzD") — A 6
1,992,016

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest rates.
As at 31 December 2018, the effective annual interest rates of
short-term time deposits were approximately 1.1% to 5.9% (31
December 2017:1.1% to 8.5%), which would be due within a year.
The effective interest rate of long-term deposits was 4.18% (31
December 2017: nil). The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

ARBAFFAIERLBSEMBLER -
PRI AR BB R B K BE RO S IE B R 15 DI
RiEE EERNEEERT A&
BEASBEREETIEXRFHR
T BARBELSEMER -

ROTRSEBITMIBFEFTBE R
2018F 12 A31H R EHEFEARNE
BREF R4 B1.1%259% (20174F 12
A31H :1.1% £85%) » T # K —F
WE B - REIE BI 77 SR8 B R 17 5 A
RE418% (20174128318 &) -
BOEBLEEATRRNOHEEY
B EERITMBRITRHT -
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24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER
DEPOSITS (Continued)

As of 31 December 2018, other than certain bank loans secured by
time deposits amounting to RMB308,453,000 (2017:
RMB234,731,000), a deposit of RMB6,862,000 (2017:
RMB8,890,000) and a long-term bank deposit of RMB20,000,000
(2017: nil) were pledged for letters of credit.

25. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

31 December 2018 2018512 31 H

2. e RBITHEBEERRS
7 &

R2018F12A31H B T —LiETE
A2 i B E BT B R 5 308,453,000
JC (20174 + AR "234,731,0007T) #
TER mE ARKE862,0005TF K
(20174 + AR #8,890,0007T) 1 A R
#20,000,000 7T & HA IR 1717 50 (2017 4F
RANH: BMIWIEARAAERAER
RES

25. ES R

RBEEH AEEREZEZA YN
B RNROKREITOT

2018
RMB’000
AR®TR

2017
RMB’000
ARBTTT

Within 3 months ={EANUA
3 to 6 months =@A=ENEA
More than 6 months 7~ E A A E

116,634
122,870
98,936

338,440

The amounts due to related parties included in trade payables are
as follows:

5N 5 181 2 6 1 A B B 75 0 50E
mF -

2018
RMB’000
AR®TR

2017
RMB'000
ARETT

Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding ~ SRR RE N F 2 7
company

Subsidiaries of the parent's main
shareholder

Subsidiaries of a substantial

shareholder )+ N 7]

REERRAFANEIEZRRNFRA]

BAEBEEEATENKRED

23,205

18,695

127

42,027

Trade payables, including amounts due to related parties, are non-
interest-bearing and are normally settled within one month to three
months.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HttEN R KR EGTEA
2018 2017
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
FiEE ARET T ARBETIT
Accrued expenses TEIRE R 429,849
Contract liabilities ERAEE (a) —
Accrued payroll i 158,160
Guarantee deposits from customers WHEPHRES 67,280
Payables for constructions of property, & it T2 5%
plant and equipment 30,849
Other tax payables H i e 18 28,089
Termination benefits payables JE 1< BBk 46 7,103
Interest payables JE A5 A2 194
Advances from customers =P (a) 289,320
Others Efth 26,814
1,037,658

The amounts due to related parties included in other payables and
accruals are as follows:

51 A K ft 8 1< 3 O £ 28 7R B 8 A
BIME T BB -

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT

A substantial shareholder and its HAEEBEEAZENREFRE
subsidiaries BN 4,639

Subsidiaries of the parent’s main RN T EREDNF A A

shareholder 40
4,679

Note:

(a)

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January
2018 are as follows:

M i

B = 0201812 531 H M2018 51
A1EMaRABEFERT:

(a)

31 December 1 January
2018 2018
—E-N\F —T-N\F
+=—A=+—H —H—A
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®F T ARETT

HEREm

Sale of goods

aRAEARE

Total contract liabilities

289,320
289,320
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 27. ;T EHBITER
As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017
720185128318 M2017412 3318
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity  RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB’000
BEAR FRRFI=
(%) ZEE AR®T:R (%) ZERFRE ARBTIT
Current EN &R
Bank loans — RITER—
secured i 0.80 t0 3.30 2018 329,696 *
Bank loans — BRITER—
unsecured Eie 1.47 2018 200,000
529,696
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREFIT
Bank loans denominated in RITE
— RMB — UAARBSE 249,421
— USD — AEJTEHE 33,799
— HKD — B EEHE 128,729
— EUR — ABTEHE 52,197
— NzZD — S E 53,498
— Australian Dollar (“AUD") — LB ITEHE 12,052
529,696
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS (continued)

(a)

* %

As at 31 December 2018, certain bank loans with an
aggregate amount of approximately RMB286,984,000 (31
December 2017: RMB213,392,000) were secured by bank
balances amounting to RMB308,453,000 (31 December
2017: RMB234,731,000). A bank loan with an amount of
approximately RMB94,224,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB49,421,000) was secured by a bank wealth management
product amounting to RMB96,551,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB49,052,000).

As at 31 December 2018, a bank loan of RMB33,920,000 (31
December 2017: RMB66,883,000) was secured by the total
assets of Yashili New Zealand. As at 31 December 2018, the
carrying amount of the total assets of Yashili New Zealand
was NZD300,873,000 (31 December 2017: NZD305,333,000).

The contracted interest rate is HIBOR+0.7, LIBOR+0.7, LIBOR+1.0,
BKBM'+1.0, 0.3, 3.7, 3.95 or 4.05.

As at 31 December 2017, bank loans amounting to RMB66,883,000
were guaranteed by Yashili International Group Ltd (“Yashili
(Guangdong)”) .

BKBM: The New Zealand Bank Bill Benchmark Rate (BKBM) is a base
rate in New Zealand.

27.

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH

STEHRITER@

(a)

**

R2018F 12 831H » — A 85
#4975 N R #5286,984,0007T(2017 F
12A318 : A R #213,392,000
TR IR 1T E R AR K
308,453,000 7T (2017 & 12 A 31
H: AR #234,731,00070)8 75
RETEHER —LBHBEN A
A R #94,224,000 7T (2017 % 12
A318 :49,421,0007T)H iR 17 &
A A R #96,551,0007T(2017 4F
12 A31H : AR #49,052,0007T)
M ERTHEREERETHE
ﬁ o

R2018FF 12 A31H » — & 42 &
K4 A A R ¥33,920,0007T(2017
F12A31H : AR 66,883,000
TV RITE A F E B 3L XA
Z2018F12A31MBEBEN A4
# 300,873,000 7T (2017 & 12 A 31
H : 4 ¥ 305,333,000 0) K & &6
B EEITHE -

A [ K] =& AHIBOR+0.7, LIBOR+0.7,
LIBOR+1.0, BKBM'+1.0, 0.3, 3.7, 3.95 5
4.05 -

M2017E 128318 £ 17 E & A
R # 66,883,000 M #f + F (& ®)
R

BKBM: 5 74 2R 17 5% 4% 22 42 ) K A 587
AHERmSTHNERSERER -
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<™
\ )
W= f
28. DEFERRED INCOME 28. &L W =
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
As at beginning of the year F 4 A 3,329
Received for the year F A E =
Amortisation for the year =aNp: S (1,084)
As at end of the year FRE R 2,245
Deferred income mainly represented the government grants REWmTEBEERBETHRELET
received for the acquisition of a new plant and for certain technical Bia s M EEFIEFTEBESNK
innovation and production line expansion projects. These grants are B e ZEHBRBEBEEN A E
deferred over the useful lives of the relevant assets and the amount AFBHANEEAR ' R2018F#R A
recognised as other income and gains in 2018 was RMB 1,084,000 HEmWAMBZMWEEES HEBDN
(2017: RMB1,084,000). & % & A R 1,084,000 (2017 £ :
AR ¥ 1,084,0007T) °
29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. &
Number of
shares Nominal value
RGEHE HE
Notes ‘000 RMB’000
FtEE T AREETT
Authorised: 2atf:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SR MEEO0.178 T i I Ak (i) 10,000,000 861,600
Ordinary shares, issued and fully BT - E#E :
paid:
Shares issued upon the reorganisation 7 2010 & 48 B 51T
in 2010 B A% 1 (ii) 100 9
Capitalisation issue in 2010 R2010F & ANk 81T (iii) 2,925,900 251,364
Shares issued by share offer 20105 & Bk (n 2 &
in 2010 BTG (iv) 574,000 49,312
Shares repurchased in 2011 2011 4F B 1D B #E (v) (10,000) (818)
Accumulated share options exercised 20144 A 2 5+ % # 5t 21
up to 2014 1T 69,170 5,665
Shares issued to Danone Asia in 2015 2015 4 [A) 2 R 25 M B T AR A (vi) 1,186,390 93,820
At 31 December 2017 and 2018 72017 F % 201812 H31H 4,745,560 399,352
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

0

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company was incorporated on 3 June 2010 with authorised
capital of 3,800,000 shares at HK$0.10 per share. As part of a
reorganisation of the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company'’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 2010 (the “Reorganisation”),
the authorised share capital of the Company was increased to
HK$1,000,000,000 (equivalent to RMB861,600,000) divided into
10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each.

On 2 July 2010, as part of the Reorganisation, the Company issued a
total of 99,999 shares at HK$0.10 per share equivalent to RMB9,000
to the shareholder of Yashili (Guangdong) as the consideration to
acquire Yashili (Guangdong).

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s shareholders passed on
8 October 2010, the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$380,000 to HK$1,000,000,000; in addition,
2,925,900,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each were issued at par
value to the shareholders of the Company as at 8 October 2010 by
way of capitalisation of HK$292,590,000 (equivalent to
RMB251,364,000) from the Company’s share premium account.

A total of 3,500,000,000 shares of the Company were listed on the
Stock Exchange on 1 November 2010 (“IPO"), among which
644,000,000 shares (18.4% of the total number of shares of the
Company) were issued to the public, comprising 574,000,000 new
shares and 70,000,000 sale shares. The gross proceeds received by
the Company from the IPO were approximately HK$2,411 million.

- = BEFIERHEREBRAE 20185 FH

29. I 7 @)
B E
() ARAMR2010F6A38 Mk

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

A TE A% 7K /43,800,0000% - F AL EIE A
0B TR R - fEAR K& B R2010
FTHEBEARRTABROREBHAR
SHAERAR(EBHRZAT]) EIR
mmETHEA(EADH—5D -
H K F B AN 3 2= 7 #51,000,000,000 7T
(HE M AR#861,600,0007T) * 2 A
10,000,000 F % + & I @ {E0.107% 7T
R R% 53 °

MR2010F7A2H - fEAEHKN —
D ARRABELI(ER)ERE
% B% B2 17 A $£99,999 i & L B
0.1 ITH R - HHE R ARM9,000
T AEARARRRIWIERLF (ER)H
{8 o

iR iE A A A B% B 522010910 A8 H
BBRANARE ARAMETRA
F1380,0007% 7T # hn % 1,000,000,000
FEIL AN BB AR FRR D R E
BE % 75292,590,000% 7T (HHE R AR
#251,364,00070) fE & AN » KA AR
201010 A8 H iz EE M H R B 21T
2,925,900,000 % & A% M {E0.17% 7T K
L@k o

AR BB D R2010F 11 A1H
EEBB SR LW E R DR
771) - # 2 53,500,000,000 % - £ &
644,000,000 f% (fh 2 2 8] B 17 48 20
184%) AIARALTHEIT EFBE
574,000,000 F A& ¥ A% & 70,000,000 A%
HERD - AR B UEH E R AR
THMERBEAENAE2AEES
5t o
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

On 10 June 2011 and 13 June 2011, the Company repurchased all of
its own ordinary shares of 10,000,000 at an aggregate price (including
a transaction fee and commission) of HK$18,728,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,538,000), which was deducted from reserves.

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the issued
share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of
these shares. Pursuant to section 49H of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, an amount equivalent to the par value of the shares
cancelled of HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB818,000) was
transferred to the capital redemption reserve. The premium and
transaction costs paid on the repurchase and cancellation of the
shares of HK$17,728,000 (equivalent to RMB14,720,000) were
charged to reserves.

On 30 October 2014, the Company, Mengniu International and
Danone Asia entered into a Subscription Agreement pursuant to
which, among other things, Danone Asia has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue 1,186,390,074 subscription shares at the subscription price of
HK$3.70 per subscription share.

The share subscription has been approved by the Company’s
shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting on 28 November
2014.

On 12 February 2015, the Company received all the share
subscription proceeds of HK$4,389,643,000, equivalent to
RMB3,471,330,000, among which RMB93,820,000 was accounted
for as share capital, and the remaining, after deducting issuance cost,
amounting to RMB3,374,773,000 was accounted for as share
premium.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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BeE : (4B

(v)

2011 %6 A10B &6 A13 B AR
Al EEHE A &/ % 10,000,000
B BmEREFEELRES) B
7 18,728,000t (1 & MW A R #
15,538,0007T) * I B A FEEF M ©

EEERMDEWHEHE  MAAFTHE B
TRANECHEREZSRBRG
HEE - KBBEEQFHEHIE4HE
&+ 7 5 A% 4 &9 E & 7% % 1,000,000
T (ZEE AR ®818,0007T) # A KK %
ElEEREET - SLEBE RAEERH T
TR 5 B R R 5 R AR % #17,728,000
T (% E AR 14,720,0007T) & 7 &
BN -

201410 A30H * " QAR X4 H
BRREETMNET TRER T H
B ZFEENE MG R =208
BARABEWEGR S E RET
1,186,390,074 % RER 5 - REEH
AERRBERM3I70E T -

R2014F1MA8RZB N RBCE
AREBRERRERIAE EBLE -

R2015F2 A12H » KRB WE &2
% # 22 8% % 4,389,643,000/8 7T * L&
A B #3,471,330,0007T 0 Hd AR
# 93,820,000 7T 5T A B BT A - F
BEBAENBBTERBEOARE
3,374,773,000 L 5T A B% A B o
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30. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED

AS HELD FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES
DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH THE ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Scient (China) is a company incorporated in the PRC and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. It is primarily engaged in the
production and sale of dairy products.

On 22 December 2017, Scient (China), Guangdong Development
District Land Development and Reserve Exchange (“GDD") and its
agents entered into an expropriation and compensation agreement
pursuant to which certain properties of Scient (China) will be
expropriated by GDD for a compensation amount of
RMB252,822,000. As such, as at 31 December 2017, the related
assets of the subsidiary were classified as held for sale.

The disposal transaction was completed in January 2018.

THESBESENEEAQD
EEREDIBAKERE
EEEEZEMEBNER

BR(FE) ERARAEFEEMNE
EMBLR TEXFIHMNEE
THE o

R20174%12 8228 » e B(h H) - &
MAZE LA BEREIZFPLRE
REFTY —EHHRBEERSE BUHE
MNAZR THAEREREIZPLEE
EE(RBE)S W mE  HESEAA
R #252,822,0007T > 722017412 A 31
H BEXTFROMNEBEEEHRESE
BEGEEEM-

ZEEXHDN2018FE1 AR -

Audited Audited
REZ KEZ
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
+=A=+—-H +ZA=+—H
ARET AREEFT
Assets: BE

Property, plant and equipment ME - WE MEE 159,550
Land use rights + i {F A A 27,687
Assets classified as held for sale PRAREFENEEERE 187,237

Net assets directly associated with the HREE B/ HZEHBERNFEEE
disposal group 187,237
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=
., )
W=y
31. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 31. EEF AT

Disposal of Yashili (Heilongjiang) BEERLTF (EFEI)
In June 2017, the Group disposed of a 100% equity interest in M2017F6H  AEEBEHFAENRE
Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd (“Yashili (Heilongjiang)”) to an TITHEFRILEASR AR (A TEE I
independent third party. A (BT MI100% EmEEL T

BIE=F -

The net assets of Yashili (Heilongjiang) as at the date of disposal REEBH HBIA(BEI)ZFEE
were as follows: U
Notes RMB'000
BitEE AREETTT
Net assets disposed of: REXNFEERENE :
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB k& 13 25,289
Construction in progress EETIR 14 41
Land use rights + b 55 R A 16 2,496
Intangible assets EREE 17 10
Inventories FE 588
Prepayments, deposits and ERRIE A REA4
other receivables JE W IE 60
Trade payables B SRR (635)
Accruals and other payables FEET & A R H b FE R (11,445)
Tax payable FE TP 1S A0 a1
16,445
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary BREFAFIERX 6 (11,698)
4,747
Satisfied by: W R E -
Cash R&e 4,747
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal of Yashili REFE BFHESHTF(EIET)
(Heilongjiang) for the prior year is as follows: EBEBIZ7BEERORNNFWT
RMB'000
ARETTT
Cash consideration ReRE 4,747
Cash and bank balances disposed of BER® RBITHER —
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents AARBEHELANESRECRER
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary ReEEBYRLFHE 4,747
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group did not enter into finance lease
arrangements or any other significant non-cash transactions.

L= E
/leii

32. R E ® M st
(a) TBZFBEERSH

RER AEERBELWERE
RHREAMEANERIFRER

% o
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) METHS|IHENEESE
financing activities BT :
Bank and other loans
RITREMERR
RMB’000
ARETTT
At 1 January 2018 M2018%1H1H 529,696
Changes from financing cash flows MERERENEE (121,205)
Exchange differences on translation BINEEINE SRR ITE =R
of foreign operations 6,637
At 31 December 2018 R 2018412 A31H 415,128
At 1 January 2017 RK2017F1A18 1,143,091
Changes from financing cash flows HERERENED (579,880)
Exchange differences on translation BIMEEINERRITE =5
of foreign operations (33,515)
At 31 December 2017 R2017%F12H31H 529,696
33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 3. EEEA

Details of the Group's pledged assets are included in notes 13, 14,
17,19, 20, 21, 22, 23 and 24 to the financial statements.
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34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As Lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties and office
equipment under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to two years,
and those for office equipment are for terms ranging between one
to two years.

At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments

34, REHEEZH

EREBRA
AEBRBCEBERHEEL T

WMOMENPARE -MEHEEWHZ
HRA—ZE-F MOARBHEHEWE
HIRA—E_F-

RBEEH TABEEEHEERT

under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of buildings were TEEEEVEMNNRKFEEER
payable as follows: BT :

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Within one year —&R 8,051
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFRF(REEREMSE) 4,819
12,870

35. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 34,
the Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of
the reporting period:

35. & B

PR 34RO EE HE ARSI 0
BEHR NEENERNAFENT

Contracted, but not provided for: BEIAB R B :
Land and buildings EEKEED
Plant and machinery 4 A 5%

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTTT
7,592

15,509

23,101
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(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these

financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with related parties during the year:

36. BEE AR B

(2) BEEABBHEE MM TR
RE B 5 - A B 55
FETATEAZS

2018
RMB’000
AR®TR

2017
RMB’000
ARBTTT

Transactions with subsidiaries of the

ultimate holding company BB 2 5
Purchase of raw materials* 5 8RR
Income from consigned processing* SEEI T
Sale of milk powder products* HEMMEm*
Sale expense* SHE B

Share option scheme and share

award scheme* FT &+
Purchase of complimentary products* B 5 2 B 5 7 *
Service expense* Rk 75 2
Purchase of milk powder products* BEIHESR*
Sale of raw materials* SEE B R *
Trade mark licence fee* FRERFR &

Transactions with subsidiaries of the

parent’s main shareholder FRAINEB TS

Purchase of packing materials BEBEME

Purchase of starch and sugar, etc. BERBRY BEE
Transactions with a substantial HAEEEFEKX ?& 20

shareholder and its subsidiaries KREFTOFA

Sale of base powder* SHEE ) *

Income from consigned processing* X1 LI = *

Research and development costs fift 2% A AR

Office rental expense* WAEHEER*

Testing service income* 15081 AR 75 WL A *

IT service expense* SR AR 7% &

Training service expense* iﬁ *JII PR 75 & *

Warehouse expense* BB

RIS E RN AR B
BT R 5
REBEH*

Transactions with an associate of the — Ed £
ultimate holding company
Purchase of base powder*

ERAERBEROFRAD

B R ot &) R A fn 22

IR AT EERERN

102,729
33,126
753

37,338
5,989

172,131
14,130
276
3,685
195

41

211

16,520
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(©)

(Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
above related party transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms during the ordinary course of business. The
directors have confirmed that the above transactions will
continue in the future.

* The above transactions also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, and have complied with the
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Outstanding balances with related parties
Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are
set out in notes 22, 25 and 26 to the financial statements.
Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

Key management compensation is detailed in note 9 to the
financial statements.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

36. BEE A R Z )

(a)

(b) Ez B B

(@

RAAREEZERAE UWLEBEAR
SR —REERTET Y&
El%%?rﬁﬂ&qﬂa; o B R IE

U ERSBERRREEE

7

ﬁ°

* Falt 22 %MﬁﬁﬁziﬁﬂﬁﬁlJMA
EFATHEER S KIFE
@i%ﬂa%?iﬁ%ﬁ,ﬂlh%
FIETHET -

EE@*{ELNQ@%
BRAEBAB AN REELHRFS
A BIRERNFE22 - 25426 °
AEBFTEEBEAEN
[ R

TEEEABNBRMFEHRNYB
AR ME ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 == w= == == == == == == == ==




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S 1 8l 55 ¥R 2% bif 5 (48)

31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. RERE s E@M T A

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial HEREHR XL T ENKRT

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BEET
Audited Audited
BERX KEIZ
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
S Tt
+=A=+—-8 +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
Financial assets SREE ARET ARBT T
Financial instruments at amortised cost St H A EN SR T A
Trade and bills receivables B RRZ R EE 144,336
Prepayments, other receivables and other 38 {5 FR I8 - £ ftb fig U 7R I8 K2
assets H A& = 69,065
Pledged deposits X PR HIl $R171F K 243,621
Long-term bank deposits RERITER —
Cash and bank balances R & RIBITH 1,748,395
Financial assets at fair value through LD AEBEFIEEHESE
profit or loss STABEZNEMEE
Other current financial assets Hin B e mEE 724,748
Total &5t 2,930,165
Audited Audited
BEX EIZ
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
+=ZA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial liabilities SHAs AR%T T ARETT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost Uit H AT ENSRARS
Trade payables B 5 B 338,440
Other payables and accruals HibENHRERTE A 554,986
Short-term interest-bearing bank loans HEF BIRITER 529,696
Total &%t 1,423,122
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 38. €@ I A2 2ARERAR
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE &R

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

AEENERTANEEERAAE
B BROIURAABENKEE

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: HIBEWT
Carrying amounts Fair values
FREEE RREE
2018 2017 2018 2017

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARETRE ARBTT AR®TRT ARBTT

Financial assets EWMEE
Long-term bank deposits & HA$R 1T 17 5K
Other current financial EMRESEmEE

assets

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills
receivables, other current financial assets, trade payables, financial
assets included in prepayments other receivables and other assets,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, short-
term interest-bearing bank loans approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The
corporate finance team reports directly to management. At each
reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by management. The valuation process and results are
discussed with management twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

== = mm == == == == == == == YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

724,748 724,748

724,748 724,748

EEMAESFERNREEFEY -
AARBEER > NERER - BEH
RS EERRE HURIERE
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HitBWARBEREMEENESRME
E FFAEMENRERESAERANS
BEAE BHAERTEZINAIAE
BERAKEEEBEMER ARNELSE
TEMKBOGERLHARRH -

AEEHVBEEAENVHEEKE
EETERTAAABEFENK
RMEF FBEREEREEER
FoEGEHmER RAMBEKD
MEMTAEENEIIRERAR
HENTITEHAE ZHEHEEE
BRZEBA - BT P HMFE YR
FOEEBEMEREEEESF
7 PR R
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 38. €@ T A2 2ARERAR
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) BEE&=
DN E

Fair value hierarchy
SEKRA LATFﬁ&LAuHEH%@EIE

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy N
of the Group’s financial instruments: 5]

Assets for which fair values are disclosed: WMARBERENEE

Fair value measurement using

ARBEFENER
Significant Significant
unobservable unobservable
inputs (Level 3) inputs (Level 3)

ERFABEBA BERITAIERHA
BB (E=54) HEB(E=FH)
As at As at
31 December 2018 31 December 2017
A2018%F12A318 72017412A31H

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Long-term bank deposits REIRITER —
Other current financial assets EtnEghemEE 724,748
724,748
During the years of 2018 and 2017, there were no transfers of fair 2018ER0N7TELREEVEE — %
value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers TEHE_EZL72ENALBEER
into or out of Level 3 for financial assets. BEAFE=-"SHMNEAREL -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings, cash
and cash equivalents and pledged deposits. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade payables,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
fair value and cash flow interest rate risks, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, senior management of the
Company meets regularly to analyse and formulate measures to
manage the Group's exposure to these risks. In addition, the board
of directors of the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse
and approve the proposals made by senior management of the
Company. Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies
on its risk management. The Group'’s accounting policies in relation
to derivative financial instruments are set out in note 2.4 above.

(a) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk
that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. With its
borrowings issued at fixed and floating interest rates, the
Group is exposed to both fair value and cash flow interest
rate risks.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage its
interest rate risk. The Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and
short-term deposits are stated at amortised cost and not
revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest income and
expenses are credited/charged to profit or loss as earned/
incurred.
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EEEBMITANKRKRSREN
B i 45 A = & B M 3RO B AL
@ o W PME IR E E MO B A X
fEh - AEERE AR EEBERR
TREFERE -

AEBFTHESYEEEE MF
BHENBERES AEBEF
KRR - AKERBRITERK
M IR A A S s 0 TR
SEMEM - FBHMEFBWA
B B 33 BRER, 5] BUR) MR K B
XEFA/ BB -

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 == w= == == == == == == == ==




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S 1 8l 55 ¥R 2% bif 5 (48)

31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. i EREEEEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) ()

(a) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

(Continued)

If there was a general increase/decrease in the interest rates
of bank loans with floating interest rates by one percentage
point, with all other variables held constant, the consolidated
pre-tax profit would have decreased/increased by
approximately RMB1,709,000 (2017: RMB2,803,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2018, with no impact on other
components of the consolidated equity, except for retained
earnings of the Group. The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and the Group
has applied the exposure to interest rate risk to those financial
instruments in existence at those dates. The estimated one
percentage point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the end of the next
reporting period.

(@) 2RBEERRAERERN

R [8 & om)

Wi ZBF X ENRITE R
MAMEREEBNE RE—E7 D
BomATAEEMEENE  AIE
Z2018FE12A3MB EFE - A
HREAFEER LD AR
#51,709,000 7T (20174 = A R #&
2,803,0007T) - HE K& H & ff
BamEMTsWESE  HX
DEFEERIN o i URE 5T
EBREMNEEHOENSRERE
BEMEBET ASEEKEEN
FERBEBNZEABRFLED
SRTE - st — T D2
BeEEREHHRNEEZ T —ER
SHRA LR RGESEZH T
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. HKERMEEBRBEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
(b) Foreign currency risk (b) #hHE = fax
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily on AEBEBMINERKREBR B M
bank deposits, other receivables, trade payables and bank SNEESHB 2 RITIE AR - HAth FE UL
loans of the operations to which the transactions relate. The KBS EMNFBEBARERTE
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily HKD, USD, NZD, oML BEBHBERI S 2SR
and EUR. AN EE - 5| BAR 2 &%
FTERBE  ET AEURE
TT o
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRIVREMA H A& BT
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rates to HEHBERT ARBHEBE. X
HKD, USD, NZD, and EUR with all other variables held I AHEE S AR BT R A R ]
constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (due to changes in BEHIEMABEEH(HNEBEE
the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities): FEENAREZEHEY) HA

SENRABENTE -

Increase/(decrease)
in RMB Increase/(decrease) in loss
exchange rate % before tax

ARBER BAl & 18

EHACTE) % EFA(THE)

2018 2017

RMB'000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARETT

If RMB weakens against the USD WARBEETEE 746
If RMB strengthens against the USD ~ ff§ A R 5 £ FHE (746)
If RMB weakens against the HKD i AR S & TiRE (7,448)
If RMB strengthens against the HKD ~ ffi A R # 5 /8 T FH & 7,448
If RMB weakens against the NZD WARY A THRE 3,823
If RMB strengthens against the NZD i A R ¥ X 4Lt FH{E (3,823)
If RMB weakens against the EUR im A RE S BT @& (3,203)
If RMB strengthens against the EUR i A R & X BT FHE 3,203
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. i EREEREEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) ()
(c) Credit risk () EER

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
bills receivables, prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
Exposure to the credit risk is monitored by management on
an ongoing basis. Details of the Company’s credit policy are
contained in note 21 to the financial statements.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 December
2018:

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on the ageing information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2018.

REFENEERRIEREES
JEW R ERE - FEMERER Hith
EWERREMEE - ZFRHIR
TERMBe RERTET -8

ERITEEEEFEER - AR
ﬁ%%%ﬁ%ﬁ%%%ﬁ%%%
210

R2018F12A3IEN EaZE
J—lll\A

TERHEINEREAEBMEERED
FEEEENEAREEREBHKO

LA K & £2018F 12 A31H & &
Brof ZEERXEZZERA
ENEFEERES  UREMESTT
WBRRARE NN AT EBHNE

B o
N

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs Total

128 A&
BMERBX BREFESAREARL st

Stage 1 Stage 2
B—ER FoER
RMB'000  RMB’000

Simplified

Stage 3 approach

B=RR MR
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT

Trade and bills receivables* 2 5 & U 3k & Z 45 * — =
Financial assets included in S fEF8 1B @ E

prepayments, other At JE LT 3k A0 L A,

receivables and other BENSREE

assets

— Normal** — [IE 39,858 —

— Doubtful** — IR EEx¥ = —
Pledged deposits X PR #l $R 17 1F K

— Not yet past due — R 5 55 315,315 —
Cash and bank balances i1 & RiR1T4&1F =

— Not yet past due — R 5 25 2,010,318 —

= 162,968 162,968

= = 39,858

= = 315,315

= — 2,010,318

2,365,491 —

— 162,968 2,528,459
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(@

(d)

Credit risk (continued)

* For trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in note 21 to the financial
statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017:

Majority of the Group’s customers have been trading with the
Group for years and the Group did not record significant bad
debt losses during 2018 and 2017. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk of the trade receivables as the receivables from the
five largest trade debtors represented 87.93% of the total
trade receivables as at 31 December 2018 (31 December
2017: 84.85%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use

of bank overdrafts, bank loans and other interest-bearing
loans.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. MK EBEEREERBEE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) 7 Ep 1% & B )
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at REBEARNRERABBERRSE
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted HE R EER (%4 B ARITIR M
payments, is as follows: HEHEYMT
Within
1 year or 1to2 2to5
on demand years years Total
—FR%
RER —EWMF —ERE st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBETT ARETT ARBTT

31 December 2018 2018%F 12 A31H
Interest-bearing bank loans &t B R 1T & 417,442 — — 417,442
Trade payables 2B 5 E BRI 349,935 — — 349,935
Other payables and accruals = ) & 1+ % % & 51
ZH 893,005 — — 893,005
1,660,382 — — 1,660,382
31 December 2017 2017412 A31H
Interest-bearing bank loans &t B R 17 & 7K 533,735 — — 533,735
Trade payables B HEMERRK 338,440 — — 338,440
Other payables and accruals £ fib & 1~ 2 & f& 5t
£ H 554,986 — — 554,986
1,427,161 — — 1,427,161
(e) Capital management (e) EXRERE
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management REBEARAEENTEEEZZR
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going EREBRIFEQLERESREERESR
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to AREEEMEE D WX EBEEBKK
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value. S AL EREE -
The Group manages its capital structure and makes REFBEBHERER WiBRE
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions BRI R ABEENR
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. No M EMELRFAE - HE22018F 12
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for A31H8 K2017%F12 A31H8 1+ F
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2018 E OEAEEMNBZ BERIE
and 31 December 2017. 3 o
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued)

The Group uses different measures including an adjusted net
debt-to-equity ratio to monitor its capital. Net debt is
calculated as interest-bearing bank loans, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position less cash and
bank deposits (excluding frozen bank deposits). Total capital
is calculated as equity holders’ funds (i.e., total equity
attributable to owners of the parent), as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The ratios as at
the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

BHEABREEERERBE
()

(e)

39.

EREE @)

AEBEERIRAER  BELA
BEBEHERLE  UERHEE
K FEBUANGHEERBRAMAN
THEREEFRERE S LRTHE
(N BHERR & RITF ) 51
BHBE BEAUNGHEEAR
RIIAHBRERBEAES (A
NEIRERE NEEEES) T
ERE -#HERSH RO EM
T

2018
RMB’000
ARMT T

2017
RMB’000
ARBTTT

Interest-bearing bank loans (note 27)

Less: Vs
Cash and cash equivalents (note 24)
Short-term bank deposits (note 24)
Long-term bank deposits (note 24)
Pledged bank deposits (note 24)

S RITER(BYRE27)

RehBReEEY (HE24)
7R 1T R (BT aE24)
RHRITER (i aE24)
R B ER1T 77 3K (B RE24)

529,696

668,962
1,079,433

243,621

Net debt BEFHE

(1,462,320)

Total equity attributable to owners of
the parent
Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio

B

FARRERE ABGERS

RARFEGEELX

5,490,927
(27%)

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at the approval date of the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had no significant events after the reporting period
which need to be disclosed.
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. DRI BB R R B K
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the HMEHRADTNTBERREE W
Company at the end of reporting period is as follows: T:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARET T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RTFRBRES 5,745,792
Total non-current assets EmENEEBRE 5,745,792
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and TETFRIE - E R KT K

other assets HM&EE —
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 1,694
Total current assets B & E AR 1,694
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Other payables and accruals HEMENRERETER 13,203
Total current liabilities B BEERE 13,203
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES hEBEEFE (11,509)
Net assets EEFE 5,734,283
EQUITY =
Share capital A% Zx 399,352
Reserves = 5,334,931
Total equity W A EE 5,734,283
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. 2 7] B # AR R ) 3R om)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: B =
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KATHRBEEHMT:
Capital
Share redemption Contributed Translation Retained Total
premium reserve surplus reserve earnings equity
B

MR 1E BB & Bz ERMHE KREBRA EZEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TRT AR¥TRE ARBTT ARBTR AR¥TR

() (ii) (iii)
At 1 January 2017 "®2017F1A1H
B A5 R 3,845,616 818 1,449,863 429,559 5,867 5,731,723
Total comprehensive & T 18 5k 4458
loss for the year — — — (400,462) 3,670 (396,792)
At 31 December 2017 $A2017412 A31H
Y 45 84 3,845,616 818 1,449,863 29,097 9,537 5,334,931
Total comprehensive & T W %5 44 58
income for the year — — — 275,709 6,228 281,937
At 31 December 2018 722018412 A31H
B 45 B8
Notes: 5T -
(i) Share premium @) MR 15 % 18
The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses over the HTB(HEBEMNETHR)BED
par value of the shares issued has been credited to the share premium HTRADMENHED T AKRA A
account of the Company. Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the D GEE BERSHEATE
Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the (F1E3]) XA BEBENES
Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company AIDETFTARBIKRE HEEBEEZED
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend AR B BEIME  ARRIARBRNER
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to ERHSEBBREPEHHZES -

pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S 1 8l 55 ¥R 2% bif 5 (48)

31 December 2018 2018512 H31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  41. 2 A B Bk R H &K @

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) B EE - (&

(i) Contributed surplus iy EHBHK
As part of the Reorganisation, the shareholders of Yashili (Guangdong) R2010F7 A28 fE A EHH —
transferred their equity interests in Yashili (Guangdong) to Yashili (HK) W ELF(BE)EENBRES
on 2 July 2010. A contributed surplus of RMB1,367,204,000 was HAEBRTM(BER)EREZENE
resulted from these transfers for the purpose of the Group’s TR(FEBE) NEBES G BR
consolidated financial statements. FTPEAZEREEEEHABARE

1,367,204,000 7T °

In addition, for the purpose of the Company’s financial statements, a
contributed surplus of RMB1,449,863,000 arose from the issuance of AN RAR B EHRES - AEA
shares by the Company in exchange for the equity interests in the ARABBETRENBERFRARKRE
subsidiaries held by the shareholders of these subsidiaries pursuant to EFRARBEAENEREAST ARG
the Reorganisation. AR 1,449,863,000 7T °

(i)~ Translation reserve (i) X
Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising RERZRBELREERE SN ELOH
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. BRERMEENMAINEZHE -

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 42. #tE B | R
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 27 March 2019.

ZEFEEMN2019F3 527 B #tE K&
T EHRE -




FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Y lir'v*

W==if

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited

T F B ¥ 10k 2

MAERERMBRR 2 ASEBEREAY
BEREAMZEE BEERABEHREN

financial statements, is set out below. T e
The table below sets forth our summary income statement information T & &H I AEBRARHABN KRB E
for the periods indicated: Brt
RMB million ARBEHE T 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Restated
Revenue = 3,5535 2,761.6 2,203.3 2,254.7
Cost of sales 5 6 PR A (1,734.7) (1,359.3) (1,166.0) (1,332.5)
Gross profit E 7 1,818.8 1,402.3 1,037.3 922.2
Other revenue H b g A 198.6 178.5 227.4 70.2
Selling and distribution expenses  $5 % & £€ $5 F 2 (1,368.3) (1,320.3) (1,170.9)  (893.2)
Administrative expenses THRAX (224.7)  (207.9) (389.5) (271.2)
Impairment losses on financial CREERERERKX
assets — — — (17.4)
Other expenses Hih X% (86.0) (92.9) (148.3) (145.6)
Profit/(loss) from operations &L (B518) 338.4 (40.3)  (444.0) (335.0)
Finance income R ON 61.8 187.3 130.2 123.7
Finance costs B 7% AR AN (6.7) (24.2) (18.8) (18.1)
Net finance income/(expense) FHBIWA(FX) 55.1 163.1 111.4 105.6
Profit/(loss) before income tax BETS R A E A, (EiE) 393.5 122.8  (332.6) (229.4)
Income tax expense AT 15 Bt 5 < (60.9) (4.5) 12.4 49.6
Profit/(loss) from continuing BEKSER RN,
operations (B#HE) 3326 1183  (320.2) (179.8)
Discontinued operation I R
Loss from discontinued operation 4% || 48 4 3£ 7% 5548
(net of income tax) (FIBR P15 HH)
Profit/(loss) for the year EERA,(EE) 3326 1183  (320.2) (179.8)
Profit/(loss) attributable to AR AR %H,~
(EB#H) 3326 1183  (3202) (179.8)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR A 2 = = = —
Profit/(loss) for the year FEaA/ (BE) 3326 1183  (320.2) (179.8)

The table sets forth our summary balance sheet information as of 31

December 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018:

T & & 5 A £ B R20144F - 20154 - 2016
20174 K2018FE 12 A3 EERE

TBEBER:
RMB million ARBEHEET 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Restated
Non-current assets IEREBEE 2,299.5 2,622.0 3,866.1 3,404.7
Current assets MEE E 3,393.7 5,041.7 4,099.9 4,025.9
Current liabilities mEAE 1,5989 1,674.8 2,2535 1,918.0
Net current assets/(liabilities) mEBEE/(ARE)E5E 1,794.8 3,366.9 1,846.4 2,107.9
Total assets less current liabilities #2&E B nE A& 40943 59889 57125 55126
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